
 

 

 
VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
Regular Council Meeting 

Agenda 
Glenwood Community Hall (90 Main Avenue) 

Thursday, February 11, 2021 at 7:00pm 
 

 

Page 1 of 2 

To access the supporting documents to this agenda, first download the agenda to your own 
computer/device, then look for them as attachments to the .pdf agenda document. 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Prayer 

 
3. Adoption of Agenda 

 
4. Adoption of Previous Minutes: 

a) 2021.01.14 Regular Council Meeting Minutes 
 

5. Delegations:  
 

 
6. Items for Discussion and/or Action: 

a) Municipal Development Plan (MDP) Bylaw # 257-2021 – 1st reading – 2nd & 3rd readings 
at the March 11 meeting. (ORRSC to attend – Weather permitting) 

b) Village of Glenwood REM Bylaw Ver 4 26 Jan  
c) Village of Glenwood Bylaw #239-2021 CCREMPO (Cardston County Regional   

Emergency Management Partnership Organization) 
d)  Rescind - Bylaw 239-2020-A Emergency Management-signed 

 
7. Councillor Reports: 

• Mayor Elias 
• Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
• Councillor Carter 
• Councillor Lybbert 
• Councillor Clark 

 
8. CAO Report: 

a) Regional Emergency Management Bylaw and update 
b) Election packs at Village Office 
c) Webinars – Police Act review & Emotional Conversations 
d) W T Plant  
e) Atco meeting via phone  
f) President Summit Registration 

 
9. Financial Reports: 

a) Accounts Payable Cheques for January 2021 (202100001-20210030) 
b) Budget vs Actual Review January 2021 
c) Bank Reconciliation None to present 



Page 2 of 2 

 
10. Correspondence: 

a) M&R Agenda, February 5,2021 
b) Mayors and Reeves January 2021 (1) 
c) OWC Update to Mayors + Reeves February 2021 
d) January 2021 minutes- Mayors & Reeves 
e) M & R January 2021 minutes 
f) Municipality Q&A - January 26 2021 
g) Q&A January 22 issue 
h) 1976 Coal Development - High River 
i) 2020-09-03 ORRSC Board of Directors Minutes 
j) 2021- Chinook Arch Library Board 
k) 2021.02.03 Letter to Premier Kenney re Regional Approach to Restrictions 
l) 2021-01 Bulletin Alberta SW 
m) 2021-01-27 Premier of Alberta - Reopening Recreational and Business Services 
n) Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board - Report on Municipal Policing Priorities - January 

2021 
o) cmrswa MINUTES 1-21 
p) CMRSWSC Business Plan (Final) 
q) Letter to Mayor Spearman - Reinstatement of Coal Policy 
r) CCES _ MINUTES Feb 4, 2021 
s) February 5 - Craig Snodgras - Mayors and Reeves Presentation on Coal Development 
t) M&R December 2020 minutes 

 
11. Closed Meeting: 

a) Land, Legal or Labour Matters As per Section 24(b)(i) of the FOIP Act     
 

12. Adjournment: 
 

 





 
 
 


 
Chairman – Reeve Lorne Hickey 
 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 1:00 
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
  


3.0 ADDITIONS TO/APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES  
  


4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP and MLA UPDATES 
 5.1 MP Reports  


 5.2 MLA Reports  


 


6.0 PRESENTATION – Coal Development on the Eastern Slopes, Mayor Craig Snodgrass 
  
   
7.0 REPORTS  


 7.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Barney Reeves  


 7.2 SouthGrow - Mayor Jim Willett  


7.3 RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider  


7.4 AUMA- Mayor Barry Morishita/Councillor Tanya Thorn 


7.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


7.6 Highway #3 Association – Councillor Bill Chapman  


 
8.0 NEXT MEETING 


Friday, March 5, 2021 at 1:00 – Via Zoom 


  


  9.0 ADJOURNMENT  


AGENDA 
FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 5, 2021 - 1:00 PM 


VIA ZOOM 


If you have any community information that you would like to have distributed to the M & R group,  
please send it to me at MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com to be distributed.  



mailto:MayorsandReevesSW@gmail.com






 


 


  


 


 


 


Monthly Report 
For Mayors and Reeves 


Feb 


January 2021| By: Peter Casurella 


SouthGrow Regional Initiative 


P: 403-394-0615 


E: peter.casurella@southgrow.com 


It has been a wild three years, but we are approaching the time for a new 


Strategic Planning cycle. With the economic sphere shifting under our feet, we 


have our work cut out for us this spring, but there remains a world of economic 


opportunity for southern Alberta to take advantage of, and lots of work to do to 


ensure the sustainability of the communities we love.  







 


 


1 


January 2020 
 


Strategic Planning  


 
Dear Mayors and Reeves, 
 
Three years ago, SouthGrow embarked on a new Strategic Plan. We mapped out an ambitious path forward towards 
economic growth and sustainability in our region through ambitious ‘enabling projects’. Despite an election that reset 
everything at the provincial level, and a global pandemic, we have managed to achieve most of what we set out to do.  
 
The challenge ahead as we look at a new strategic plan is different. We still rely on provincial funding to remain viable 
and impactful as an organization, and provincial partnerships are still important to leverage our member’s investment 
in the ways we have become accustomed to. We are proud that we run lean and deliver value many times the 
investment of our members and want to keep that investment affordable as all of our communities grappled with 
heavy budget challenges.  
 
More than ever before, our provincial partners want to see concrete measurable returns on their investment in figures 
such as jobs created, dollar amounts of investments landed, leads contacted, trade missions hosted etc. While the 
REDAs engage in initiatives that produce these kinds of metrics, the mandate handed down to us by the Provincial 
government from our inception always had a different focus. The Regional Economic Development Alliances were 
intended to fill a gap by creating ‘enabling projects’ that allow our member municipalities to count the jobs and 
investments earned. For example, we can’t tie the work and research SouthGrow has put into enabling broadband 
investments directly to jobs we created with those projects, but the economic activity created by broadband on the 
backs of our work is immense. We can’t take credit for any one utility scale wind or solar project being built today, but 
we can take credit for raising the profile of Southern Alberta as a destination for global renewable energy investments 
which have brought millions of dollars and hundreds of jobs to our region.   
 
This next strategic plan may see us having to strike a balance between delivering enough projects that strike at those 
specific short-term metrics that our funding partners want to see so that we can keep doing the enabling work that 
drives forward the long-term economic returns that have proven to be so valuable.  
 
Look for invitations to our Strategic Planning session in the coming month. We would be honored to have you join our 
board members to lend your collective wisdom to this initiative that YOU created, and which has done so much good 
for southern Alberta over the past 2 decades.  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Peter Casurella 
Executive Director 
SouthGrow Regional Economic Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


Headlines for January 2021  


 
Strategic Collaborations 
 


- Highway 3 Twinning Development Association: Highway 3 has gained two more private industry members as 
support for twinning advocacy remains solid across the region – despite the pandemic. The shut down of 
major trade-shows has derailed some of our plans for direct engagement, but the slowdown of in person 
events allowed H3TDA to offer their members a rate reduction for 2021 while still remaining active and in 
business.  
 


- RINSA: The Regional Innovation Network of Southern Alberta continues to support innovation in the region. 
Notably, they are working hard on a Digital Mainstreet program with the rest of Alberta Innovates to support 
the creation of an online digital marketplace for the province. #shoplocal 
 


- Southern Alberta Alternative Energy Association: Projects in renewables continue to come down the pipe 
relentlessly, and this is very good news. The large ABO project in Vulcan County is nearing a major 
milestone. Projects like this deliver considerable revenue to the regions where they are sited, and this 
revenue is well-timed and needed to replace reduced or abandoned oil assessments. The Palliser Economic 
Partnership has expressed interest in joining SAAEP.  
   


- Southern Alberta Investment and Trade Initiative: We have engaged a consulting firm to do a test-run project 
for targeted investment attraction. The company uses an innovative program called Gazelle.ai. Proposals are 
being reviewed now for an expanded marketing program. We have repeated confirmation that Invest Alberta 
intends to utilize SouthGrow and EDL as last-mile service to assist with investment leads.  
 


- Sustainability: Three projects here are waiting on next steps that are out of our hands – the Highway 4 EV 
bus application with the FCM, the ZEVIP program from NRCAN, and the Nobleford/Barons pilot project that 
has been alluded to. The Coaldale facility is moving forward towards construction.  
 


- Canada’s Premier Food Corridor: CPFC has some planning to do, but there is a possibility to include them in 
the work that SAITI (mentioned above) is doing. These 5 communities have the majority of our industrial land 
for large-scale projects, but other communities will be contacted to determine if they are interested in more 
involvement as well.  
 


- Canada’s Western Gateway: This newly formed logistics and transportation cluster is now branded and 
working to set up their website.  
 


Marketing & Communications 


 
- SouthGrow rolled out a rebate program for an online Economic Recovery Course for regional staff and 


councillors. This was under-subscribed, but not surprising given the reality we are living in. We will hold off on 
planning more training opportunities until after our strat-planning is done.  
 


- We have hired a new young person to compile our bi-weekly newsletter. We had excellent applicants from 
the Dhillon School of Business at the U of L. Congratulations to Jessie Stilson for taking on the role.  


 
 
 







 


 


3 


 


 
Economic Development & Innovation 


 


- Broadband: Applications for the Universal Broadband Fund that we were assisting with are in and awaiting 
adjudication. A technology trial that we invested in for small town and village solutions is yielding very 
promising results, and even though the trial is not done, we have already set up meetings between the 
managing company and some of our CAOs to discuss integration and deployments in 2021. It’s time to close 
the gap.  
 


- Electric Vehicles: Our NRCAN application to administer part of the ZEVIP program has been submitted. 
Decisions will be forthcoming in February or March. Whether we are successful or not, SouthGrow will assist 
our communities in leveraging the program to get free or subsidized infrastructure.  
 


- Import Replacement: Last spring we tried to ‘sell’ a regional Import Replacement project to Alberta Labour. 
It didn’t fly, unfortunately, because of poor fit with the grant guidelines. We are trying again to get this project 
off the ground. The basic premise is to profile 200 of our largest regional businesses, determine their inputs 
and outputs, identify local or provincial replacements for inputs that they import, identify investment 
opportunities, and identify opportunities for entrepreneurs to supply something locally that isn’t yet being 
supplied. The intent is to solidly retain our industrial base in the face of the economic downturn, and get them 
back to full capacity as soon as possible. We can then hand off the Investment leads developed to Invest 
Alberta and to other partners for additional impact producing projects. Here’s the Kicker: We can’t fund it 
by ourselves, and we need partners/funding. Suggestions or help are welcomed.  
 
 


Administration 
 


- We have closed down our office in Lethbridge and are ‘officially’ installed in Picture Butte, although we have 
yet to actually move in due to the work from home orders. Thank you to Picture Butte for hosting SouthGrow.   


 
- We have a newly update policy manual for the Board to review in March to ensure that our organization 


remains on the leading edge of best-practices and is also well-positioned to pursue international accreditation 
if we so decide.  
 


- Contract renewal is coming up for our Executive Director at the end of March.  
 


- Don’t forget to email info@southgrow.com if you would like to get signed up for our economic development 
newsletter. This newsletter has been called ‘The Best Economic Development Newsletter in the West’ (mostly 
by us, but that doesn’t make it less true.) It comes packed with great resources for you and your people.  


 
 


 


 


 


Economic Development | Government Relations  


All content copyright © 1999 - 2018 SouthGrow Regional Initiative. All rights 


reserved. Corporate Access Number: 5111053608 


About SouthGrow Regional Initiate  


SouthGrow is an economic development alliance of twenty-six south central Alberta 


communities committed to working together to achieve prosperity for the region. 


Representing over 170,000 people, SouthGrow is committed to assisting 


communities, organizations, businesses, and people in the region to further their 


economic development goals and to maintain the high quality of life. 



mailto:info@southgrow.com






 
PO Box 1892      Lethbridge, Alberta      T1J 4K5 
shannon@oldmanwatershed.ca   403-317-1328 


 
Update to Mayors & Reeves | February 5, 2021 


 
    Thank you to the municipalities that donated from December-January! 
    Town of Fort Macleod           Town of Cardston 
    Town of Claresholm              Town of Nanton 
    Town of Picture Butte           Village of Cowley 
 
 


Coal Mining  
There are at least 4 coal companies exploring the mountains of the Oldman watershed. One proposed coal mine,                                   
the Grassy Mountain Coal Project, has completed the Environmental Impact Assessment and Joint Review Panel                             
process. Hearings wrapped up in December and the Panel is now writing its report. The report will be given to the                                         
Federal Minister of Environment and Climate Change. The earliest we can expect a decision is September 2021.  
 
The top concern of our stakeholders is the potential for water quality contamination. Selenium pollution is a well                                   
known problem with metallurgical coal mining that is difficult to solve. In Northern Alberta and in the Elk Valley                                     
selenium concentrations are well above safe thresholds for fish, agriculture and in some cases, drinking water. New                                 
water treatment processes are showing promise but they have not been in place for a long period of time so more                                         
research is underway to ensure they will work for the long term.  
 
People are also concerned about fish and wildlife, and impacts on municipalities, tourism, agriculture and                             
recreation. There is support for coal mines and the jobs, businesses, taxes and royalties they would bring. OWC is                                     
sharing information from all perspectives so people can make an informed opinion. We are encouraging everyone                               
to share their views with elected decision makers, and the Federal Minister in particular who has to make the                                     
decision (ec.ministre-minister.ec@canada.ca).  
 
The latest news and information is available on OWC’s blog.  
 
Proposed Changes to the Water Allocation Order 
The Oldman River Basin Water Allocation Order from 2003 reserves 11,000 acre feet of water upstream of the Oldman                   


reservoir from the Oldman, Castle and/or Crowsnest Rivers, primarily for irrigation purposes. Other purposes (municipal,               


commercial, recreation, rural community water supply, agricultural (other than irrigation)) are allowed a cumulative              


amount of 1,500 acre feet while industrial purposes are allowed only 150 acre feet, leaving 9,350 acre feet for irrigation.  


 


The Government of Alberta (GoA) is proposing to remove the limits on specific sectors and just have one overall limit for                     


all types of use. The total limit of 11,000 acre feet would still apply, but the majority of it would no longer be set aside                         



mailto:ec.ministre-minister.ec@canada.ca

https://oldmanwatershed.ca/blog-posts/2021/1/26/navigating-our-future-coal-mining-in-the-oldman-watershed-part-2

https://qp.alberta.ca/documents/Regs/2003_319.pdf





for irrigation. The GoA’s rationale is that these changes are needed to support economic recovery and that the limits                   


within the order have created barriers to development. It is expected that if federal and provincial regulators approve                  


the coal mines being proposed along the eastern slopes of the Oldman watershed, and the proposed changes are made                   


to the Order, that coal companies would apply for around half of the total allocation that is available. 


 


The GoA is also proposing to set aside 20% of the total, or 2,200 acre feet, to maintain environmental flows. It is unclear                       


if this amount would be enough to maintain ecosystem function because there have not been studies of instream flow                   


needs for the Castle, Crowsnest, Livingstone, or upper Oldman Rivers and their tributaries where coal mines (and others)                  


could be withdrawing water. Our best guideline is that a maximum of 15% of a stream’s natural flow can be withdrawn                     


before negative impacts are caused.  


 


Most of the mines are still in the exploration phase and have not applied for a water license yet. Once they do, we will                        


be able to review the applications and provide input. Each license application has to be evaluated on a case by case                     


basis, with consideration of the cumulative impact.  


 


OWC is encouraging the GoA to have broad, public consultation about these proposed changes because there could be                  


far reaching implications for the water transfer system, our rivers, and other water users. Any changes need to be done                    


very carefully to avoid unintended consequences. MLA Roger Reid (livingstone.macleod@assembly.ab.ca) is leading the             


initial discussions if you wish to share your views.  


 
Building Resiliency to Multi-Year Drought: A Guide for Small Communities 
A new guide has been created by the Alberta Water Council that is intended for small urban and rural communities,                                       
including towns, villages, and municipal districts. This guide documents lessons learned from previous droughts in                             
Alberta and brings together current information, tools, and resources as a reference for communities before,                             
during, and after a multi-year drought. The guide is separated into four modules, each presenting information on                                 
different aspects of multi-year drought. 
Module 1 — Definitions 
Module 2 — Multi-Year Droughts in Alberta: Past, Present, and Future 
Module 3 — Roles and Responsibilities 
Module 4 — Management Objectives, Strategies, Tools, and Resources 
 
The Alberta Community Partnership grant would support drought planning if 2 or more municipalities 
partner on a plan. OWC would be willing to help with this process so let me know if you are interested.  


Apply Now for Funding for Restoration and Stewardship Projects 
The OWC is proud to support our rural community leaders who manage the land and water in ways that benefit all                                         
of us. Our communities rely on our farmers and ranchers to protect the ecosystem services that we all depend on                                       
for safe, clean water and productive land. 


Since 2009, the OWC has been investing in grassroots stewardship projects led by agricultural producers and                               
community groups. To date we have supported 65 projects totalling $185,000. These restoration projects have                             
improved water quality and riparian habitat while also benefiting local ranchers and farmers who depend on                               
healthy land for a sustainable operation.  
 
OWC is accepting applications for new projects so please get in touch to discuss your project. Deadline to                                   
apply will be February 8, 2021.  Application form is here.   



mailto:livingstone.macleod@assembly.ab.ca

https://www.awchome.ca/projects/building-resiliency-multi-year-drought-6/

https://www.alberta.ca/alberta-community-partnership.aspx

https://oldmanwatershed.ca/wlp-whats-being-done






 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:02 pm. 
   
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra - Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
 #3 – correction to Reeve Maryanne Sandberg (not Mayor) – made by Maryanne Sandberg  
 Moved by Reeve Maryanne Sandberg to adopt as corrected – Carried  
 
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP AND MLA UPDATES 


 
5.1 MP Reports – 


Martin Shield  


• Discussed new interim Minister of Municipal Affairs Ric McIver  


• Discussed issues with travel  


• Discussed Calgary International Airport/Coutts Board Testing  


• Discussed the House returning to Ottawa the last week in January 12, 2021 


• Discussed vaccine distribution  


• Discussed the importance of supporting small businesses to keep communities 
viable  


 
 
5.2   MLA Reports –  None 


 
 


6.0      REPORTS 


6.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Mayor Blair Painter 


• No report 


 


6.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• Discussed the SouthGrow Report and sending it out twice to include the 


scholarship winners  


 


 6.3 RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider 


• Indicated Legislature is closed right now, nothing major happening  


• Discussed the surveys that RMA has out – Gas Tax Survey & Governance Review 


Survey  


• Discussed Position Statements available on the RMA website  


• Discussed Assessment Review being on hold, currently working on data collection 


• Discussed Red Tape Reduction Bill  


• Discussed policing and crime, looking to gather information from Solicitor General 


as to what the plan is going forward regarding policing  


MINUTES 
Friday, January 8, 2021 


Virtual Meeting via Zoom 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  


January 8,2021 Minutes 


 


           6.4    AUMA – Councillor Tanya Thorn 


• Looking forward to the day that meetings can be held in person  


• Discussed Provincial Budget Advocacy  


• Discussed MSI and possible cuts of up to 25%  


• Discussed fiscal framework to be in effect in 2022  


• Discussed the Government related report card and the Municipal Measurement 
Index  


• Discussed policing and the Police Review Act.  AUMA is hosting a police summit on 
February 4 & 17 


• Discussed Interim Police Advisory Board  


• Discussed future of Municipal Governance and dealing with a lot of change  


• Discussed partnership with University of Calgary School of Policy for a research plan  


 


6.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Mayor Blair Painter 


• No report 


 
        6.6      Highway #3 Association- Councillor Bill Chapman 


• Condolences to Pincher Creek on the loss of their Councillor Susanne O’Rourke  


• Sent out Christmas card to members  


• New member – Goodyear Canada Manufacturing  


• Membership invoices have been sent out – 2021 membership fee is based on $0.35 
per capita  


• Reviewed top four priorities  


 
7.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, February 5, 2021 at 1:00 – Virtual via Zoom 


 
8.0 ADJOURNMENT:  


 Meeting was adjourned at 1:44 pm.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fu  








 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:02 pm. 
   
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra - Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
 #3 – correction to Reeve Maryanne Sandberg (not Mayor) – made by Maryanne Sandberg  
 Moved by Reeve Maryanne Sandberg to adopt as corrected – Carried  
 
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP AND MLA UPDATES 


 
5.1 MP Reports – 


Martin Shield  


• Discussed new interim Minister of Municipal Affairs Ric McIver  


• Discussed issues with travel  


• Discussed Calgary International Airport/Coutts Board Testing  


• Discussed the House returning to Ottawa the last week in January 12, 2021 


• Discussed vaccine distribution  


• Discussed the importance of supporting small businesses to keep communities 
viable  


 
 
5.2   MLA Reports –  None 


 
 


6.0      REPORTS 


6.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Mayor Blair Painter 


• No report 


 


6.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• Discussed the SouthGrow Report and sending it out twice to include the 


scholarship winners  


 


 6.3 RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider 


• Indicated Legislature is closed right now, nothing major happening  


• Discussed the surveys that RMA has out – Gas Tax Survey & Governance Review 


Survey  


• Discussed Position Statements available on the RMA website  


• Discussed Assessment Review being on hold, currently working on data collection 


• Discussed Red Tape Reduction Bill  


• Discussed policing and crime, looking to gather information from Solicitor General 


as to what the plan is going forward regarding policing  


MINUTES 
Friday, January 8, 2021 


Virtual Meeting via Zoom 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  


January 8,2021 Minutes 


 


           6.4    AUMA – Councillor Tanya Thorn 


• Looking forward to the day that meetings can be held in person  


• Discussed Provincial Budget Advocacy  


• Discussed MSI and possible cuts of up to 25%  


• Discussed fiscal framework to be in effect in 2022  


• Discussed the Government related report card and the Municipal Measurement 
Index  


• Discussed policing and the Police Review Act.  AUMA is hosting a police summit on 
February 4 & 17 


• Discussed Interim Police Advisory Board  


• Discussed future of Municipal Governance and dealing with a lot of change  


• Discussed partnership with University of Calgary School of Policy for a research plan  


 


6.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Mayor Blair Painter 


• No report 


 
        6.6      Highway #3 Association- Councillor Bill Chapman 


• Condolences to Pincher Creek on the loss of their Councillor Susanne O’Rourke  


• Sent out Christmas card to members  


• New member – Goodyear Canada Manufacturing  


• Membership invoices have been sent out – 2021 membership fee is based on $0.35 
per capita  


• Reviewed top four priorities  


 
7.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, February 5, 2021 at 1:00 – Virtual via Zoom 


 
8.0 ADJOURNMENT:  


 Meeting was adjourned at 1:44 pm.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fu  








 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


COVID-19 Municipality Update 
January 26, 2021 


 
Arena Update 


 Step 1 of the Path Forward, with a 
hospitalization benchmark of 600.  At such time, 
the potential easing of some restrictions related 
to indoor and outdoor children’s sport and 
performance (school-related) will be identified.   


 For each measure, there will be a progression 
that occurs. The point of the path forward is 
gradual easing to prevent cases from surging 
again.  There will not be an activity going from 
zero to 100% within one step.  


Vaccine Update 


 Pfizer plant in Belgium has slowed production. 


 All first doses have been rescheduled and some 
second doses need to be spread out. 


 For up-to-date information on vaccine 
distribution please visit: 
https://www.alberta.ca/covid19-vaccine.aspx  


COVID-19 Variants 


 Up-to-date Information on the variants within 
Alberta is now available at 
https://www.alberta.ca/covid-19-alberta-
data.aspx#toc-1  


 Screening for the variants is being ramped up.   


Schools Update  


 School terminology has been updated to reflect 
the concerns of administrators.  
Alerts (1 case), Alerts (2-4 cases), Outbreaks (5-9 
cases) and Outbreaks (10+ cases).  


 Only alerts and outbreaks with 2 or more cases 
are included on the school map. This is to 
protect privacy when a school only has 1 case.  


 Map colours do not correspond with a school 
being opened or closed, instead it is related to 
number of cases.  
Purple – 10+ cases,  Blue - 5-9 cases  


 The press releases are an overall aggregate of all 
alerts, including those with a single case.  


 On average the daily cases within school age 
children has been declining since school began in 
January.  


Questionnaire 


 With the intent of efficiency and effectiveness, 
HEOC Stakeholder Relations has created a 
questionnaire to help respond to your questions 
and concerns more effectivity in these weekly 
meetings.  


 Going forward we will share the link to the 
questionnaire weekly in the Tuesday meeting as 
well as in an email.  


 The questionnaire will continue to be open until 
Friday at noon. At which time we will gather the 
results and prepare for the upcoming week.  


 The format of the meeting will not change, you 
will still be able to ask specific questions to Dr. 
Hinshaw through the chat function on the call.  


 The HEOC will continue to send out a summary 
of the call.  


 The questionnaire should take about 5 minutes.  


 Jenelle Thomas at jenelle.thomas@gov.ab.ca   


Total Attendees - 234 


Key Question Themes 
Lifting Restrictions Regionally, Business Restrictions  
Testing, Contact Tracing, Variants, Vaccine 
Recreation Facilities, Indoor Playgrounds 
Summer Recreation and Events 
Seniors Living  
Masking  
Travel  
Carpooling 
 



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/covid19-vaccine.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/covid-19-alberta-data.aspx#toc-1

https://www.alberta.ca/covid-19-alberta-data.aspx#toc-1

mailto:jenelle.thomas@gov.ab.ca





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


Question and Answers  


Municipality Questions Response 
Lifting Restrictions Regionally, Business Restrictions   


Regional Restrictions 
Early in the pandemic, regional restrictions based on COVID Status negatively 
impacted our community. Our community has since worked hard to keep 
cases down. Why are we not being rewarded by having some restrictions 
lifted? 
 
Why are smaller communities subject to the same restrictions as urban 
areas? 
 
As the level of risk shown in the regional status map shows our different 
classifications, (enhanced, watch, open), is their any consideration changing 
the measures, so they are not blanket restrictions for the entire province?   
 
Business   
Is there a defined mechanism by which a local business can request an 
“exemption” to current business restrictions? IE to whom within the 
provincial government should a business address what they consider 
“extenuating circumstances” as it relates to operational protocols?   
 
 
 
Restrictions 
How much longer will small businesses be required to remain closed? Small 
rural communities are facing extreme challenges with these mandatory 
closures while urban areas and big box stores continue to thrive. Is there a 
plan that targets small business reopening?  
 
Should we expect to see any restrictions relaxed this week?  
Is there any talk about lifting the restrictions for indoor gatherings?  
 
So what are your exact requirements in order to release a few of the 
restrictions? As the reduced R value, the reduced cases, the reduced 
hospitalizations, reduced ICU, which were all the initial indicating factors, 


Regional Restrictions 


 The restrictions are in place to support the Alberta public healthcare 
system, which is facing pressure on the acute care system due to the 
pandemic. Easing restrictions in some communities is not feasible 
because communities across Alberta may share healthcare facilities 
(patients may need to be transferred to different sites for care); thus, 
provincial-wide restrictions are being adopted.  


 The discovery of new variants of COVID-19 may also impact the ability to 
ease restrictions. There is a lot that is unknown about how the new 
variants could spread. 


 The Government of Alberta is cautiously examining a region based plan to 
ease restrictions. There will be decisions in the next few weeks.  


 
Business 


 Application for exemption are based on certain criteria that are 
determined by the Government of Alberta. Exemption applications are 
available online at Alberta Biz connect. In order for an exemption to be 
granted the applicant must demonstrate the ability to uphold public 
safety measures, the extraneous circumstance, and how an exemption 
would be in the broader public interest. 


 


 A stepped approach to easing restrictions has been released, using 
hospitalization as the key metric. The path forward plan lays out four 
steps for potential easing of restrictions and enabling activities. For 
further information on the plan forward please visit: 
www.alberta.ca/enhanced-public-health-measures.aspx.  
  



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/biz-connect.aspx

http://www.alberta.ca/enhanced-public-health-measures.aspx





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


have been met.  So with that in mind, are we looking at COVID zero?  Or what 
is the plan? I assume there is an end goal, so when will the public actually be 
allowed to know this? 
 
Are we looking at current restrictions to remain in place until vaccinations are 
completed? 
 


Testing, Contact Tracing, Variants, Vaccine  


Testing   
Do we know how many tests are being completed in each zone?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact Tracing  
How many contact tracers do we have per 100k population?  Do we have any 
targets around how many we need? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Testing 


 Testing specific to zones can be found at 
https://www.alberta.ca/stats/covid-19-alberta-statistics.htm#laboratory-
testing. Scroll to the bottom, where it gives each zones positivity rate, 
hover your mouse over it and it will tell you the number of tests and the 
percent positivity for each day.   


 This will also give you a 7 day average, as well as the number of testing 
over time.  
 


Contact Tracing  


 The rising rate of COVID-19 in the fall impacted AHS’ ability to contact 
trace all positive cases, so they have focused on high-priority groups 
where there is the greatest ability to limit the spread of COVID-19. 


 Before the pandemic, Alberta had only 50 contact tracers. AHS now has 
approximately 1,600 contact tracers working in the province and 
continues work to enhance contact tracing teams to meet the volume of 
COVID-19 cases in the province. AHS continues to hire and train hundreds 
of additional contact tracers that will bring the number of staff 
conducting contact tracing to over 2,000 by early February. AHS has also 
launched a new online portal that allows automated texting of close 
contacts. 


 As of Jan. 22, AHS has approximately 1,800 case investigators/ contact 
tracers and we are on track with our goal to have about 2,000 case 
investigators/contact tracers by early February.  


 The increase in contact tracing staff means 35 - 46 contact tracers per 
100,000 people, which will be on par or better than compared to other 
provinces (i.e. BC 27/100,000). 
 



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/stats/covid-19-alberta-statistics.htm#laboratory-testing

https://www.alberta.ca/stats/covid-19-alberta-statistics.htm#laboratory-testing





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


 
 
Variants  
Why exactly are the new variants more easily spread? I.e., Is there more 
likelihood of airborne transmission, Does it survive longer on surfaces, etc.? 
Would the proliferation of new variants change any recommendations for 
mask use (e.g. N95s) or other controls?  
 
 
 
 
Would municipalities be notified if a variant case is detected in our 
community?  
 
 
 
Vaccine  
I have been asked by numerous people if Fire Departments that are 
committed to Medical First response through AHS are in the scheduling for 
vaccinations? Speaking form my department alone, we respond to nearly 200 
incidents involving patients annually, many of them potential COVID. 
Although we received the PPE from the Province which is much appreciated, 
if we get one positive test inside the fire station, which takes the entire Fire 
Department out of service which drastically effects medical response in our 
rural area. I am sure there are many that are in the same situation. I realize 
that hospital front line workers have received them, but i know of an entire 
kitchen staff that have received their second vaccines, before first responders 
have received any. Thoughts? 
 


 
 


Variants 


 The new variants have only recently emerged and therefore our 
understanding of how and why they spread more easily is very limited. 
Although experts around the world are working to find answers to these 
questions, the research is still in its very early stages. In the meantime, we 
will continue to monitor the evidence that is emerging on these new 
strains from other countries, and will adjust our COVID-19 measures as 
needed in response to our findings.   
 


 Alberta Health is committed to sharing information on variants on our 
COVID-19 info for Albertans website, however due to confidentiality 
under the Health Information Act we will not be sharing the specifics of 
which municipality the variant is located.  


 
Vaccine  


 With not enough vaccine available to offer immunizations to everyone at 
the same time, Alberta Health established a phased approach for vaccine 
rollout.  


 Workers identified for immunization in Phase 1 were those considered 
most likely to transmit COVID-19 to those at high risk of severe illness and 
death, and workers essential to maintaining the COVID-19 health care 
response. Consideration was given to a combination of the following 
outcomes: 
o Reducing acute care demand; 
o Protecting critical workforce; 
o Enhancing the flow of patients and residents through the system; and 
o Preventing COVID-19 outbreaks. 


 With Alberta’s supply critically low, currently all available doses are being 
utilized to complete the immunization series to those who have received 
their first doses. When Alberta will returning to administer new first doses 
has not been determined, but will be dependent on a stable vaccine 
supply.  



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


 Individuals who may also be paramedics or medical first responders but 
are not practicing in one of the three areas as described above are not 
eligible at this time.  


 The immunization schedule for all first responders including but not 
limited to paramedics, firefighters, policing and other essential workers to 
keep society functioning and provide protection are recognized as being 
vital to Alberta and further information about their sequence in the 
COVID-19 Immunization program may be available in February.   


Recreation Facilities, Indoor Playgrounds  


I have become aware of municipally owned and operated pools being allowed 
to open to school based swimming lessons during the day, Are we all allowed 
to open for this type of programming? 
 
 
 
Why are aquatic centers not open, for at least minimal occupancy, they have 
chlorine as the base disinfection and deal with water related illness within the 
operations?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Have you considered allowing single household private bookings for rec 
facilities like arenas?  
 
Has Dr. Hinshaw seen a recent report on the risk of arena air quality related 
to COVID spread?  If so, what is her feedback on this 
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/hockey-covid-arena-air-quality-1.5871960 
 
 


 Step 1 of the path forward sees the potential easing of some restrictions 
related to indoor and outdoor children’s sport and performance (school-
related). The hospitalization benchmark for step 1 is 600.  This could 
include some municipal owned and operated facilities being accessed to 
support school-based programs (e.g. swimming, skating) 
 


 COVID-19 is transmitted though tiny droplets of liquid produced by 
people who have the virus. These droplets spread by: 
- coughing, sneezing, talking, laughing, and singing 
- touching objects or surfaces the virus has landed on and then 


touching your eyes, nose or mouth (bath towels, kitchen utensils, 
door knobs, etc.) 


 People who have COVID-19 can spread it to others before they start to 
feel sick. Such transmissions can happen between people in enclosed 
spaces of the aquatic facilities such as change rooms, shower areas etc. 
Therefore, the bleach solution in the pool is not effective in preventing 
transmission through respiratory routes, or in the other physical areas of 
the aquatic centres.  


 


 A facility ordered closed cannot be accessed by members of the public, 
including private rentals.  


 
 Alberta Health is aware of the role that air quality and ventilation play in 


the spread of COVID-19. The General Guidance sets out minimum criteria 
related to ventilation and facility maintenance. As the article indicates, 
the NHL and other organizations have been able to organize professional 
sports by strictly following the bubble model and exceptional level of 



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/hockey-covid-arena-air-quality-1.5871960

https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/covid-19-general-relaunch-guidance.pdf





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Was there a statistical criterion or set of criteria that were used to determine 
that municipal recreation facilities and personal training, fitness centres, etc., 
needed to be completely closed, whereas almost all other business types are 
bow allowed to be open with limitations and restrictions?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Indoor Playground  
We have a playschool in our community that is open. They are planning to 
attend the indoor playground at a different facility than where their school is 
held. They say that they can attend because it doesn't matter where they 
meet. We are concerned that the indoor playground should be closed and 
therefore also closed for use by the playschool group. Is that correct? 


precautions to inhibit the spread of COVID-19.  Researchers across the 
globe and in Alberta are conducting studies to determine the role of 
ventilation in spread of COVID-19 and Alberta Health will review its 
guidance as more evidence becomes available.   


 


 
 


 When public access to recreation facilities and fitness centres was 
restricted by CMOH Order 42-2020 in early December, new daily COVID-
19 case numbers and hospitalizations were extremely high, and rising. As 
cases were increasing as a result of interactions between individuals and 
groups, the intent of CMOH Order 42-2020 was to limit the opportunities 
and places where transmission could occur, including in recreation and 
fitness centres. Additionally, because of the type of activities that 
normally occur in these facilities and the dynamic nature of fitness, it is 
not always possible for attendees to mask or have barriers between 
them. In retail facilities, interactions are mostly limited to very short 
transactions between individuals and staff, masking is possible at all times 
by all attendees, and staff can have barriers in place where 2 metres’ 
physical distance is not possible.   


 Step 1 of the path forward sees the potential easing of some restrictions 
related to indoor and outdoor children’s sport and performance (school-
related). The hospitalization benchmark for step 1 is 600.  


 
 


 All indoor children’s play centres and indoor playgrounds must remain 
closed at this time, under Section 27 of CMOH Order 42-2020. While field 
trips are for playschool and daycare children are not prohibited, no one 
may access or use the indoor playground, regardless of where it is 
located.  


Summer Recreation and Events  


Summer Recreation and events 
We are currently planning for staffing for our outdoor pool, which normally 
opens early May.  Can you share any information related to what you 
anticipate for restrictions at this time?   
 


Discussion relating to restrictions are on-going and taking into a consideration 
of variety factors. Restriction will remain in place at this time. The 
government is exploring easing restrictions in the future. The potential of 
community spread of the new variant is a significant factor that will influence 
the lifting of restrictions.  Rates of hospitalization, ICU utilization and health 
system capacity remain the key triggers for action in Alberta. When we are 



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


Do you have any idea if there will be any option to run summer events or 
should we be looking at cancelling those for this year as well? 


able to lift restrictions and open particular sectors we anticipate moving in 
slow incremental steps.  


Seniors Living  


Our local self-contained senior’s apartment building, owned by AB Seniors & 
Housing and managed by a Housing Foundation has had chairs removed from 
the common area and apartment dwellers have been instructed that they can 
not socialize in common areas.  With the concerns around the mental well 
being of seniors, would consideration be given to allow socializing among 
apartment dwellers in the common area?  Is this dictated by a Public Health 
Order and if not, who can make the rules in a building of this type - AB 
Seniors and Housing or the Housing Management body? 
 


 There is a spectrum of housing arrangements for seniors which is a 
challenge as there is no one size fits all rule in these settings.  For 
congregate living type settings, such as long term care or supportive living 
(different for seniors apartments), operators are able to continue with 
social interactions for residence, however we have encourage operators 
to think about ways to do this safely and within limits.   


 A senior’s apartment would fall under the rules with respect to indoor 
social gathering restrictions.  Currently, no indoor social gatherings are 
allowed, which would mean that common areas of senior’s apartments 
are closed. 


 Recognizing the impact of isolation and loneliness, people who live alone 
are able to have up to two other people with whom they can interact in 
their own space.   


Masking  


We were made aware of a few locals who are "anti-maskers" and they 
apparently have a special exemption card that they don't have to wear masks 
when entering public buildings. They have also showed businesses the 
Canadian Freedom of Rights Act stating they don't need to wear masks. Do 
we still serve them or can we refuse. Is this "special card" even legit/valid? 
 
 
 
 
What would the other expectations be for people that refuse to wear a mask? 
 
In regards to ante maskers! Change the mask to barrier then the person 
should be ok to wear a shield or other device.  
 
 
 
 
 
 


 Currently, there is no literature that indicates a significant clinical risk 
from wearing a mask. However, it’s also true that there are some 
individuals who, because of a variety of conditions it could be challenging 
to wear a mask, for example a muscle condition, anxiety or PTSD. 


 Each business owner need to have an understanding of the requirements 
around masking. If an individual enters a business or a public space 
claiming to have an exemption (valid or not), they would need to follow 
additional precautions, distancing requirements, or having additional 
actions that would agree to follow for everyone’s safety.  


 For further information on masking, including details on exemptions 
please visit CMOH Order 42-2021.  


 A face shield is not an adequate alternative to a face mask. Using a face 
shield without a mask won’t protect from potentially inhaling infectious 
respiratory droplets exhaled by others or protect others from your 
infectious respiratory droplets, as they can escape around the face shield.  


 People who are unable to wear a mask or face covering may want to wear 
a face shield. If this applies to you, choose one that extends around the 
sides of the face and below the chin. You will still need to maintain 



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/4cccb47f-c26a-40bf-b95e-caaf04892164/resource/3a7a124f-1d12-485b-b7b1-09bddf61f29e/download/health-cmoh-record-of-decision-cmoh-order-42-2020.pdf





 


www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx  


AH-operations@gov.ab.ca 


Classification: Protected A 


 
 
What criteria would have to exist prior to the Province removing the 
mandatory masking regulations? We are considering what to do with our 
municipal bylaws that came in effect prior to the provincial order, but it 
would be helpful to better understand the province’s plans in this regard. 
 


physical distancing of 2 metres and practise good hand hygiene, especially 
if you touch the face shield. 


 With the current level of spread, Alberta Health is focused on what those 
next steps might be in terms of allowing people to partake in some 
additional activities. The provincial mask restriction is a really helpful 
addition to the multiple layers of protection in place to be able to prevent 
further spread. There is no indication that the provincial masking 
regulation will be lifted in the near future.  
 


Travel  


Why is non-essential travel and international travel still being allowed?  We 
are spending a lot of resources on testing for travel. 
 
 
 
Any advocacy from Alberta to the Federal Gov’t to close our borders to all 
international travel until we can manage the variants and get our vaccine 
program back on track ? 
 
If the variant strains are such a concern, why is the government allowing 
recreational travel at this time? Will not this just delay the ability to return 
back to some sense of normalcy with businesses and restaurants open to the 
public? 


 Travel is a federal jurisdiction, accordingly it would be up to the Federal 
Government to impose additional restrictions on international travel. It 
has been recently stated by the Prime Minister that additional travel 
restrictions are coming. 


 


 We work proactively with our federal counterparts on international travel 
and border discussions. We continue to monitor variants of concern and 
will take additional actions as necessary to protect public health. 


 


 It would be up to the Federal Government to impose additional 
restrictions. The decision on re-opening businesses is based on the health 
care capacity including the number of individuals that are hospitalized 
and within the ICU. 


Carpooling  


Carpooling continues to be an activity commonly seen (high school students 
driving to school) or going to ski hills etc.  With the concern around the 
variant, is this still something you see allowing to continue? 


Currently, there are no new public health measures that would impact 
carpooling. Though not recommended, carpooling is permitted at this time. 
Guidance can be found at www.alberta.ca/prevent-the-spread.aspx#toc-4  


Feedback from Municipalities  
 In response to questions that ask "how long...": there is no answer to this because the decision to open or change status is based on conditions and 


not a length of time. Therefore: "the length of time is the length of time it takes for our society to reach an acceptable level of safety" 
 


 Heads-up from Strathcona County - we have been advised that there is an online campaign being planned to encourage businesses across Alberta to 
open up tomorrow (Jan 27) and defy restrictions. Obviously we do not support businesses defying health restrictions - just wanted this group to be 
aware in case others had not seen the same yet. 


 



http://www.alberta.ca/coronavirus-info-for-albertans.aspx

http://www.alberta.ca/prevent-the-spread.aspx#toc-4






Municipal Governance during the COVID-19 Outbreak 
©2020 Government of Alberta | Published January 22, 2021 | Page 1 


Classification: Public 


Municipal Governance 
During the COVID-19 Pandemic 
Frequently Asked Questions – January 22, 2021 
 


While we continue to navigate the ever-evolving 
COVID-19 pandemic together, Municipal Affairs 
remains committed to issuing regular updates to 
address frequently asked questions and provide new 
information or resources as they become available. 
For the most up-to-date information on the COVID-
19 situation in Alberta, visit alberta.ca/COVID19.   
 
If you would like a specific issue addressed in an 
upcoming update, please email your request to 
ma.lgsmail@gov.ab.ca.  
 


 


Municipal Operations 
 
Have there been any recent changes to the 
public health measures in place that affect 
municipal operations? 
 
NO. As of January 18, outdoor social gatherings can 
have up to ten people. Physical distancing of two 
metres should be maintained with members of other 
households. Outdoor recreation facilities will remain 
closed, with the exception of washrooms adjacent to 
outdoor recreation settings, ski facilities and outdoor 
rinks. These current measures are in place until 
further notice.  
 
 


Should municipalities still be encouraging 
employees to work from home?   
 
YES. The mandatory work from home order is 
determined by operational effectiveness. Employers 
need to consider what is effective for their 
operations. The intent is to limit the chance that 
people are coming into close contact with others. 
 
Are masks mandatory while 
skating on municipal outdoor rinks 
and other public outdoor skating 
surfaces? 
 
NO. Currently, physical exercise, including skating, 
is exempt from the masking mandate. Social 
distancing signs should be posted. 
 
Users who are not in the same household should 
remain at least two metres apart while on the ice, 
and entering and exiting the ice surface.  
 
Is there a plan in place for the reopening of 
municipal open space gathering/multi use 
summer spaces? 
 
YES. The reopening of summer recreation activities 
such as beaches, campgrounds and farmers 
markets is dependent on COVID-19 case numbers.  
 
Alberta Health continues to monitor and prepare for 
the upcoming spring and summer months. 
 
 
 
 


Municipal Affairs Updates 
Previous COVID-19 updates are available 
online at: www.alberta.ca/municipal-
government-resources.aspx  



http://www.alberta.ca/COVID19

mailto:ma.lgsmail@gov.ab.ca

http://www.alberta.ca/municipal-government-resources.aspx

http://www.alberta.ca/municipal-government-resources.aspx

http://www.alberta.ca/municipal-government-resources.aspx





Municipal Governance during the COVID-19 Outbreak 
©2020 Government of Alberta | Published January 22, 2021 | Page 2 


Classification: Public 


Are municipal aquatic centers now able 
to open at a lower capacity? 
 
NO. The current measures, which 
include restrictions to public access to a wide range 
of businesses, reflect the seriousness of the public 
health emergency. The decision to restrict public 
access to fitness facilities and aquatic centres was 
not made lightly. Alberta Health is continuously 
monitoring the impact of the restrictions to determine 
when and how they should be adjusted. 
 


COVID-19 Vaccine Distribution 
 
Is there a resource that municipalities can use to 
track the progress of the vaccine rollout? 
 
YES. The Government of Alberta and Alberta Health 
Services are working hard to immunize Albertans as 
quickly and safely as possible. Please see the 
vaccination tracker provided by the Government of 
Canada for Alberta’s vaccination progress: 
https://covid19tracker.ca/vaccinationtracker.html 
 
Up-to-date information on the phased 
implementation plan and additional information 
Albertans need to know about the vaccine is 
available at www.alberta.ca/covid19-vaccine.aspx. 
 
On January 11th, the Premier announced the 
addition of paramedics and EMRs in Phase 1 of 
the vaccine rollout plan. Is there a process they 
must follow to get a vaccine? 
 
YES. Alberta Health Services (AHS) has created 
a COVID-19 immunization online booking tool to 
arrange immunization of newly eligible health-care 
workers to book their COVID-19 immunization 
appointments online from their phones or 
computers. Not all paramedics and EMRs are 
eligible, but those who are eligible should have 
received an email with a link to book an 
appointment.   
 
 
 


Municipal Elections 
 
Are there going to be COVID-19 
specific requirements or process modifications 
for the upcoming municipal elections?  
 
YES. Guidance for campaign-related activities is 
currently available online at Guidance for 
Canvassing and Campaigning. All public health 
measures and restrictions in effect at the time of the 
election (summer village elections as early as June) 
would apply, including masking and distancing 
requirements. Section 28 (c) of the Chief Medical 
Officer of Health (CMOH) Order 42-2020 permits 
businesses or entities that have otherwise been 
ordered closed to the public to remain open for 
elections purposes and related activities.  
 
In addition to delivering nomination forms in person, 
the specific requirement of section 28 of the LAEA to 
submit nomination forms to the local jurisdiction 
office can be met by having forms mailed or 
delivered by courier. Nomination forms can also be 
accepted at specific times set by the returning 
officer, by appointment, or at a secure drop-off box.  
 
Ministerial Order No. MSD: 130/20, remains in effect 
and enables nomination deposits to also be paid by 
debit or credit card. The need for certain 
modifications will continue to be monitored and 
reviewed to ensure municipalities will have the 
appropriate ability to align election operations with 
public health orders or recommendations. 
 
Are there new election forms available? 
 
YES. The nomination form (Form 4) and the newly 
amended Candidate Financial Information Form 
(Form 5) are now available online at 
https://www.alberta.ca/municipal-election-
forms.aspx.  
 


 
 
 



https://covid19tracker.ca/vaccinationtracker.html

https://www.alberta.ca/covid19-vaccine.aspx

https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/topics/Page17335.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/covid-19-relaunch-guidance-canvassing-campaigning.pdf

https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/covid-19-relaunch-guidance-canvassing-campaigning.pdf

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/cmoh-order-42-2020

https://www.alberta.ca/municipal-election-forms.aspx

https://www.alberta.ca/municipal-election-forms.aspx





Municipal Governance during the COVID-19 Outbreak 
©2020 Government of Alberta | Published January 22, 2021 | Page 3 


Classification: Public 


Council Meetings 
 
Can councils still hold council meetings in-
person with members of the public present?  
 
YES. Since municipal council meetings are business 
meetings and not social meetings, they can be held 
in person, including with members of the public; 
however, because of the elevated risk, it is strongly 
recommended to move to virtual meeting formats 
wherever possible.  
 
Is the Public Meeting Procedures (COVID-19 
Suppression) Regulation still in effect?  
 
YES. The Public Meeting Procedures (COVID-19 
Suppression) Regulation remains in effect until it has 
been repealed.  
 
The regulation enables municipalities to follow the 
Chief Medical Officer of Health’s orders for 
physical/social distancing by conducting meetings 
electronically. While councils are encouraged to 
consider electronic meetings to ensure compliance 
with the public health orders regarding public 
gatherings, the decision on how to conduct meetings 
remains at the discretion of the council, committee or 
commission, while ensuring the process used 
complies with current public health orders. 


 
 


 


General Questions 
 
Is there additional resources available 
summarizing the recent amendments made to 
the Municipal Government Act and the Local 
Authorities Election Act that impact Alberta’s 
municipalities?  
 
YES. To assist municipalities in understanding these 
amendments, Municipal Affairs has also developed 
more detailed FAQ documents related to the recent 
amendments. These FAQs can be found online at: 
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/municipal-
government-act-amendments-2020-red-tape-
reduction. 
 


Additional Resources 
The Alberta Urban Municipalities Association 
(AUMA) and Rural Municipalities of Alberta (RMA) 
continue to be a valuable resource for municipalities.  
 
RMA’s COVID-19 response hub is available at 
https://rmalberta.com/about/covid-19-response-hub. 
 
AUMA’s updated guide is available at 
www.auma.ca/covid19.  
 
The Federation of Canadian Municipalities also has 
a list of links and resources for municipalities 
available at www.fcm.ca/en/resources/covid-19-
resources-municipalities.  
 
For the most up-to-date information on the 
COVID-19 situation in Alberta, visit: 
www.alberta.ca/COVID19.  


Municipal Advisory Services 
If you have further questions, please call:    


780-427-2225 or toll-free by first dialing  
310-0000 or email ma.lgsmail@gov.ab.ca 


Alberta Biz Connect 
Alberta Biz Connect provides workplace 
guidance and support to businesses and 
non-profits. The online tool also provides 
sector-specific guidelines to ensure 
businesses can reopen safely during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Businesses with 
questions regarding the relaunch can email 
the Biz Connect team. Common questions 
are also posted online.  



https://www.qp.alberta.ca/1266.cfm?page=2020_050.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779816910

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/municipal-government-act-amendments-2020-red-tape-reduction

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/municipal-government-act-amendments-2020-red-tape-reduction

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/municipal-government-act-amendments-2020-red-tape-reduction

https://rmalberta.com/about/covid-19-response-hub

http://www.auma.ca/covid19

http://www.fcm.ca/en/resources/covid-19-resources-municipalities

http://www.fcm.ca/en/resources/covid-19-resources-municipalities

http://www.alberta.ca/COVID19

mailto:bizconnect@gov.ab.ca

mailto:bizconnect@gov.ab.ca

https://www.alberta.ca/biz-connect.aspx?utm_source=google&utm_medium=sem&utm_campaign=Covid19&utm_term=GuidanceDocuments&utm_content=v1&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIp_DYov706QIVnD6tBh2HwApjEAAYASAAEgLNvfD_BwE#guidance






 
 
February 3, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VIA E-MAIL: carrie.kinahan@glenwood.ca 
 
Office of the Mayor, 
Village of Glenwood 
PO Box 1084   
Glenwood, AB  T0K 2R0 
 
Attention: Mayor Albert (Jonas) Elias 
 
 
RE:  Reinstatement of the 1976 Coal Development Policy       
 
Dear His Worship: 
 
In June of 2020, the Government of Alberta rescinded the Coal Development Policy (Coal Policy) 
without adequate consultation with First Nations, environmental groups, residents, property owners 
and local governments.  This policy was originally developed with the intended purpose to guide coal 
extraction along the eastern slopes of the Rockies based upon a land use classification system and 
dictated where and how coal leasing, exploration and development could occur. 
 
The Coal Policy introduced in 1976, guided coal extraction in one of the most important landscapes 
in Alberta and Canada.  The Eastern Slopes provides water to users from the Rockies to the Hudson 
Bay.   For 44 years, the policy provided essential protection of valuable water resources, ensuring 
downstream communities had access to clean drinking water, that farmers had access to irrigation 
water to protect their livelihoods and that ecosystems that tourists come to experience remained in 
their pristine state.   
 
The rescindment of any policy that affects public lands and/or water resources, requires public 
consultation with First Nations, environmental groups, residents of Alberta, property owners and 
local municipalities.  Without that consultation, our democratic processes are undermined. 
 
In response to the Government of Alberta’s action, the Town of High River’s Council adopted the 
following resolution at its Regular Meeting of Council on January 11, 2021: 
 


BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council direct Administration to draft a letter to Premier Jason 
Kenney, requesting the immediate reinstatement of the 1976 Alberta Coal Policy which 
was rescinded on June 1, 2020;  
 


OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 







AND THAT the letter requests that the Government of Alberta begin public consultation 
with Indigenous groups, environmental groups and all stakeholders in Alberta on any 
proposed revisions or replacement to this policy; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT this letter be sent to the Minister of Environment & Parks 
Honorable Jason Nixon, Minister of Energy Honourable Sonya Savage as well as the 
MLA for Livingstone-Macleod Roger Reid. 


 
This letter was sent to the Premier and Ministers on January 12, 2021 and a meeting has been 
requested with the Premier.  To date, the Town of High River has neither received a response to our 
letter nor a meeting with the Premier.   
 
Other local governments, public officials and Albertans have called upon the Government of Alberta 
to reinstate the Coal Policy.  In response, the Government of Alberta has cancelled some of the coal 
leases but this is not adequate in order to protect water resources for downstream communities, 
such as High River.  
 
Therefore, at the February 1, 2021 Special Meeting of Council, the following resolution was adopted: 
 


WHEREAS Council adopted resolution #RC 14 -2021 requesting the Province of Alberta 
immediately re-instate the 1976 Coal Development Policy; 
 
AND WHEREAS coal exploration and open pit mining will impact water resources for 
downstream communities affecting businesses, residents, ranchers, farmers and 
ecosystems; 
 
AND WHEREAS coal exploration is causing irreparable damage to the landscapes and 
watersheds as well as adversely affecting the public’s access, use and enjoyment of 
Crown lands on the Eastern Slopes of Alberta; 
 
AND WHEREAS  local First Nations groups, municipalities, landowners and ranchers are 
legally challenging the Province’s rescindment of the 1976 Coal Policy in the Courts; 
 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council request all coal exploration be immediately ceased on 
the Eastern Slopes of Alberta and cease issuance of any new exploration permits on the 
Eastern Slopes of Alberta until public consultation has taken place regarding the future 
of coal mining on the Eastern Slopes of Alberta; 
 
AND THAT Council request the Government of Alberta & Premier Jason Kenney issue an 
immediate stop work order for all existing coal exploration permits on the Eastern 
Slopes of Alberta and cease issuance of any new exploration permits on the Eastern 
Slopes of Alberta until public consultation has taken place regarding the future of coal 
mining on the Eastern Slopes of Alberta; 
 
AND THAT Council direct Administration to investigate legal options relating to the 
damage caused due to exploration on Alberta’s Eastern Slopes.  
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council direct Administration to prepare a letter with a copy of this 
resolution to all members of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities, Alberta Urban 
Municipalities Association, Rural Municipalities of Alberta, Municipalities of 
Saskatchewan, Saskatchewan Association of Rural Municipalities and Association of 
Manitoba Municipalities requesting their support to re-instate the 1976 Coal 
Development Policy. 


 







In light of this resolution, the Town of High River is respectfully requesting that you consider drafting 
a letter of support to the Government of Alberta for the immediate Exploration Stop Work Order as 
well as the reinstatement of the Coal Policy.    
 
Thank you for considering our request, 
 
Sincerely,  
 


 
 
Craig Snodgrass 
Mayor 
 
CS/cp/kr 
 








OtoutN RfiER REGT)NAL Ssawcas CouutsstoN


MTNUTES -2 l2O2Ol


ANNUAL GENERAT BOARD OF DIRECTORS' MEETING


Thursday, September 3,2O2O - 7:00 p.m.


ORRSC Conference Room (3105 - 16 Avenue North, Lethbridge)


BOARD OF DIRECTORS:


KeWn Stevenson {absent) ........ Village of Arrowwood
Delbert Bodnarek (absent) ............ Village of Barnwell
Ed weistra....................................... Village of Barons
Tom Rose (absent)............................Town of Bassano
Norman Gerestein. City of Brooks
Jim Bester Cardston County
Richard 8engry.............................. Town of Cardston
Peggy Hovde (absent)................ Village of Carmangay
Jamie Smith (absent)...................Vi11a8e of Champion
Doug MacPherson (absent).........Town of Claresholm
Butch Pauls (absent)........................ Town of Coaldale
Elizabeth Christensen (absent)...... Town of Coalhurst
Tanya Smith......................................Vi11a9e of Coutts
Warren Mickels (absent) ................. Village of Cowley
Dave Fi1ipu22i............................Mun. Crowsnest Pass


Dean Ward...............................Mun. Crowsnest Pass


Kole 5tein1ey..................................Vi11a9e of Duchess
Gordon Wolstenholme........... Town of Fort Macleod
Gerry Carter (absen0 ..................Vi11age of Glenwood
Suzanne French (absent).............Vi11age of Hill Spring
Morris Zeinstra (absent)................ Lethbridge County


Brad Koch (absent)..


Richard Van Ee (absent)


Peggy Losey


Sheldon Walker (absent)-.......


Beryl West (absent)................


Marinus de Leeuw (absent) ...


Henry de Kok


Bev Everts
Don Anderberg .....................
Ronald Davis (absent) M.D. of Ranchland
Stewart Foss - remotely.................Town of Raymond
Don Norby (absent)............................Town of Stavely
Matthew Foss - remotely ................. Village of Stirling
lennifer crowson.. M.D. of Taber
Margaret Plumtree ....................... Town of Vauxhall
Jason Schneider (absent) .....................Vu1can County
Lyle Ma9nuson.................................. Town of Vulcan
David Cody.................................... County of Warner
Marty Kirby.................................... village of Warner
lan Sundquist............................... M.0. Willow Creek


Village of Lomond
Town of Magrath


........... Town of Milk River


............. Village of Milo


.......... Town of Nanton


.... Village of Nobleford


. Town of Picture Butte


. M.D. of Pincher creek


.... Town Pincher Creek


GIS Analyst
....... Executive Secretary


Jordan Thomas
Barb Johnson ..


AGENDA:


1. Approval ofAgenda - September 3,2O2O.


2. Approval of Minutes - March 5, 2O2O.......


3. Business Arising from the Minutes .............


2020 ORRSC Boord of Diredors' Minutes - Pdge 8


.... (attachment)


STAFF:







5


4. STAFF PRESENTATION - lorddn Thomos, GIS Anolyst - "Drone Operation Presentotion"


Reports
(a) Executive Committee Report.


6 Business
(a) Draft ORRSC 2019 Annual Report and Financial Statements...................
(b) Regional Services Commission - Amendments to Part 15.1 of the MGA


7


(c) Staff Update
(d) COVID-19 Update .


(e) Subdivision Activity - 2020...


Accou nts
(a) Summary of Balance Sheet and Statement of lncome for the


7-month period: January 1- July 37,2O2O ..............


(attachment)


..................(attachment)


..................(attachment)


(attachment)


(attachment)


1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA


Moved by: Ed Weistra


THAT the Board of Directors approve the agenda of September 3,2O2O, as presented


2. APPROVAT OF MINUTES


Moved by: Peggy losey


THAT the Board of Directors approves the minutes of March 5,2O2O, as presented


CARRIED


CARRIED


None.


4. STAFF PRESENTATION - Jordan Thomas, GIS Anolyst - "Drone Operotion Presentotion"


ORRSC recently purchased a drone capable of taking high definition video and images from long
distances, especially in hard to access areas. Jordan Thomas, Gl5 Analyst, showed some ofthe photos
taken which were used in the preparation of the Municipality of Crowsnest Pass Municipal
Development Plan. Drone applications include: documents, site evaluations, flood mapping, geo-
referencing for addition to orthophotos, council reports, promotional work, economic development,
etc.


2O2O ORRSC Board ol Directorc' Minutes - Page 9


8. Adjournment - Next Meeting Decembet3,2O2O


CHAIR GORDON WOLSTENHOLME CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER AT 7:00 P.M.


3, BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES







5


Drone service (operated by our GIS staff) will soon be offered to ORRSC member municipalities, upon
request, as a fee-for-service. A brochure including possible applications and the associated hourly
tech fee services will be forthcoming.


5. REPORTS


(a) Executive Committee Report


o Chair Gordon Wolstenholme asked if there were any questions regarding the Executive
Committee Report for the meetings of April 9 and June 11, 2020 which was circulated with
the agenda (there were none). He also noted that the Commission amicably parted ways
with the County of Newell on September 1.


BUSINESS


(a) Draft ORRSC 2019 Annual Report and Financial Statements


. Director Lenze Kuiper summarized work performed by ORRSC staff during 2019:


Expenditures for 2019 exceeded revenues by 542,313. Highlights of the audited financial
statements are as follows:


2020 ORRSC Boord ol Directors' Minutes - Pdge 70


2OI9 ANNUAT REPORT HIGHTIGHTS


Ar lDPs- Rm^r Io ao*^r & &nAtro UI8 xc€arr6rcED^roAu$odr^u
COT,I,LEIE'


Nur,rErous MDPs cofu$nt].rcED aro canrR.fttD


Nui,rtros lu&t 
^rlD 


ArrooMarls coirraEo  ND @rprEra)
A Ftly APEA srnucltn€ pt^Ns co^lirElco Aro coMpt EIED


A rEw GtoryIH sn D€s cot$,rEi€& At,o corra.EEo


A r:\r' HN.,1LEr ituDrEs cordrrtllcED Al|o cor.tnElEo


AN Arc^ RosvaofMExr pLAx corirprE D
An Ar..NExal()r. COllPTEIEO


NL,MERoiJS RoAD clost,R€s co,rIA.EI6


NEw GIS pr^IroeM I€IArID Aro Rou.out cot ]rrErcED


NUI,':I',NJI I,'AFI PEODU"TJ IN 5UP?Oi; OF SIA'U''RT P.A^IS AN) [U3J


I 6 SDAB BE^ft Ncs cor.rPtErEo


l4 ARB HsAli:lc:i :r-n"eL€IEf-;


I77 srrsDrvslcar 
^ppLrc^rlo 


s ptocEs€o







lal t.v.nuot
,lcmbcEhlg (Plonnhg I Glg)


Subdffilon


tr.ior.S.Mc.
Ncl lrponrc!


Solo.br e Brncfih


Ercatt of RavanuG ovar Expandlfurar


lntcmqly fcdrlctcd Ncl Arrct (lcrcrycr)


lolql Eqult


2.398,S7t


r.allrrr3


352,588


445.603


2.21r,155


1,t8r,894


185.032


t99,905


I2St 256


20lt
2,2iL3t
LUrlm
27a,to


tlr,a23


?!?,
l,ttt!,tll
(4L !l


sna.7a2


t28- ll


HIGHTIGHTS


2020 ORRSC Boatd ol Dircctots' Minutes - Pdge 77


2018


REVENUE
Orirn


I


\ ,l6klpol teor
asx


f.. iE tarrlca
lstt


}rbarMdon t..r
t2*







Subdivision activity was the lowest it has been since 2008, as shown below:


t:r.


598


:.


:. ,':


IIIIIIIIII II


EXPENSE
Srlppt.r f* c!rp$c,yt-


-AmodtselorlI 3i


lre.nber fravel a ,tle€ffrgt


llldt*at-,'
lroffig


t:


\ /


Subdivlsion Aclivity


Applcollons . Loh t Fees (k)


2020 ORRSC Board ol Diredorc' Minutes - Pdge 72







Moved by: Ed Weistra


THAT the Board of Directors have reviewed and ratified the Executive Committee approval
of the ORRSC Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ending December 31,


2019. CARRIED


(b) Regional Services commission - Amendments to Part 15.1 of the MGA


. Amendments to Part 15.1 of the Municipal Government Act came into force on September
1, 2020 resulting from the Red Tape Reduction initiative:


o No significant changes to powers and duties of regional services commissions


o More streamlined and reduced provincial approvals for operations


o Some governance implications with respect to meetings and bylaws


o Alignment of financial management with municipal financial processes Includlng:


- addressing financial shortfalls


- requirements for capital budgets


- use of borrowed money


o The required compliance date is Septembet 7,202L. Review and update of ORRSC bylaws


will commence shortly.


(c) Staff Update


. Barb Johnson (Executive Secretary), will be retiring on September 23,2O2O after 45 years


with the Commission. ln addition, both Erin Graham (Assistant Planner) and Bonnie Andres
(Municipal Clerk) resigned over the summer.


. The Executive Assistant and Municipal clerk positions have been posted in the Lethbridge
Herald and interviews will be held following the September 11 deadline for applications. The


Assistant Planner position wlll stay vacant for the time being.


(d) COVID-19 Update


. COVID office protocols continue and compliance with the City of Lethbridge's Bylaw 5239-
Temporary Mandatory Face Coverings Bylaw-has occurred. As of August 10, 2020, all staff
must wear a mask indoors when dealing with the public (masks are not required when in
your own work area provided that physical barriers or physical distancing practices are


observed).


o The public must wear a mask when entering our office (a sign has been posted at the front
entrance notifying the public of this requirement). Masks and hand sanitizer have been
provided for at the front counter. The specified City of Lethbridge penalty for contravention
of this Bylaw is $100.


(e) Subdivision Activity - 2020


. 112 subdivlslon applications have been submitted as of August 31 this year with revenue
totalling S160,109.50. Thiscomparesto 121 applicationsand S199,232.50 in revenueforthe
same period last year. ln spite offee increases, subdivision revenue continues to decrease.


2O2O ORRSC Bodtd ol Direaorc' Minutes - Pdge 73







7. ACCOUNTS


(a) Summary of Balance Sheet and Statement of lncome for the 7-month period:
January 1 - July 31, 2020


Moved by: Richard Bengry


THAT the Board of Directors approve the Summary of Balance Sheet and Statement of lncome
forthe 7-month period: January 1-July 31,2020. CARRIED


8. ADJOURNMENT


Moved by: Gordon Wolstenholme


THAT we adjourn the Annual General Board of Directors' Meeting of the Oldman River ReBional


Services Commission at 7:46 p.m. until Thursday, December 3, 2020 at 7:00 p.m. CARRIED


lbj CHAIR


2020 ORRSC Boord of Diredorc' Minutes - Poge 74


1ffi

























+ MedicineHat
TheGasCity


Office of the Mayor
580 First Street SE


Medicine Hat, Alberta T1A 8E6


Phone: 403.529.8181
Email: mayorimedicinehat.ca


February 3, 2021


The Honorable Jason Kenney, M.L.A.
Office of the Premier
307 Legislature Building
10800 - 97 Avenue
Edmonton, Alberta T5K 2B6
premiergov.ab.ca


RE: REGIONAL APPROACH TO RESTRICTIONS


Dear Premier Kenney;


On Monday, February 1, Medicine Hat City Council passed a unanimous motion asking the
province to take a regional approach to restrictions. I am writing to share my concern on the
current COVID-19 restrictions and the impact that they are having on small businesses and all
Albertans.


Last Spring when our province was first hit by the coronavirus pandemic, we along with
thousands of other Albertans listened, adapted, and implemented new practices to help stop the
spread. We invested in ensuring that those we serve, our employees, our children, and our
community’s health and safety was utmost.


As numbers began to increase in the fall, we increased our protocols, and we championed the
use of face coverings to further limit the spread in hopes that businesses, schools, and youth
activities would remain open. We promoted shopping local, we supported all businesses
recognizing that all businesses, all employees, and all our community members are essential.


In late November, when enhanced protocols were announced, our community rallied together to
support our local restaurants, gyms, and personal services industry, along with our most
vulnerable. We continued to work, to support our families, neighbors, and fellow community
members, some without earning a pay cheque themselves. We tutored our kids and reminded
ourselves that we are privileged to call Alberta home, and that it is our responsibility to give back
to help those in need.


Albertans are struggling, we recognize that COVID-19 does not discriminate and that many
have lost loved ones. We have watched small businesses suffer, we have watched our children
struggle to learn as their teachers are working tirelessly while preparing for virtual learning and
then preparing to change back.







We believe the Province of Alberta needs to take a regional approach when making decisions
regarding the pandemic. The positive case count in South Eastern Alberta and rural Southern
Alberta is extremely low with fewer hospitalizations per capita than most regions. We strongly
encourage the Province of Alberta to allow small businesses and youth activities to re-open in
our region. Those who are committed to enhanced protocols deserve the opportunity to resume
responsibly. We are asking you, Premier, to allow your fellow Albertans in the South Eastern
and the rural Southern Alberta region the chance to earn an income, to maintain their dignity as
gainfully employed individuals, to support our fellow community members, and to give our
children the opportunity of physical and mental weilness. Restaurants, gyms, dance studios,
yoga studios, youth organized sports, and others need to re-open. Albertans are at their
breaking point; livelihoods are on the line financially and mentally.


Many of the businesses that have been permitted to remain open rely on economic activity that
continues to be limited due to current restrictions in place. Although they have continued to
operate throughout these restrictions, they have done so under great financial strain and with
many negative impacts to their operations and to the employment opportunities, they would
otherwise provide.


Premier Kenney, Albertans can no longer afford to sit idle while they watch years of hard work
crumble. Albertans care about one another. We want to see the responsible handling of our
resources and regions, and we want our children to have solid educations with the opportunities
to pursue scholarships through sports and entrepreneurial development. We want to trust in the
safety of our health care, and to see our business owners succeed. Those are the same people
who support our less fortunate and youth organizations, and employ our neighbors.


We ask that the Province of Alberta please take a regional approach, allow South East Alberta
and rural Southern Alberta the chance to succeed while ensuring the health and safety of our
communities. We respectfully request a reduction in restrictions to allow for the safe re-opening
of business and youth activities within our region.


Sincerely,


Ted Clugston, Mayor
City of Medicine Hat


By email:
c: Glen Motz, MP, Medicine Hat — Cardston — Warner


Drew Barnes, MLA Cypress - Medicine Hat
Michaela Glasgo, MLA Brooks - Medicine Hat
Dan Hamilton, Reeve Ward 5 Cypress County
Steve Wikkerink, Reeve Division 7 County of 40 Mile








Alberta SouthWest Regional Economic Development Alliance 
International Economic Development Council (IEDC) Accredited Economic Development Organization (AEDO) 


Green Destinations Top 100 Sustainable Global Destinations and Top 3 Best of the Americas 
 


Box 1041 Pincher Creek AB T0K 1W0 
403-627-3373 (office) 403-627-0244 (cell)  
bev@albertasouthwest.com 
www.albertasouthwest.com 


Alberta SouthWest Bulletin January 2021 
Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA) Update 


 


❖ Invest in Alberta/Xperience magazine 


This Annual Economic Developers Alberta (EDA) publication is formatted as a “double feature” highlighting 


industries, experiences and investment opportunities across the province. 


15,000 hard copies are distributed; digital version is available at: https://investalbertamag.ca/digital-issue/ 


Invest in Alberta section features a short profile of each REDA (pages 17-21) 


Xperience Alberta section has a feature story about Peaks to Prairies EV Charging Station Network (pages 14-17); 


A mention that AlbertaSW Crown of the Continent is a Top 100 Sustainable destination (page 27); 


The Regional Innovation Network of Southern Alberta (RINSA) ad, on behalf of all the partners (pages 40-41). 


 


❖ Energizing Agricultural Transformation (EAT) 


On Ag awareness Day, February 23, the University of Lethbridge will announce new initiatives and a 


speaker series that is intended to help connect research programs to producers and businesses in our 


regions. This will address next steps identified by the AlbertaSW EAT Resource Roundtable, and will 


extend to include RINSA partners to reach a broader southern Alberta audience. Watch for details!  


 


❖ Alberta Regional Dashboard 


We are ever more needful of data to help identify trends and develop next steps. We are turning new attention to 


information available via the Alberta Regional Dashboard. This provincial resource can be “sliced and diced” in 


different ways, by municipality or by pre-defined regions. Check it out at https://regionaldashboard.alberta.ca/# 


 


❖ Comments and trends in municipalities in AlbertaSW 


- infrastructure projects include municipal upgrades, solar installations, residential subdivisions 


- summer demand for outdoor recreation has continued into the winter; ski hills are having a successful season 


- communities note an increase in number of businesses licenses and new development 


- residential real estate sales have increased by as much as double in some communities 


 


❖ Crown of the Continent Geotourism Council 


completing strategic plan 


The planning for 2021 was addressed in two on-line 


sessions with partners from British Columbia, Alberta and 


Montana. All partners have fewer resources, and it is valuable to have clear, shared priorities. We appreciate having 


Alberta Environment and Parks, Jobs, Economy and Innovation, Travel Alberta, Oldman River Regional Services 


Commission (ORRSC), and Parks Canada contributing ideas and perspective from Alberta. 


 


❖ Southern Alberta Business Succession Partnership 


“Begin with the end in mind”. 


On average, a business takes 5 to 7 years to sell. Start planning the path now. 


Community Futures offices offer services FREE OF CHARGE to support business continuity. 


Information videos, workshops, one-on-one coaching and consulting will help businesses prepare to sell or transition 


AND connect buyers and sellers utilizing an innovative, “match-making” on-line global network. Program 


services will be available until March 2022. Contact bev@albertasouthwest.com for additional details. 



mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com

http://www.albertasouthwest.com/

https://regionaldashboard.alberta.ca/

mailto:bev@albertasouthwest.com






 


Mackenzie County 
P.O. Box 640, 4511-46 Avenue, Fort Vermilion, AB  T0H 1N0 


P: (780) 927-3718 Toll Free: 1-877-927-0677 F: (780) 927-4266 
www.mackenziecounty.com 


office@mackenziecounty.com 
 
 
 


…2 


January 27, 2021 
 
 
The Honourable Jason Kenney  
Premier of Alberta 
307 Legislature Building 
10800-97 Avenue 
Edmonton, AB 
T5K 2B6 
 
Dear Premier: 
 
RE: REOPENING RECREATIONAL AND BUSINESS SERVICES 
 
While we appreciate the work the government has done to ensure the safety of 
Albertans, we recognize the extreme toll the pandemic has taken on our 
residents, businesses and recreational centres. 
 
We strongly urge the Provincial Government to reopen access to indoor 
recreational facilities, such as arenas, to the public and establish additional 
supportive public health guidelines.  These could include allowing facility rentals 
for private functions. 
 
Additionally, we urge the Provincial Government to reopen all business services 
as many are at risk of closing permanently and losing their livelihood.  In our rural 
remote northern location, services such as restaurants are extremely limited.  
Reinstating in-person service will assist in sustainability into the future. 
 
Again, we thank you for your efforts in keeping Albertans safe, and we look 
forward to having a conversation with you to discuss the specific needs of our 
communities.  Please feel free to contact me at (780) 926-7405 or by email to 
josh@mackenziecounty.com. 
 
Yours sincerely, 


 
Josh Knelsen 
Reeve 



mailto:josh@mackenziecounty.com





Premier of Alberta 
Page 2 
January 27, 2021 
 
 
 
c: Dr. Deena Hinshaw, Chief Medical Officer of Health 
 Mr. Dan Williams, MLA Peace River 
 Rural Municipalities of Alberta – Member Municipalities 
 Alberta Urban Municipalities Association – Member Municipalities 
 Mackenzie County Council 
 La Crete Chamber of Commerce 
 Fort Vermilion & Area Board of Trade 
 High Level Chamber of Commerce 








         


 
 


Classification: Protected A 


 
 
 
January 29, 2021 
 
 
Honourable Kaycee Madu 
Minister of Justice and Solicitor General 
424 Legislature Building 
10800 - 97 Avenue NW 
Edmonton, AB T5K 2B6 
 
 
Dear Minister Madu: 
 
On behalf of the Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board, please find attached the Board’s report 
on recommendations for 2021-22 policing priorities.  This report fulfills the following two 
mandate items from the Board’s Terms of Reference: 
 


 Provide a report detailing the Interim Board’s recommendations and advice on the 


JSG/RCMP “K” Division Multi-year Financial Plan by January 31, 2021; and 
 


 Provide a report detailing the Interim Board’s recommendations and advice on 
provincial policing priorities by January 31, 2021.  


 


Please note that we have combined our recommendations on the multi-year financial plan and 
provincial policing priorities into the same document.   
 
Thank you again for the opportunity to provide these recommendations. We would be happy 
to meet with you if you would like to discuss our recommendations in greater detail. The Board 
is now working on creating the governance recommendations for the operational Board to 
complete our final mandate items. 
 
If you have any questions or suggestions at this time, please feel free to contact me at 
tthorn@okotoks.ca.  
 
We look forward to engaging with you soon! 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



mailto:tthorn@okotoks.ca





 
 


Page 2 of 2 


 


 


Classification: Protected A 


Sincerely, 


 
 
Tanya Thorn 
Chair 
Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board  
 
cc:  Paul McLaughlin, President, Rural Municipalities of Alberta 


Barry Morishita, President, Alberta Urban Municipalities Association 
Terry Coleman, Chair, Alberta Association of Police Governance 
Deputy Commissioner Curtis Zablocki, “K” Division RCMP 
Marlin Degrand, Justice & Solicitor General 
 


Encl: (2) 
 
 
 


 
 







0 
 


 
  


ALBERTA POLICE INTERIM 


ADVISORY BOARD 
Report on Municipal Policing Priorities 


 


January 2021 
      







1 
 


 


Contents 
 


Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................... 2 


Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 5 


Stakeholder Engagement ................................................................................................................ 6 


Engagement Themes: What We Heard .......................................................................................... 6 


Municipal Policing Priorities ........................................................................................................... 8 


Next Steps and Implementation ................................................................................................... 16 


Appendix 1 – Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board Terms of Reference ................................... 17 


Appendix 2 – Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board Membership .............................................. 22 


Appendix 3 – Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board Survey ........................................................ 23 


 


  







2 
 


Executive Summary 
 
The Alberta Police Advisory Board was created by the Minister of Alberta Justice and Solicitor General in 
spring 2020 to give municipalities served by the Provincial Police Service Agreement (PPSA) a strong 
voice in setting policing priorities. One of the Board’s mandated deliverables was to provide input into 
discussions on provincial policing priorities for the 2021/22 fiscal year. This report fulfills that mandate 
and is also intended to be used to inform the Government of Alberta/RCMP multi-year financial plan. 
 
The Board has developed eight municipal policing priorities and related recommendations. These 
priorities and recommendations are of equal importance to municipalities.  
 


Priority Recommendations 


Develop a coordinated, long-
term strategy to ensure that all 
vacant frontline detachment 
positions are filled. 


• Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to identify and 
prioritize vacancies and gaps in service in both Provincial 
Police Service Agreement (PPSA) and Municipal Police Service 
Agreement (MPSA) municipalities. This would include 
determining what factors should be considered in making 
resourcing decisions, as well as the relative importance of 
each factor. 


• Develop clear and consistent communication processes with 
municipalities around vacancies, including information on 
when and how they will be filled. 


 


Update the detachment 
resourcing methodology to 
ensure that resourcing decisions 
reflect community needs. 
 


• Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to review 
resourcing methodology to ensure it reflects community 
need, particularly at the local level. This may include both 
enhancing direct RCMP engagement with local communities, 
and working with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to refine 
resourcing methodology based on the local input gathered. 


• Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to improve 
communication with municipalities so that they understand 
how resources are allocated, as well as the value of 
centralized, specialized, and civilian positions. 


 


Increase efforts to target repeat 
offenders committing crimes in 
rural and small urban 
municipalities. 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop 
ways in which repeat offender-related strategies and 
information can be consistently and effectively 
communicated between detachments and municipalities or 
police advisory bodies, and how such discussions can then be 
further communicated to CRUs.  


• Improve reporting to municipalities and the public on what 
constitutes a “repeat offender” and the strategies being 
undertaken by the RCMP to address repeat offenders, 
especially in rural and small urban municipalities. 


 


Work with municipal and 
community leaders to identify 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop 
best practices and standards for detachments to follow to 







3 
 


local priority enforcement areas 
and use this information to 
determine detachment and 
regional crime reduction 
strategies. 


improve collaboration and engagement with small 
municipalities. 


• Recognize different rural and urban crime priority areas and 
use this information to inform local, regional, and 
provincewide policing priorities and strategies. 


 


Continue to support 
detachments in conducting 
proactive policing and 
community engagement 
through the increased use of 
Crime Reduction Units, Call 
Back Units, and other resources 
that will allow frontline officers 
to increase their presence in the 
community. 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop 
meaningful definitions and measures of proactive policing and 
community visibility that are relevant in both urban and rural 
municipalities. 


• Determine how the continued growth of specialized units will 
directly support improved frontline policing (including 
proactive policing and community visibility) in rural and small 
urban municipalities. 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop 
messaging on how to better communicate the proactive 
policing initiatives already underway to support improved 
rural police services. 


 


Provide the Alberta Police 
Advisory Board with adequate 
and consistent financial and 
administrative support. 


• That Alberta Justice and Solicitor General allocate a portion of 
revenues collected annually through the police costing model 
to provide required administrative funding for the Alberta 
Police Advisory Board before transferring funding to the 
RCMP.  


• Collaborate with the Interim Board to determine long-term 
board costs and administrative requirements in order to 
inform the funding allocation. 


Work with the Alberta Police 
Advisory Board to develop best 
practices to enhance the quality 
and consistency of 
communication and 
collaboration between 
detachments and the 
municipalities that they serve. 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board (possibly 
through the formation of a sub-committee involving RCMP, 
Government of Alberta, and Board members) to develop 
communication and collaboration best practices and 
approaches in the following areas: 
o How to form relationships with municipal leaders 
o How to effectively report to and update municipalities 


about policing in the community 
o How to work with municipalities to identify and engage 


community leaders, including those from racialized 
and/or under-represented communities 


o How to maintain collaboration following changes in 
detachment and/or municipal leadership 


 


Work with community and 
municipal leaders to address 
racism and other forms of 
discrimination in policing. 


• Develop measurable detachment-level requirements for 
engaging with local racialized and/or under-represented 
communities. 


• Collaborate with municipalities and other leading community 
organizations to raise awareness of and respond to local 
social justice issues. 







4 
 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop 
initiatives that will support detachments in undertaking this 
action. 


 


 
As the role of the Alberta Police Advisory Board is to provide recommendations to the RCMP and Alberta 
Justice and Solicitor General, it is ultimately the responsibility of the provincial government and “K” 
Division leadership to decide whether to accept the Board’s recommendations, and if so, how to 
integrate them into existing planning processes and strategic initiatives. 
 
The Board would be pleased to meet with RCMP and Alberta Justice and Solicitor General leadership to 
discuss the priorities identified in this report, and how all three groups can work together towards 
effective implementation.   
  







5 
 


Introduction 
 
The Minister of Justice and Solicitor General established the Alberta Police Advisory Board in spring 2020 
to give municipalities served by the Provincial Police Service Agreement (PPSA)1 a strong voice in setting 
policing priorities. As the order of government closest to its citizens, municipalities are well-positioned 
to help the RCMP identify and address community policing2 and public safety issues. The Board can 
therefore play an important role in ensuring that policing reflects the needs and concerns of Albertans 
across the province.  
 
The Alberta Police Advisory Board is being implemented in two phases: in the first year, an interim 
Board is developing the Board’s structure and scope. On the completion of the interim Board’s mandate, 
the work of the operational Board will begin for a four-year term. As per the Terms of Reference 
developed by Alberta Justice and Solicitor General (Appendix 1), the Interim Board is made up of four 
representatives from the Rural Municipalities of Alberta (RMA) Board, four representatives from the 
Alberta Urban Municipalities Association (AUMA) Board, and one representative from the Alberta 
Association of Police Governance Executive. A list of the current interim Board members is provided in 
Appendix 2.  
 
 The Interim Board has been mandated to: 


1. Develop the scope and terms of reference for the operational Board. 
2. Develop a recruitment and selection process for operational Board members. 
3. Develop governance documents for the operational Board, including at minimum, a 


Competency Matrix for Board member appointments and review, a Code of Conduct, and a 
Mandate and Roles Document. 


4. Provide input, advice, and recommendations to the provincial government and RCMP “K” 
Division on the buildup of the provincial police service.  


5. Provide input into discussions on provincial policing priorities for the 2021/22 fiscal year to 
facilitate engagement during transition to the operational Board. 


 
This report contains the Interim Board’s recommendations and advice on provincial policing priorities 
for the 2021/22 fiscal year (Mandate Item 5). The report is also intended to be used to inform the 
Government of Alberta/RCMP Multi-Year Financial Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 


 
1 Under the Police Act, the Government of Alberta is responsible for providing police services to urban 


municipalities with populations of 5,000 or less and all municipal districts and counties. The provincial 
government meets this obligation by contracting the RCMP to deliver police services to these municipalities 
through the Provincial Police Service Agreement (PPSA). This agreement is negotiated and signed by the 
provincial and federal governments. 


 
2 Community policing is a philosophy that promotes organizational strategies that support the systematic use of 


partnerships and problem-solving techniques to proactively address the immediate conditions that give rise to 
public safety issues such as crime, social disorder, and fear of crime. 







6 
 


Stakeholder Engagement 
 
Since its establishment, the Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board has been engaging with key 
stakeholders to gather information and develop recommendations on policing priorities. 
 


The Board distributed a survey to municipalities in fall 2020 to learn more about municipal perspectives 
on policing (see survey questions in Appendix 3). This survey received 209 responses from 160 different 
municipalities. The Board also solicited input from municipalities through email and in person at RMA 
and AUMA events. Municipal feedback provided the foundation for the recommendations in this report.  
 


Additionally, the Board met multiple times with RCMP “K” Division and Alberta Justice and Solicitor 
General to learn about current policies and processes related to planning, budgeting, and resource 
allocation for the provincial police service. This included reviewing the policing priorities and 
performance measures identified by the RCMP and Alberta Justice and Solicitor General in their 2018-
2021 Joint Business Plan.  
 


Engagement Themes: What We Heard 
 
The Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board received a wide range of feedback from municipalities on how 
to enhance policing in Alberta. While quantitative analysis of survey results has been invaluable in 
helping the Board determine policing priorities for municipalities, several broader themes also emerged 
through qualitative analysis. Some of these themes highlight broad, societal issues that the RCMP 
cannot resolve alone, but should consider in both their strategic planning and day-to-day operations. 
Other themes focus on specific policing areas that the RCMP can address directly. The Board was 
pleased to note that these themes are generally aligned with the some of the priorities outlined in the 
existing Alberta Justice and Solicitor General/RCMP 2018-2021 Joint Business Plan, indicating a degree 
of agreement between municipalities, the provincial government, and the RCMP on future goals and 
directions for policing in Alberta. 
 


Systemic Resource Constraints  
 
Municipalities have consistently highlighted resource constraints in the provincial health, policing, and 
justice systems as a key barrier to effective policing. Municipalities do not expect to have a hospital, 
police detachment, and courthouse in every community in Alberta; however, all Albertans must have 
equitable access to health, police, and justice services and these services must be appropriately 
resourced in order to be effective. While the RCMP is now in a position to increase its resources as a 
result of additional funding raised through the new police costing model, their effectiveness will 
continue to be limited as long as there are vacancies and gaps in the health and justice systems. It is 
important to note that both the justice and healthcare systems fall under provincial jurisdiction, and 
municipal governments have a limited role in provincial policy, planning, and decision-making for these 
systems. Additionally, given fiscal constraints and limited mechanisms for raising revenue, municipalities 
are not able to fill in gaps in provincial funding. 
 
 
 







7 
 


Crime Reduction and Prevention  
 
As crime and the costs of policing continue to be a key issue in both rural and urban communities, 
municipalities have identified the need to focus on crime prevention and reduction by resolving the root 
causes of crime. There is considerable research showing that early intervention and prevention with 
youth, families, and schools reduces violent crime in a cost-effective way: crime can be prevented by 
responding as soon as possible when people have risk factors such as addiction, loss of employment, or 
mental illness. While most early intervention and prevention programs fall under provincial jurisdiction, 
there is a role for the RCMP to play in cross-agency collaboration with various stakeholders and levels of 
government to identify the root causes of crime at a community level, pool resources, and coordinate 
responses. Municipalities do play a role in delivering preventative social supports through the Family 
and Community Support Services (FCSS) program; in fact, more than half of the municipalities 
participating in this program pay more than the required municipal cost share for the program. 
However, municipalities are limited by legislation that prevents FCSS programs from duplicating any 
provincial services.  
 


Outcome Accountability  
 
Municipalities expect the RCMP to operate according to prescribed accountability and governance 
frameworks. Many municipalities identified the need for a more transparent, collaborative approach to 
assessing RCMP performance that is based on the identification of policing and public safety goals 
through a closer working relationship between the RCMP and their primary stakeholders, particularly 
municipalities, which are well-positioned to identify community safety issues. Once such goals are 
identified, appropriate indicators should be created for assessing whether progress is being made 
towards achieving these goals, and regular reporting processes should be established. Municipalities are 
cognizant of the additional resources required to support organizational effectiveness and outcome 
accountability, and they acknowledge the tension inherent in balancing corporate support and 
centralized positions with “boots on the ground”. However, a collaborative and transparent approach to 
RCMP performance assessment that engages stakeholders more directly in goal identification and 
outcome measurement can lead to more successful, responsive, and accountable policing. 


 


Social Justice 
 
Recent events such as the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Children, 
the Black Lives Matter movement, and the Merlo-Davidson settlement underscore the need to address 
systemic discrimination in civil society, and the role of police in both perpetuating this discrimination 
and combatting it. All civil institutions, including municipal governments and police services, must work 
in partnership with marginalized populations to address discrimination both internally and in their 
interactions with the citizens they serve. To ensure public confidence in policing, municipalities support 
improved civilian oversight and transparency, particularly for complaints and disciplinary reviews, as 
well as recruitment and training initiatives that focus on diversity and inclusion. 
 


  







8 
 


Municipal Policing Priorities 
 
Based on stakeholder feedback, the Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board has developed eight 
municipal policing priorities and related recommendations to inform discussions on provincial policing 
priorities for the 2021/22 fiscal year. These priorities and recommendations are of equal importance to 
municipalities and are grouped by the themes identified in the previous section.  
 


Systemic Resource Constraints  
 
Priority 1: Develop a coordinated, long-term strategy to ensure that all vacant frontline detachment 
positions are filled. 
 
Albertans need to feel safe and protected in their communities. AUMA, RMA, and the Alberta 
Association of Police Governance have consistently heard from their members that RCMP vacancy rates 
and long response times contribute to the perception that some communities are not safe. This 
feedback has been validated by the responses to the Board’s fall 2020 municipal survey, which identified 
the following three service issues as the most important for municipalities: 


• Filling vacancies and providing full coverage service 


• 911 response times 


• Community visibility 
 
Only cities were likely to indicate an “other” issue as most important; otherwise, all sizes, districts, and 
types of municipalities agreed on the above issues as their most important. 
 
These service issues reflect an overall lack of resources; accordingly, the Board supports allocating 
additional police resources to improve policing services; address rising crime rates; and enable 
community crime prevention and diversion initiatives. The Board was therefore pleased to see the 
RCMP’s announcement that the new police costing model will result in additional resources for the 
RCMP for 2020/21, specifically 76 new police officers and 57 new civilian support positions. Additionally, 
the RCMP has shared information with the Board on potential resourcing initiatives that include: 


• 24-hour coverage in all PPSA locations 


• The creation of a relief team to be deployed to detachments that are experiencing short term 
human resource shortages 


• District general duty resources that would provide district commanders with the flexibility to 
deploy resources to areas of need 


 
  RECOMMENDATIONS:  


• Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to identify and prioritize vacancies and gaps in 
service in both Provincial Police Service Agreement (PPSA) and Municipal Police Service 
Agreement (MPSA) municipalities. This would include determining what factors should be 
considered in making resourcing decisions, as well as the relative importance of each factor. 


• Develop clear and consistent communication processes with municipalities around vacancies, 
including information on when and how they will be filled. 


  







9 
 


Priority 2: Update the detachment resourcing methodology to ensure that resourcing decisions reflect 
community needs. 
 
The RCMP currently determines how to allocate policing resources by analyzing each detachment’s 
workload. This analysis takes several factors into account, including travel time, call volume, type of 
crimes occurring in the area, amount of time required for investigations, size of detachment, and time 
available for proactive policing. When asked to rank which factors were most important to their 
municipality, survey respondents identified travel time as by far the most significant factor (43%), 
followed by the types of crime in the area (29%), then time available for proactive policing (12%). Call 
volume, detachment size, and investigative time required were seen as less important. Rural and small 
urban municipalities (municipal districts, villages, and summer villages; populations under 5,000) tended 
to prioritize travel time over type of crime when compared to larger urban municipalities (cities and 
towns; populations over 5,000), although both were considered important. This likely reflects the fact 
that rural and small urban municipalities tend to be further away from detachments than larger 
municipalities.  
 
Additionally, 70% of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that resource allocation should be 
balanced between frontline officers and centralized, specialized, or civilian positions. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  


• Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to review resourcing methodology to ensure it 
reflects community need, particularly at the local level. This may include both enhancing direct 
RCMP engagement with local communities, and working with the Alberta Police Advisory Board 
to refine resourcing methodology based on the local input gathered. 


• Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to improve communication with municipalities so 
that they understand how resources are allocated, as well as the value of centralized, 
specialized, and civilian positions. 


 


Crime Reduction and Prevention 
 
Priority 3: Increase efforts to target repeat offenders committing crimes in rural and small urban 
municipalities. 
 
Repeat offenders are a major issue in rural and small urban municipalities across Alberta. Anecdotally, 
many municipal leaders have indicated that most of the criminal activity occurring within their 
communities is due to a small group of individuals that frequently re-offend. Survey results highlight the 
importance that municipal leaders place on addressing repeat offenders, particularly in rural 
municipalities and specialized municipalities. This may indicate a specific link between repeat offenders 
and property crimes common in rural areas with a limited police presence. 
 
Although a complete strategy to effectively focus on and reduce the rate of prolific and repeat offenders 
includes reforms to social supports and the justice system that are beyond the scope of the Alberta 
Police Advisory Board, there are ways in which policing approaches at the detachment, regional and 
province-wide level could better address repeat offenders.  
 
The Alberta Justice and Solicitor General/RCMP 2018-2021 Joint Business Plan includes a key initiative 
under the “crime reduction” priority to establish “specialized crime reduction units focused on targeting 







10 
 


repeat offenders.” It is the Board’s understanding that the first crime reduction unit (CRU) was formed 
in Alberta in 2017 as a pilot project, and four CRUs are currently in place in the province. The Board 
supports the CRU model as a key tool to address prolific offenders and appreciates that the RCMP has 
identified expanding the use of CRUs as a potential 2021 resourcing initiative.  
 
According to the Civilian Review and Complaints Commission’s (CRCC) March 2020 Review of the RCMP’s 
Crime Reduction-Type Units, Alberta’s CRUs collaborate “with the provincial agencies responsible for 
health, housing, addictions and human services both at the working and senior levels, including the 
provincial deputy minister level.” While this collaboration between CRUs and provincial agencies is a 
positive, the report lacks any reference to CRUs attempting to work with municipalities, municipally 
operated social service organizations (such as Family and Community Support Services), community 
peace officers, or local non-profit agencies that may provide support to those at high risk of becoming 
repeat offenders. As many rural and small urban communities have little or no direct provincial agency 
presence, it is imperative that CRUs increase their collaboration with non-provincial entities that may 
play a role in both preventing individuals from becoming repeat offenders and helping to identify 
possible repeat offenders within these communities. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop ways in which repeat offender-
related strategies and information can be consistently and effectively communicated between 
detachments and municipalities or police advisory bodies, and how such discussions can then be 
further communicated to CRUs.  


• Improve reporting to municipalities and the public on what constitutes a “repeat offender” and 
the strategies being undertaken by the RCMP to address repeat offenders, especially in rural 
and small urban municipalities. 
 


Priority 4: Work with municipal and community leaders to identify local priority enforcement 
areas and use this information to determine detachment and regional crime reduction 
strategies. 
 
Survey results showed that while some categories of criminal activity are priorities in municipalities of all 
types, sizes, and regions of Alberta, there are noticeable differences in how important other types of 
crime were viewed by different survey respondents. For example, although “major property crime” was 
clearly identified as the most important crime category for Alberta’s municipalities overall, it was ranked 
as relatively low among town and city respondents (larger urban municipalities) and as very high among 
rural municipalities, summer villages, and villages. Conversely, towns and villages ranked drug-related 
offences as a much higher priority than respondents representing rural and small urban municipalities.  
Similarly, family violence was ranked as a higher priority by larger municipalities, while property crime 
was less of a priority. 
 
What these results suggest is that while both drug offences and property crimes impact communities of 
all types and sizes, the direct impacts of each likely differ. This data could be interpreted to suggest that 
individuals committing drug crimes in towns and villages (where they likely live) may be travelling to 
rural and small urban municipalities to commit property crimes linked to drug sales or use. This is a 
significant assumption, but it speaks to the larger issue: crime is a major concern in communities across 
the province, but its specific impacts differ based on municipal size and type.  
 







11 
 


While the survey results indicate broad differences in priority crime areas among municipalities of 
different types and sizes, it is likely that priority issues vary by individual municipality. For this reason, 
ongoing, quality collaboration between detachments and municipal/community leaders is essential to 
ensure that those policing the community understand the concerns and priorities of community 
residents and businesses. In larger municipalities where both police and municipal governments may 
have the time and capacity to regularly interact, this may be straightforward. However, in smaller 
municipalities, limited police and municipal capacity may mean that collaboration is more difficult. 
The impacts of municipal size on collaboration are supported in the survey results. The table below 
contrasts the overall survey responses to the responses of municipalities with a population below 2,000 
on several questions related to police/municipal collaboration. 
 


Question Alberta overall Municipalities with 
population below 
2,000 


Municipalities with 
population above 
2,000 


Does your municipality have a 
police oversight body? 


27.5% said yes 19.4% said yes 36.0% said yes 


How often does your 
municipality/police oversight body 
meet with your detachment 
commanders? 


58.6% meet two 
times or more 


39.6% meet two 
times or more 


77.1% meet two or 
more times 


Do you consider your current 
meeting frequency with RCMP 
detachment commanders 
sufficient? 


65% said yes 56% said yes 73.0 said yes 


Does your RCMP detachment 
provide you with a copy of their 
annual performance plan (APP)? 


66% said yes 59% said yes 74.2% said yes 


Is your municipality or police 
oversight body involved in 
developing the detachment’s APP? 


55% said yes 35% said yes 60.2% said yes 


Does your municipality or police 
oversight body receive regular 
reporting from your detachment? 


82% said yes 70% said yes 95.3% said yes 


 
What the results above suggest is that collaboration between small municipalities and their 
detachments is consistently lower than collaboration between detachments and municipalities in 
general. This inconsistency likely flows upwards into the policing-related priorities of small and rural 
municipalities being under-considered in RCMP regional and province-wide priority-setting. 
 
While Alberta’s Police Act places the onus on municipalities to form police committees as a formal 
means to collaborate with their local detachment, it is not the only way. The results above clearly show 
that detachments often meet with municipal councils regardless of whether the municipality has a 
standalone police committee. However, the results also show that the level of engagement requires 
improvement, especially in small municipalities, nearly half of which consider their current meeting 
frequency with their detachments to be insufficient. 
 







12 
 


RCMP and Alberta Justice and Solicitor General should emphasize the development of detachment 
standards for engagement with the municipalities they serve. Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board 
members have regularly heard from municipal leaders that municipal-detachment engagement is often 
“personality-driven,” as it is almost entirely dependent on the willingness of a particular detachment 
commander to take the time to work with municipal leaders. In many cases, municipalities have formed 
strong relationships with a detachment, only to see them evaporate when the detachment’s leadership 
shifts.  
 
The Alberta Justice and Solicitor General/RCMP 2018-2021 Joint Business Plan makes some indirect 
references to improving community engagement, including the need to develop strategies for “local 
partnerships” within detachment Annual Performance Plans, and “improve the way in which the RCMP 
connect with, involve, and inform communities to ensure the public is receiving a prompt response to 
criminal complaints and a positive service experience.” However, neither of these initiatives specifically 
addresses the need to better inform and engage municipalities, which is especially important in small 
communities in which the municipality is often most knowledgeable of local concerns and trends. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop best practices and standards for 
detachments to follow to improve collaboration and engagement with small municipalities. 


• Recognize different rural and urban crime priority areas and use this information to inform local, 
regional, and provincewide policing priorities and strategies. 
 


Priority 5: Continue to support detachments in conducting proactive policing and community 
engagement through the increased use of Crime Reduction Units, Call Back Units, and other 
resources that will allow frontline officers to increase their presence in the community. 
 
The Alberta Justice and Solicitor General/RCMP 2018-2021 Joint Business Plan includes a strategy to 
create specialized units, along with the Police Reporting and Occurrence System (PROS) data centre, to 
increase the amount of time available to frontline police officers for proactive policing and community 
engagement.  
 
The Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board is highly supportive of this existing strategy and recommends 
that the RCMP continue to dedicate resources to forming and expanding the use of specialized units to 
address and respond to crime, which will allow local officers to increase their presence in the 
communities they serve more strategically. 
 
However, both the concepts of proactive policing and community visibility, as well as their importance, 
are not homogeneous across Alberta, but rather differ across municipal size and type. For example, in 
urban municipalities, community visibility may look like police consistently appearing at and 
participating in community events to build relationships with residents. In isolated rural areas of the 
province, visibility may be as simple as having a police officer physically visit a resident who was the 
victim of a property crime, rather than only follow up over the phone. In other words, the threshold for 
what constitutes an effective level of community visibility differs significantly across the province, 
meaning that a single definition or measure of community visibility if unlikely to exist.  
 
Similarly, the importance of proactive policing varies across the province. In urban communities that are 
typically located near a detachment and have short response times, proactive policing is more of a 







13 
 


priority, likely because it is seen as the “next step” in enhancing community safety beyond the core 
policing aspects of actually responding to calls for service. Conversely, rural municipalities rank response 
time as having much higher importance than community visibility, likely because current response times 
in rural areas are much longer than urban communities. 
 
The survey reflects some of the differences in how urban and rural municipalities view proactive 
policing. The question below shows the relative importance that representatives of different municipal 
types assigned to travel time and time available for proactive policing in terms of how much importance 
each should have determining RCMP resourcing allocations (note that a higher number indicates a 
higher level of importance). 
 


Municipal Type Travel time importance Proactive policing importance 


City 1.71 4.29 


Town 3.89 3.45 


Village 4.80 3.75 


Summer village 5.12 4.35 


Rural municipality 4.97 2.89 


 
What these results suggest is that larger urban municipalities that are likely to host a detachment are 
less concerned about travel time (which is likely already adequate), while villages, summer villages and 
rural municipalities, which are less likely to be near detachments, view travel time as a major concern.  
Interestingly, while all four urban municipal types shown above view proactive policing as relatively 
important, it is much less so in rural municipalities. This should not be viewed as an assumption that 
rural municipalities are not interested in having enhanced proactive policing in their area, but rather 
that response times (or reactive policing) is such a major concern in rural areas that rural expectations 
for anything beyond basic response is currently quite low. 
 
These results also suggest that the RCMP must more effectively report on their rural proactive policing 
efforts, in the form of Crime Reduction Units, Call Back Units, and other initiatives, and their link to 
seeking to improve both police availability and community visibility in rural communities. It is likely that 
many rural residents (and municipalities) may be unaware of the proactive and strategic initiatives being 
undertaken by the RCMP with the end goal of increasing police presence and response in rural areas. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop meaningful definitions and 
measures of proactive policing and community visibility that are relevant in both urban and rural 
municipalities. 


• Determine how the continued growth of specialized units will directly support improved 
frontline policing (including proactive policing and community visibility) in rural and small urban 
municipalities. 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop messaging on how to better 
communicate the proactive policing initiatives already underway to support improved rural 
police services. 
 







14 
 


Outcome Accountability 
 


Priority 6: Provide the Alberta Police Advisory Board with adequate and consistent financial and 
administrative support. 
 
The Alberta Police Advisory Board fills an important gap in the current RCMP-Alberta Justice and 
Solicitor General planning and priority setting process by ensuring that small and rural communities 
have some level of representation in the process. The current interim Board is supported by RMA and 
AUMA, along with additional assistance from Alberta Justice and Solicitor General and RCMP staff. 
Moving forward, RMA and AUMA expect to have a lesser role in the Board, as board members will no 
longer exclusively be RMA and AUMA representatives, but rather broader municipal and community 
representatives from rural and small urban municipalities. 
 
To ensure that the Board functions effectively in the long-term, a portion of the funds currently 
collected through the new police costing model should be used to support the expenses and 
administrative requirements of the board. This includes board member costs and per diems and board 
administrative and capacity requirements, such as minute-taking, report writing, survey construction 
and analysis, and other specialized skills that the board will require but that cannot continue to be 
provided on RMA and AUMA on a no-cost basis. Proactively confirming that the operational Board will 
be adequately supported is crucial to supporting member recruitment, long-term planning, and ensuring 
the board can focus on policing, rather than on how to remain operational with limited provincial 
support. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 


• That Alberta Justice and Solicitor General allocate a portion of revenues collected annually 
through the police costing model to provide required administrative funding for the Alberta 
Police Advisory Board before transferring funding to the RCMP.  


• Collaborate with the Interim Board to determine long-term board costs and administrative 
requirements in order to inform the funding allocation. 
 


Priority 7: Work with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop best practices to enhance the 
quality and consistency of communication and collaboration between detachments and the 
municipalities that they serve. 
 
The RCMP has been a consistent and helpful partner for the Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board since 
its establishment in early 2020. The interim Board will be in place until the end of November 2021. 
Moving forward, the operational Board will likely consist of a variety of municipal and community 
representatives from rural and small urban municipalities across Alberta. In addition to providing input 
and recommendations to the RCMP and provincial government on behalf of municipalities, it is expected 
that the Board will play an important role in enhancing local engagement and partnership between the 
RCMP and municipalities across the province. 
 
As explained under Priority 4, the effectiveness of local detachment-municipal engagement and 
collaboration varies by municipal size and type. A core focus of the work undertaken by the RCMP and 
Board should be to improve the consistency of local communication and collaboration, particularly in 
small municipalities, through the creation and implementation of best practices and policies that can be 







15 
 


used by both detachments and municipalities to encourage engagement in cases where a lack of time 
and resources may prevent the use of more “official” approaches such as police committees. 
 
Such approaches should be flexible to meet the differing needs and capacities of municipalities, and 
should be grounded in the idea that an ongoing relationship should exist between each detachment and 
all of the municipalities it serves, but that this relationship should not necessarily look the same across 
the province.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board (possibly through the formation of a sub-
committee involving RCMP, Government of Alberta, and Board members) to develop 
communication and collaboration best practices and approaches in the following areas: 
o How to form relationships with municipal leaders 
o How to effectively report to and update municipalities about policing in the community 
o How to work with municipalities to identify and engage community leaders, including those 


from racialized and/or under-represented communities 
o How to maintain collaboration following changes in detachment and/or municipal 


leadership 


 
Social Justice 
 
Priority 8: Work with community and municipal leaders to address racism and other forms of 
discrimination in policing 
 
Alberta’s communities are diverse, and many Albertans have had negative experiences with police that 
have shaped their perceptions of policing and the role of police in their communities. Incidents across 
Canada and the United States over the past year have brought into sharp focus the concerning 
relationship between police and racialized groups that has existed for decades. It is critical that the 
RCMP engage with racialized and Indigenous communities, and other marginalized groups across the 
province to understand their perspectives on systemic discrimination in policing, and to ensure that all 
Albertans are effectively served by police.  
 
While the Alberta Justice and Solicitor General/RCMP 2018-2021 Joint Business Plan includes a priority 
related to better serving Indigenous communities, a similar priority is required for other marginalized 
groups. Additionally, although the business plan includes a strategy to develop cultural awareness, 
diversity and inclusion training for all employees, action must go beyond simply requiring employees to 
take a single diversity training course. This focus should extend to the detachment level and require 
each detachment to take concrete, measurable steps to learn about and engage with racialized and 
vulnerable groups within the communities they serve. The Alberta Police Advisory Board can play a role 
in supporting this relationship-building by working with municipalities to identify those in small and rural 
communities that are members of or represent racialized or vulnerable populations.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 


• Develop measurable detachment-level requirements for engaging with local racialized and/or 
under-represented communities. 


• Collaborate with municipalities and other leading community organizations to raise awareness 
of and respond to local social justice issues. 







16 
 


• Collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory Board to develop initiatives that will support 
detachments in undertaking this action. 


 
Next Steps and Implementation 
 
As the role of the Alberta Police Advisory Board is to provide recommendations to the RCMP and Alberta 
Justice and Solicitor General, it is ultimately the responsibility of the provincial government and “K” 
Division leadership to decide whether to accept the Board’s recommendations, and if so, how to 
integrate them into existing planning processes and strategic initiatives. 
 
Many of the recommendations above build on actions already reflected in planning documents, and 
mainly focus on the need to accelerate implementation or collaborate with the Alberta Police Advisory 
Board to a greater extent around certain existing initiatives. 
 
The Board would appreciate an opportunity to meet with the leadership of the RCMP and Alberta 
Justice and Solicitor General to discuss the priorities identified in this report, and how all three groups 
can work together towards effective implementation.   







17 
 


Appendix 1 







18 
 







19 
 







20 
 







21 
 







22 
 


Appendix 2 – Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board Membership 


Tanya Thorn Board Chair Councillor, Town of Okotoks 
Kara Westerlund Alternate Chair Councillor, Brazeau County 
Tom Burton Board Member Councillor, Municipal District of Greenview 
Terry Coleman Board Member Board Chair, Alberta Association of Police Governance 
Angela Duncan Board Member Deputy Mayor, Village of Alberta Beach 
Tyler Gandam Board Member Mayor, City of Wetaskiwin 
Trina Jones Board Member Councillor, Town of Legal 
Kathy Rooyakkers Board Member Councillor, County of Wetaskiwin 
Jason Schneider Board Member Reeve, Vulcan County 







23 
 


Appendix 3 – Alberta Police Interim Advisory Board Survey  
 
 


1. Name of Municipality 
 


2. Our municipality is a: 
City 
Town  
Village  
Summer Village  
Specialized Municipality 
County/Municipal District 
Other (please specify) 
 


3. We represent a population: 
Under 2,000 
2,000 - 5,000  
5,001 - 10,000  
Over 10,000 
 


4. Our municipality receives RCMP services from the following detachment(s): (fill in) 
  


 
5. Please provide a contact name, in case there is a need to follow up with your municipality to 


clarify feedback or get more detailed information regarding interesting ideas or collaborations 
(optional). 


 
Engagement with RCMP 
 


6. Does your municipality have a police oversight body? 
Yes 
No 


 
7. How often does your municipality or municipal/community police oversight body meet with 


your RCMP detachment commander(s)? 
Four times a year or more 
2-3 times a year 
Once a year 
Less than once a year 
We’ve never met formally 


 
8. Do you consider your current meeting frequency with the RCMP detachment commander(s) to 


be sufficient? 
Yes 
No 


 
9. Does your RCMP detachment(s) provide you with a copy of their annual performance plan(s)? 







24 
 


Yes 
No 


10. Is your municipality or municipal police oversight body involved in developing the detachment’s 
annual performance plan (APP)? 


Yes 
No 


 
11. Does your municipality or municipal police oversight body receive regular reporting (such as 


information on statistics, trends, and detailed crime rates) from your local detachment(s)? 
Yes 
No 
 


   If yes, what type of information do you receive? 
Is there any other type of information you would like to receive that is not currently 
provided? 


 
  If no, what type of information would you like to receive? 
 


12. Please share any examples of effective collaboration between your detachment(s) and your 
municipality/community members. 
 


13. How could your detachment(s) improve engagement with your municipality/community 
members? 


 
14. Do you think that processes for providing input on local policing priorities should be formalized 


and standardized? For example, independent municipal, community police oversight bodies, 
which are currently optional, could be mandated in legislation. 


Yes 
No 
 
If yes, what is your preferred mechanism for doing so? 


 
Policing Priorities 
 


15. Rank the policing priorities below in the order of importance for your municipality in 2021/22. 
Traffic enforcement (i.e. aggressive driving, distracted driving) 
Family violence (i.e. domestic abuse and threats) 
Illegal drug-related offenses (i.e. possession, trafficking) 
Impaired driving (drugs, alcohol) 
Crimes against persons (i.e. assaults, threats) 
Minor property crime (i.e. vandalism, theft from motor vehicles, theft under $5,000) 
Major property crime (i.e. break and enters, theft of motor vehicles, theft over $5,000) 
Proactive/community policing (i.e. school resource officers, patrols) 
Increased focus on prolific offenders 
Other (fill in) 


 
16. Rank the RCMP service issues below in the order of importance for your local RCMP detachment 


to resolve in 2021/22. 







25 
 


911 response times 
Community visibility  
Filling vacancies and providing full coverage service 
Engaging with the municipality (reporting, setting priorities, communication on service 
changes, etc.) 
Communication with community members and other stakeholders 
Other (fill in) 


 
Rollout of New Police Resources 
 
The RCMP currently determines how to allocate additional and/or new policing resources by analyzing 
each detachment’s workload. This analysis takes the following factors into account: 


• Travel time 


• Call volume 


• Type of crimes occurring in the area 


• Amount of time required for investigations 


• Size of detachment 


• Time available for proactive policing (patrols, community engagement, visiting schools, and 
attending community events). 


 
17. Rank the order of importance of these factors to your municipality.  


 
18. Are there any other factors that should be considered? 


 
Revenue collected through the new costing model will be reinvested into policing, leading to an increase 
in the number of RCMP officers and civilian positions throughout the province. This investment 
prioritizes adding uniformed patrol officers in rural RCMP detachments, but will also add police officers 
to centralized RCMP units that work to address province-wide issues such as organized crime, drug 
trafficking, and auto and scrap metal theft. A portion of the revenue will also be used to fund new 
civilian positions to assist with administrative tasks and provide investigative support. These 
administrative roles are intended to improve response times and help ensure officers have the support 
they need to protect Albertans by spending more time in their communities. 
 


19. Do you agree that RCMP resource allocation should balance frontline officers with centralized, 
specialized, and/or civilian positions? (Strongly agree to strongly disagree) 


 
Police Costing Model 
 


20. Have you engaged in conversations with your local detachment around whether any new police 
resources arising from the new costing model may affect policing in your municipality? 


Yes 
No 
 
If yes, what information did you receive from your detachment on new police 
resources? 
 
 







26 
 


21. Has the information provided by the Government of Alberta on the new police costing model 
been sufficient to ensure your council and staff understand the new model, including how costs 
are determined and how the additional funding could be used? 
 


Yes 
No 
 
If no, what additional information do you require on the new police costing model? 
 


 
 








MINUTES OF THE CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION MEETING HELD 
JANUARY 13, 2021 VIA ZOOM. 


Members Present: 
 
Richard Van Ee – Town of Magrath  Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston 
Philip Wright –  Town of Milk River  Robert Edwards – Village of Stirling  
Randy Taylor – County of Warner  Wayne Harris – Cardston County 
Tyler Lindsay – Village of Warner  Bryce Coppieters – Town of Raymond  
Tanya Smith – Village of Coutts    
    
Others Present: 
 
Abe Tinney - SEO  Lee Beazer – Operator  Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer 
Reza Mirhadi & Amin Sabzevari - Aspen Technology Solutions 
        
Commenced at 4:30 pm   


Randy Taylor in the Chair. 


AGENDA 


Richard Van Ee moved that the agenda be adopted as presented.     Carried 


DELEGATION 


Aspen Technology Solutions presented gasification technology to help manage the amount of waste 
being buried at the Landfill. 


The board inquired as to who has been working with the company and they will provide the 
municipalities information once permission has been granted.  The feasibility study will cost $5,000 to 
complete and the timeline to complete is around 2 - 2 ½ months.  The project usually pays back in about 
2-5 years. 


Reza Mirhadi & Amin Sabzevari excused at 4:59 p.m. 


The board would like a reference from another company or municipality for Aspen Technology 
Solutions. The SEO will also contact Municipal Affairs to see if any other companies are an option. 


Bryce Coppieters moved to approve the information from the delegation.    Carried 


MINUTES      


Gerry Selk moved that the minutes of the December 9, 2020 organizational meeting be adopted as 
presented.            Carried 
 







MINUTES CMRSWSC MEETING JANUARY 13, 2021 
 


2 
Printed: 2021-01-21 


Tanya Smith moved that the minutes of the December 9, 2020 board meeting be adopted as presented. 
             Carried 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
The SEO presented By-Law 2021-01 Borrowing Bylaw for the board to review with a 20-year payback 
option.  The board reviewed over the years of borrowing money for the Packer.  The board would like to 
pursue a 5-year payback option. 


21-01 Gerry Selk moved first reading of By-Law 2021-01 Borrowing Bylaw.    Carried 


21-02 Robert Edwards moved second reading of By-Law 2021-01 Borrowing Bylaw.   Carried 


21-03 Tanya Smith moved that the board consider third reading of By-Law 2021-01 Borrowing Bylaw. 
             Carried 


21-04 Wayne Harris moved third and final reading of By-Law 2021-01 Borrowing Bylaw.  Carried 


The SEO presented the Business Plan for the Commission to review and approve.  The board suggested a 
few minor changes.  The SEO will forward the Business Plan to each participating municipality.  


21-05 Gerry Selk moved to approve the Business Plan for the Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste 
Services Commission.           Carried 


The Operator reported that 758.90 tonnes of waste were delivered to the Landfill in December 2020.  
The year-to-date total is 11,161.42 tonnes delivered to the Landfill for 2020. This means that 1,161.42 
tonnes are carried over to 2021 decreasing the Commissions deliverable tonnage to 8,838.58 for 2021. 
 
The Operator will plan to divert waste to Cowley weather permitting starting immediately and review 
the tonnage totals in July. 
 
21-06 Robert Edwards moved to authorize the Operator to divert waste to Cowley and review tonnage 


in July.            Carried 
 
The Operator advised that the water samples have been taken and Wilde Brothers Engineering are 
compiling the year-end report for Alberta Environment. 
 
The Operator reported that Lorne Bascom has been hired to replace Jay Infanti. 
 
Gerry Selk inquired as to the bobcat glass repair bill. The Operator advised that the repair was not only 
glass but a total of four different repairs.  The board would like to remind employees to work cautiously 
to avoid unnecessary repairs or injuries.  
 
Tanya Smith moved to approve the Operator’s report.       Carried  


Financial Statement 


The Financial Statements for November 30, 2020 and December 31, 2020 were reviewed.    







MINUTES CMRSWSC MEETING JANUARY 13, 2021 
 


3 
Printed: 2021-01-21 


Richard Van Ee moved to accept the November 30, 2020 and December 31, 2020 Financial Statements.  
             Carried 


Approval of Bills  


Bills for the month of December 2020 were reviewed.  


Tyler Lindsay moved to approve the bills for December 2020.         Carried 


The board discussed the Canadian Wood Waste Recycling Business Group email that was received, and 
the board is not interested in participating. 


ADJOURNMENT 


Bryce Coppieters moved meeting adjourned. 


Adjournment at 6:16 p.m.  


Next Commission meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 10, 2021 at 4:30 p.m. via Zoom. 


 
__________________________________   
Chairman 








1 


Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste Services Commission 


This document provides an overview of the Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste 
Services Commission (CMRSWSC) organization, its operations and finances, and 
areas of possible service expansion/regionalization. The solid waste business plan 
contains yearly priorities and long-range plans that will help the commission take a 
proactive approach toward establishing an efficient and environmentally responsible 
waste management system. Lastly, this business plan contains a monitoring and 
reporting framework to ensure accountability and measure progress on board 
established priorities. The document is divided into the following sections: 


Part one contains the organization’s vision, mission statement and values, as well as 
its current structure and existing practices. Sub-sections include Governance, 
Legislative Compliance and Industry Best Practices, and Sound Financial 
Management. This section should be reviewed yearly and updated according to 
organizational change.  The priorities in this section are aimed at maintaining the 
existing service.  


Part two identifies existing challenges to the service and discusses possible solutions. 
Challenges include: 


1) Tonnage – yearly tonnage limits remain an issue for Chief Mountain.
2) Regional Membership - the Blood Tribe has given notice that it will be providing


its own trucking and eventually its own landfill services.
3) Safety Program – a few steps remain to establishing a safety program for the


service.


Part three contains regionalization options and industry best practices. The board 
should continue to explore operational efficiencies through regionalization.  


2021 Business Plan 







2 


 


Part I Organization, Structure and Existing Practices  


Vision, Mission Statement and Values 


Vision – To a build and maintain a sustainable solid waste management service that 
will be of value for our regional municipal partners now and into the future.  


Mission Statement – The CMRSWSC will be a regional leader in all areas of municipal 
solid waste management – our service will comply with provincial guidelines and 
regulations, reflect industry best practices, respond to the needs of our member 
municipalities, and provide the professional structure necessary to conduct the 
business of solid waste management.  


Values: We value professionalism, sound financial management, responsiveness and 
accountability, and sound governance.  


From the Government of Alberta Website: 


Landfilling is the most common method to dispose of waste in 
Alberta. Even though significant efforts are made to reduce, reuse, 
and recycle as much of the waste we produce, there is still a need 
for disposal facilities. 


Alberta began regionalizing its municipal landfill system in the 1970s 
to transition the province from a system of small municipal "dumps" 
throughout the countryside to regional landfills with a network of 
transfer stations that would consolidate waste. This shift allowed for 
the cost-effective development of engineered landfill sites. 


Modern landfills are engineered waste management facilities that 
are typically integrated with other activities such as organics 
management and collection sites for household hazardous waste, 
tires, white goods and other recyclable materials 
(https://www.alberta.ca/landfills.aspx). 


CMRSWSC operates a Level II Registered Landfill1 to handle Municipal Solid Waste 
(MSW). Class II landfills are non-hazardous and can be either Approved or Registered. 
The primary difference between the two is the amount of tonnage handled at the landfill 
each year. Specifically, Approved landfills generally handle over 10,000 ton/year of 
MSW, while Registered landfills generally operate below this threshold.  


 
 


1 Landfills in Alberta are classified by the waste streams they can accept. There are three classes of 
landfills: 
Class I – Hazardous waste landfill 
Class II – Non-hazardous waste landfill 
Class III – Inert waste landfill 



https://www.alberta.ca/landfills.aspx





3 


As a regional services commission, CMRSWSC provides MSW services to its members. 
The commission has a distinct legal status separate from member municipalities and 
can borrow and incur debt servicing costs, directly expropriate land, and assume 
liabilities.  
 


 


 


 
 
Figure 1 - Waste Facilities Map 


Governance 


CMRSWSC is governed by a board of directors, comprised of 12 voting members from 
participating municipalities. Initially appointed by the Minister of Municipal Affairs, but 
thereafter via Commission bylaws, the Board determines its succession and 
appointment procedures. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Commission’s 
financial and operational performance, and, as such, is responsible for all financial 
decisions.  


The current structure of the service is reflected in Figure 2 below. The organization 
consists of three-fulltime operators and a part-time treasurer/secretary and a part-time 
SEO. Each position is integrated into the broader organization and has clearly defined 
roles, expectations, and reporting requirements. Commission bylaws and some 
organizational policies outline the roles of board members, member municipalities and 
the SEO, while job descriptions for each of the permanent positions can be found in 
the policy manual. SEO responsibilities are also outlined in the SEO contract.   
 







4 


 
 
Figure 2 – Organizational Structure 


 
The organization has four sub-committees. The Finance, HR, Policy and Safety sub-
committees (comprised of board members) provide direction to the operations and 
management of the commission by overseeing relevant sections in the policy manual, 
and by assisting administration with organizational problems under the purview of their 
sub-committee. The commission’s policy manual provides long-term stability and 
direction to the service and ensures transparent and consistent processes and 
procedures.  
 
Depending on the direction of the Commission, the organizational structure might 
change overtime.  For example, if the board decides to assume control of transfer 
stations and regionalizes solid waste pickup, more employees and a full-time 
manager/SEO will be required. Service level options have been outlined in the Solid 
Waste Management Plan. It is also important that CMRSWSC explore options by 
speaking with neighboring solid waste management services to determine best 
practices.  


CMRSWSC Board
(Composed of 


Member 
Municipalities)


SEO
(Part-Time)


Sr. Operator


Assistant Operator Assistant Operator


Treasurer/Treasurer
(Part-Time)







5 


Governance Priorities 


1) Maintain a Policy and Bylaw program that clearly outlines board and employee
responsibilities, meeting procedures and legislative requirements.


2) The CMRSWSC board should regularly review company positions and
associated responsibilities to ensure organizational needs are met.


3) The sub-committee structure and policy manual should be valued as significant
organizational assets, as they provide assistance to administration, as well as
municipal oversight across all aspects (HR, Safety, Policy and Finances) of the
organization. The commission should maintain this structure.


Legislative Compliance and Industry Best Practices 


Much of what we do is regulated by legislation, and the service should align with 
legislated guidelines where applicable. Moreover, CMRSWSC should always seek out 
industry best practices when examining the organization, and when exploring new 
service options. Lastly, the following legislations and regulations and resources are 
important to our operations:  


1. Code of Practice for Landfills in Alberta– contains guidelines and regulations
for operating landfills in Alberta. 


2. MGA and Commission Regulations – The MGA contains legislation for the
governance and operations of regional services commissions, as the
regulations  pertaining specifically to the commission.


3. Alberta Transport: Commercial Vehicle Safety and Compliance Education
Manual and Commercial Vehicle Safety Regulation - When Chief Mountain
moved to a commission, Alberta Transport required the service to
perform a safety audit and comply with the requirements set out in the
Commercial Vehicle Safety Compliance in Alberta manual. This program
provides the  safety guidelines for the trucking operations of the service, and
issues the Safety and Fitness Certificate.


4. Alberta Recycling Management Authority – acts on behalf of the province to
oversee disposal of end-of life electronics, paints, tires and used oil.
https://www.albertarecycling.ca/


5. Solid Waste Management Plan (Tetra, 2015) – best practices study contains
recommendations and best practices for the service.


6. Alberta Government website has numerous resources for Landfill groups
https://www.alberta.ca/waste-legislation-and-resources.aspx



https://www.albertarecycling.ca/

https://www.alberta.ca/waste-legislation-and-resources.aspx





6 


7. Alberta Waste Management Authority Contact List
https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/ep- regional- waste-management-authority-contact-list.pdf. This is a valuable 
document because it allows us to connect with other regional waste 
management groups on policy and service options. Administration should 
have and an active list, for the purposes of maintaining contact and staying 
abreast of best practices.  


Legislative Compliance and Industry Best Practices Priorities 


1) Ensure legislative and industry standards for board governance, landfill
operations and trucking are understood and followed.


2) Drivers maintain Class 1 License with Airbrake Endorsement (Q) as a minimum
requirement. Drivers are encouraged to seek out and participate in other
programs and training that will enhance skills and knowledge.


3) Comply with all reporting and legislative requirements to maintain permit to
operate landfill (Alberta Government). Landfill operator is encouraged to seek
out and participate in programs and training that will enhance skills and
knowledge.


4) Maintain Safety and Fitness Certificate (Alberta Transport).
5) Obtain memberships in regional waste management organizations and connect


with other solid waste management organizations when exploring new service
options or when examining existing practices.


Sound Financial Management 


The MGA and Commission regulations stipulate broad financial requirements and 
practices for the Commission. For example, the service is required to perform a yearly 
audit (MGA, S. 602.36) and to pass yearly operating and capital budgets with specific 
information required in each budget (MGA, S. 602.23, 602.25). Additionally, as a 
regional services commission, Chief Mountain can incur debt and should consult the 
Debt Limit Regulation when seeking loans (the regulation which the debt limits for 
municipalities and service commissions).  


The Chief Mountain board approves yearly capital and operating budgets. Each budget 
contains five-year projections to better assist the board with managing the 
Commission’s finances. Additionally, administration will maintain a 10-yr budget to 
assist in yearly budget preparation, and forecast large equipment purchases. Every 
year, the approved budget will be included in this report at Appendix A. 


To gain greater understanding of the budget, Chief Mountain might consider splitting 
the budget into two budgets – one for trucking and one for the landfill. Chief Mountain 
has begun to break down of some of its larger budget items. This will provide better 
understanding of the trends and history of specific line items, and ultimately a better 
understanding of the overall budget. For example, Figure 2 below breaks down the per 
capita requisitions year over year.   



https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/ep-%09regional-%09waste-management-authority-contact-list.pdf





7 


 
Figure 3 CMRSWSC Per Capita Requisitions 2010-2020.  


While requisitions have increased by 41% in real dollars between 2010 and 2020, when 
adjusted for inflation, the increase is much less significant at 17%. Further work can 
be done to the revenue column to better understand rising requisitions (for example, 
comparisons of the different revenue streams over the same period, or a look at 
requisitions as a percentage of overall revenues overtime). Indeed, the Solid Waste 
Management Plan has encouraged budgetary breakdowns: 


Each annual report should provide a summary of the budget of the 
previous fiscal year. Tetra Tech EBA suggests pie charts for costs 
and expenditures, to show a high-level summary that can be easily 
understood by stakeholders. The status of the reserves should also 
be regularly updated. 


 
Trucking Expenses 2017 - October 15, 2020 


 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Item $ $ $ $ 


Trucking Expense 
       
1,332.22  


           
151.83  


             
55.93  


       
1,518.54  


Bobcat 
     
12,709.66  


       
7,620.20  


       
7,376.42  


       
5,914.91  


Fuel 
     
81,337.82  


     
96,746.50  


     
84,716.71  


     
55,787.47  


Repairs 
       
4,066.22  


     
17,884.25  


       
2,538.37  


-      
3,839.27  


Semi Tires 
       
9,477.40  


       
7,595.00  


     
11,058.46  


       
8,114.44  


Trailer Repairs 
     
25,902.64  


       
2,092.33  


     
14,012.15  


       
9,164.39  


Trailer Tires 
       
2,786.41  


       
6,032.00  


       
3,491.48  


       
4,804.00  


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020


Per Capita Costs


Actual Adjusted for Inflation







8 


Truck 
Maintenance 45,393.26 65,327.75 60,797.75 43,808.64 


TOTAL 183,005.63 203,449.86 184,047.27 125,273.12 


Figure 4 Trucking Expenses 2017-2020 


For reporting purposes and better operational efficiencies, Chief Mountain will begin 
more thorough budgetary examinations and reports. 


Additionally, Chief Mountain has a Depreciation and Loan Schedule, and a Capital 
Assets Register (Appendix B and C respectively). These financial planning tools have 
been developed in accordance with company policy and will assist the board in 
managing its assets as it conducts both short and long-term financial planning. 


Financial Management Priorities 


1) Maintain capital asset registry. In accordance with company policy, this
document will track equipment costs and repairs, as well as overall asset
liabilities and asset debt.


2) Maintain depreciation and loan schedule to project monies required to set aside
for replacement of equipment and otherwise assist with yearly and long-term
budgeting.


3) Comply with legislated accounting practices of yearly financial audit, approval
of yearly capital and financial budgets.


4) Budgetary breakdowns of revenues and expenses to identify operational
inefficiencies.


5) Board budget reports contain balance of depreciation account, closure-post
closure accounts.







9 


Part II Current Challenges 


Tonnage 


One of the biggest challenges facing the Commission is yearly tonnage levels. As discussed 
in the introduction, Chief Mountain runs a Registered landfill with a limit of 10,000 ton per year. 


Breaking the 10,000 ton/year limit may require Chief Mountain to obtain Approved status, 
which will introduce significant complexity and expense to our operations. For example, cells 
for Approved landfills require more expensive liners, and cells must be dug significantly deeper 
than cells at Registered landfills.  Thus, one goal for CMRSWSC in both short and long-term 
planning should be to stay below 10,000 ton of MSW per year. Indeed, exceeding yearly 
tonnage was identified in the commission’s Solid Waste Management Plan as one of the 
biggest challenges for the service. 


Figure 5 CMRSWSC Tonnage 2005-2019 


Figure 5 shows that CMRSWSC has: 
1) exceeded the limit twice (2005, 2007)
2) avoided exceeding the limit 5 times by diverting to neighboring landfills, and
3) is consistently close to the limit, leaving little room for years like 2012 (Cardston hailstorm
construction debris led to increased tonnage) and perhaps 2020, when it appears that
residents are de-junking at higher-than-normal rates, resulting in increased tonnage.


Options for dealing with tonnage limits 


0


2000


4000


6000


8000


10000


12000


14000


2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019


Chief Mountain Tonnage 2005-2019


Spring Coullee Lethbridge Cowley







10 


1) Disaster Debris Mitigation: 2012 was the year of the hailstorm in Cardston. Given the
size of our region, and the possibility of significant weather incidents (hail, flooding) we
should look into a contingency plan for disaster debris, review our policy on natural
disasters and consult with other solid waste management groups re: disaster debris. I
have already been referred to High River and Okotoks area on the matter. I just need
to follow-up. The Solid Waste Management Plan suggested this as one focus area for
the service.


2) Understand the 10,000-ton limit and the implications of exceeding it by consulting with
Alberta Environment and regional service providers who have transitioned to an
Approved landfill. Going to an Approved landfill eliminates the 10,000-ton limit but
results in significantly more expensive operations.  Explore if there is a viable business
model for an Approved landfill. Find out the provincial and federal benchmarks and
recommendations for yearly per capita solid waste disposal.


3) CMRSWSC should review its diversion policies and its relationship with municipalities
(regional diversion inventory) to see how it can improve diversion. Given that Figure 2
has not been adjusted for population, and populations have clearly increased while
tonnages have remained constant, diversion is arguably be working. The main
diversion targets for the CMRSWSC should be yard waste, recyclables and C&D Waste
(Tetra Tech, 2015).2


4) Additionally, CMRSWSC should align with provincial and national groups and programs
that promote MSW diversion. Memberships, attendance at conferences and exploration
of available grant funding programs will provide opportunities for the commission to
keep abreast of industry best practices in regards to diversion and recycling.


i) Alberta CARE (https://albertacare.org/). Membership is $500.00/year.


From the Alberta CARE website:  
Many municipal landfills will reach the end of their life expectancy within the next 
5-10 years…Recycling can reduce the amount of waste relegated to landfills and
increase landfill life expectancy.  Alberta, however, faces unique recycling
challenges.


Since 1994 Alberta CARE, formerly Northern CARE, has worked in cooperation 
with many different government organizations, industries, recycling groups and 
non-profit societies – all with the intent of increasing the viability of recycling 
initiatives in Alberta. By working together, we can achieve a reduction in the 
amount of waste going into our landfills. 


ii) Alberta Recycling Management Authority (ARMA)
(https://www.albertarecycling.ca/). No membership required. ARMA acts on behalf
of the province to oversee all aspects of end-of-life processing of electronics, paint,
tires and used oil materials. ARMA regularly hosts to conferences, provides
knowledge and literature, grant and program funding aimed at recycling electronics,


2 The study recommended a short-term goal removing 50% of yard waste and recyclables 
and 20% of C&D Waste within the next 5 years in order to stay well below the 10,000-
tone landfill threshold. Long term, CMRSWSC should adopt a vision for continued 
improvement and set new targets as new opportunities arise. 



https://albertacare.org/

https://www.albertarecycling.ca/





11 


paint, tire and used oil. Many of our municipal members have worked with ARMA, 
Chief Mountain should be more involved and in the know of ARMA activities, at the 
very least so we can direct our municipalities to take advantage of ARMA programs. 


iii) Federation of Canadian Municipalities
(https://fcm.ca/en/funding?f%5B0%5D=filter_by_topicf%3AWaste)
No membership required. This group provides funding under the Green Municipal
Fund Initiative. Existing grant opportunities include Pilot or Capital Waste
Diversion Pilot Projects.


iv) SAEWA – At one time, Chief Mountain was a member of this waste to energy
group. We should re-connect with this organization to see if they can offer any
resources for managing MSW.


Regional Membership 


Another significant challenge is the regional nature of the service, and specifically the 
financial dependence participating members have on one another. The loss of a 
member, particularly one of the larger municipalities, decreases the revenue base and 
increases the financial burden upon the remaining municipalities. The Board was 
recently given notice of the Blood Tribe’s intention to provide its own trucking, and 
eventually, to establish its own landfill. While attempts have been made by Chief 
Mountain administration to establish timelines for the change of service and possibly a 
new fee structure for the Blood Tribe, we have not been able to establish a concrete 
plan. Moving into 2021, we will continue to work with the Blood Tribe to find short-term 
solutions the changing relationship, as well as long-term solutions to the decreased 
revenues that will result from losing the Blood Tribe. 


Options for Membership Challenges 


1) Recruit New Members
The initial response is to fill the void left by the Blood Tribe’s departure through
adding new municipal members. We can reach out to neighboring municipalities
to gauge interest in joining the commission.


2) Explore the business case for moving to an Approved Landfill
Another option is to explore moving to an Approved landfill. While there are
significant caveats, most notably the significant increase in the cost of
developing cells for Approved Landfills, there may be a business case for
moving to an Approval and then attracting new customers to offset cell costs.
Authorized landfills do not have limits, thus the tonnage limit concern identified
above is no longer a threat.


3) Investigate becoming a trucking company only and retiring the landfill.


Safety Program 


Running a professional organization involves maintaining an effective health and 
safety program for our employees. CMRSWSC will provide and maintain a safe and 
healthy work environment in accordance with industry standards and in compliance 
with legislative requirements. Furthermore, Chief Mountain will strive to eliminate any 



https://fcm.ca/en/funding?f%5B0%5D=filter_by_topicf%3AWaste





12 


foreseeable hazards that might result in property damage, accidents or personal 
injury/illness.  


In 2020, the board approved a restructured health and safety manual. Additionally, the 
Operator conducted a safety audit for Chief Mountain’s trucking activities, which 
ensures compliance with government of Alberta commercial vehicle regulations and 
safety practices. In 2021 the commission should seek to:  


1) Have the health and safety manual reviewed by an Occupational Health and
Safety professional. This process will ensure adequacy and compliance with
OH & S.


2) Implement a hazard assessment program. This includes assessing
organizational jobs/tasks and creating hazard assessments accordingly. Chief
Mountain should also obtain hazard assessment training for employees and a
process for reviewing and following-up on hazard assessment and safety
concerns identified therein.







13 


Part III Regionalization of Services 


In 2015 the service commissioned a Best Practices Model and Management Plan, 
which contained numerous recommendations for the organization: 


- Establish a Regional Commission;
- Re-structure Organizational Model;
- Standardize Service Levels in the Region;
- Create a List of Banned Materials;
- Conduct a Landfill Standards Assessment;
- Expand Recycling Options at Transfer Stations;
- Create a Yard-Waste Drop-off Area at Each Transfer Station;
- Implement a Free-Store System;
- Require Material Recovery Plans in Development Applications;
- Conduct a Depreciation Assessment;
- Optimize Transfer Stations;
- Prepare a Transfer Station Diversion Conceptual design;
- Create a Disaster Debris Response Plan;
- Design a C&D Diversion Brochure;
- Standardize Signage;
- Develop a CMRSWSC Facility Map;
- Provide a Grass-Cycling Resource to Residents;
- Promote Backyard Composting; and
- Develop an Annual Reporting Structure


Completed 
Partial Completion 
Addressed in the business plan 


While “Establish a Regional Commission” is identified above as “Completed”, it 
should be noted that the best practices study recommends that the service assume 
control of transfer stations as part of the commission process. Advantages of 
exercising this option include: 


- Central management and can hold transfer station attendees responsible to
the commission, and the commission can more easily implement standardized
service levels, including lists of banned substances, recycling, diversion, C
and D options, etc.


- communications flow from a central source to each community.


At the time of the commission application, most municipalities agreed to transfer 
ownership and operation of their transfer stations to the commission, while others 
agreed to lease their transfer stations. The commission has not yet assumed control 
of transfer stations.   







14 


Organizational Mandate Alternative Continuum from the Solid Waste Management Plan 


After the commission was established in 2020, administration contacted 13 regional 
solid waste organizations (1 authority, 2 associations, and 10 commissions). Every 
organization offers a slightly different service package. Some only operate a landfill, 
some only operate transfer stations, while others offer different services like 
recycling, transfer stations, landfill, composting and/or website. The primary focus of 
the inquiry, however, was about owning and/or operating transfer stations.  


Big Country Waste Management Commission is the only comparable commission 
that oversees transfer stations and offers a similar envelope of services. This group is 
responsible for trucking, recycling, operation of landfill, and operation and repairs of 
28 transfer stations. The operations manager emphasized that overseeing the 
transfer stations on the scale similar to Big Country or Chief Mountain is a huge 
undertaking and should be avoided.  


# of Transfer      Members     Employees 
Stations 


Chief Mountain 15 12 3 full, 2 part 
Big Country  28 10 9 


Assuming control of transfer stations will result in increased complexity of operations 
(more employees, hr., etc.) and may result interruption of existing service delivery.  
Additionally, the structure in the best practices model includes a fill-time SEO to 
oversee a model where Chief Mountain oversees transfer stations. Currently each 
municipality manages its transfer station through their existing structures and 
processes, and this is likely the most efficient set-up considering the current SEO for 
Chief Mountain is part-time.  


Moving into 2021, however, the board should explore the regionalization model more 
fully. More information on the Best Practices recommendations (listed above on page 
13) is available in Appendix E.







REVENUE 2019 Actual 2020 Budget YTD  (Dec. 4)    2021 Budget 2022 Budget 2023 Budget 2024 Budget 2025 Budget
1 Requisition 741,945.18 798,105.60 798,105.60 849,029.68 905,286.30 914,256.86 908,100.18 913,152.11


Transfer Station Depreciation 20,762.00 20,762.00 20,762.00 20,762.00 8,160.00
3 Landfill Waste Disposal 54,888.09 48,914.40 97,969.71 54,020.05 54,560.25 55,105.85 55,656.91 56,213.48
4 Metal Disposal 7,804.00 9,000.00 - 9,272.71 9,365.44 9,459.09 9,553.68 9,649.22
5 Parks/Customs Requisition 3,340.20 3,300.00 - 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00
6 Interest - Depreciation 18,507.57 10,000.00 7,857.20 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00
7 - Operating 3,654.99 2,000.00 1,590.67 2,040.20 2,060.60 2,081.21 2,102.02 2,123.04
8 - Closure/Post Closure 3,337.65 1,000.00 1,461.04 1,030.30 1,040.60 1,051.01 1,061.52 1,072.13
9 Land Lease 2,149.40 2,100.00 2,100.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00


10 e-waste Revenue 2,221.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
11 Miscellaneous Income 712.19 1,000.00 4,403.25 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00
12 Insurance Claim 66,280.69
13 Penalties on Overdue Accounts (Requ. & 4,490.79 3,000.00 3,604.74 3,300.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00
20 Total Operating Revenue 930,094.25 899,182.00 937,854.21 954,954.94 998,973.19 1,000,454.02 994,974.31 1,000,709.98


Less Intr. On Depreciation and Post Closure 21,845.22 11,000.00 9,318.24 11,030.30 11,361.21 11,702.05 12,053.11 12,414.70
Less Transfer Station Depreciation 20,762.00 20,762.00 20,762.00 20,762.00 8,160.00
Total Revenue 887,487.03 867,420.00 907,773.97 923,162.64 979,451.98 988,751.98 982,921.21 988,295.28


21 Expenditures 2019 Actual 2020 Budget YTD (Dec. 4) 2021 Budget 2022 Budget 2023 Budget 2024 Budget 2025 Budget
26 Trucking 184,074.27 195,000.00 160,646.10 198,900.00 202,878.00 206,935.56 211,074.27 215,295.76
27 Payroll Expenses 259,400.15 274,000.00 247,956.77 278,110.00 280,891.10 283,700.01 286,537.01 289,402.38
28 Contract Work 36,045.00 30,000.00 27,500.00 30,000.00 30,000.00 30,000.00 30,000.00 30,000.00
29 Delegation/Mileage/ Meals 3,130.51 5,000.00 5,929.40 5,000.00 5,050.00 5,100.50 5,151.51 5,203.02


Postage and Office 2,258.50 2,000.00 1,853.54 2,060.00 2,121.80 2,121.80 2,185.45 2,185.45
29 Telephone 4,467.93 4,400.00 3,936.85 4,444.00 4,577.32 4,577.32 4,714.64 4,714.64


Bank Charges & Bad Debts 2,362.99 3,500.00 2,889.10 3,535.00 3,570.35 3,606.05 3,642.11 3,678.54
Professional Fees - Audit 6,830.00 16,500.00 6,850.00 11,550.00 11,896.50 12,372.36 12,619.81 12,872.20


- Engineering 977.75 4,000.00 4,209.02 4,251.11 4,293.62 4,336.56 4,379.92 4,423.72
-Legal - 10,000.00 1,747.89 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00


Membership and Liscenses 277.45 300.00 646.90 1,200.00 653.37 1,212.00 659.90 1,224.12
40 WCB Premiums 6,698.36 6,400.00 1,049.84 6,464.00 6,528.64 6,593.93 6,659.87 6,726.46


Miscelanneous and Advertising 500.00 505.00 510.05 510.05 515.15 515.15
41 Vehicle Repairs 2,783.38 3,000.00 3,679.50 3,500.00 3,535.00 3,570.35 3,606.05 3,642.11
42 Equipment & Trailer Repairs 84,917.05 40,000.00 36,249.94 37,500.00 37,875.00 38,253.75 38,636.29 39,022.65
43 Fuel & Oil 29,559.73 25,000.00 13,926.48 25,250.00 25,502.50 25,757.53 26,015.10 26,275.25
45 Shop Supplies & Small Tools, PPE 20,258.68 5,600.00 5,887.08 6,406.00 6,470.06 6,534.76 6,600.11 6,666.11


Cell Development 40,000.00 40,400.00 40,804.00 41,212.04 41,624.16
Maintenance Bldg./Grounds (New) 43.030.10 43.030.10 43.030.10 43.030.10 43.030.10


46 Maintenance - Bldg./Grounds 94,938.09 56,900.00 11,424.46
47 Gravel 0.00 5,000.00 15,000.00 10,000.00 10,100.00 10,201.00 10,303.01 10,406.04
48 Shop Utilities 3,450.10 3,000.00 2,506.29 3,090.90 3,121.81 3,153.03 3,184.56 3,216.40
50 Insurance 14,467.78 15,000.00 17,705.70 16,484.83 16,649.68 16,816.18 16,984.34 17,154.18


Station Repairs and Improvements 8,687.91 10,000.00 14,208.83 10,100.00 10,201.00 10,303.01 10,406.04 10,510.10
51 e-waste payments to contractors 1,758.56 0.00 - - - - - -


Waste Diversion Incentives 7,869.42 12,000.00 12,000.00 12,120.00 12,241.20 12,363.61 12,487.25
54 Training 1,456.08 1,500.00 695.00 4,500.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 2,000.00 2,000.00
55 Computer Equipment /Programs 1,371.90 3,000.00 2,029.81 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00


Loan Paymnet (Packer) 42,804.00 42,804.00 42,804.00 42,804.00 42,804.00


Total Operating Expenditures 778,041.59 731,600.00 588,528.50 766,654.84 772,749.80 782,504.94 791,254.79 801,049.70
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 109,445.44 135,820.00 319,245.47 156,507.80 206,702.19 206,247.04 191,666.42 187,245.58


Capital 2019 Actual 2020 Budget YTD (Sept. 30) 2021 Budget 2022 Budget 2023 Budget 2024 Budget 2025 Budget


Depreciation Reserve Fund
     Opening Balance 1,185,901.87 1,008,944.64 835,705.00 731,525.78 873,433.08 842,664.14 1,013,012.24 1,168,512.81
     Depreciation Reserve Interest 18,507.57 10,000.00 9,000.00 9,000.00 9,000.00 9,000.00 9,000.00 9,000.00
     Proceeds from Bobcat Sale 26,257.00 17,500.00 17,850.00 18,207.00 18,571.14 18,942.56
     Ridge Buildings 20,762.00 20,762.00 20,762.00 20,762.00 8,160.00 - - -
     Additions (From Operating) 114,173.20 125,820.00 125,820.00 156,507.80 206,702.19 206,247.04 191,666.42 187,245.58
     Additions (Insurance Claim) 117,331.03
     Purchases -330,400.00 -65,000.00 -382,587.25 -61,862.50 -272,481.13 -63,105.94 -63,737.00 -64,374.37
Closing Balance 1,008,944.64 1,079,764.64 731,525.78 873,433.08 842,664.14 1,013,012.24 1,168,512.81 1,319,326.58


Capital Items/Projects
       Wheel Loader 270,400.00
        Skid Steer 60,000.00 65,000.00 61,250.00 61,862.50 62,481.13 63,105.94 63,737.00 64,374.37
        Semi Truck 321,337.25
        Semi Truck 210,000.00
        Packer (Loan) 700,000.00


Total Capital Purchases 330,400.00 65,000.00 382,587.25 761,862.50 272,481.13 63,105.94 63,737.00 64,374.37


Closure /Postclosure Fund
     Opening Balance 148,544.94 163,239.89 163,239.89 174,239.89 185,339.89 196,439.89 207,539.89 218,639.89
     Post Closure Reserve Interest 3,337.65 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,100.00 1,100.00 1,100.00 1,100.00 1,100.00
     Transfer to - Post Closure Reserve 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00
Closing Balance - Closure/ Post Closure 161,880.59 174,239.89 174,239.89 185,339.89 196,439.89 207,539.89 218,639.89 229,739.89


CHIEF MOUNTAIN REGIONAL SOLID WASTE SERVICES COMMISSION


2021 Approved Budget 


Appendix A







Ridge Bldgs Landfill Bldg


Trailer 
(Shuttle 


Van)


Landfill 
Perimeter 


Fence Wind fence Bull Fences Bull Fences Fuel Tank Bull Fences Trailer
Peterbilt 


Truck Bull Fences Bobcat Bull Fences


Track 
Loader 
Repairs


Cat Wheel 
Loader Bobcat Bobcat


Peterbilt 
Truck 


Packer 
(Loan)


Peterbilt 
Truck Yearly Total


Year Bought 1996 1996 2010 2012 2013 2014 2015 2015 2016 2016
Repairs 


2016 2017 2018 2018 2018 2019 2019 2020 2020 2021 2022
Term of 
Deprec. 25 yrs 25 yrs 10 yrs 10 years 10 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 5 yrs 10 yrs 10 yrs 5 years 10 yrs 2 yrs 10 yrs 5 yrs 15 yrs 2 yrs 2 yrs 10 yrs 20 yrs 10 yrs


Price 519,050      120,000      115,217      25,000         90,500         57,645         43,282         5,644           37,104         144,455      54,640         39,541         39,055         40,568         34,281         270,400      10,450         61,250         210,000      650,000      210,000       
15,545 sale 
of 2014


 
49,000 from 
Ins


2019 20,762         4,800           11,522         2,500           9,050           5,765           4,328           1,129           3,711           14,446         10,928         3,954           19,528         4,057           6,857           
2020 20,762         4,800           11,519         2,500           9,050           5,764           4,328           1,128           3,711           14,446         10,928         3,954           19,527         4,057           6,856           18,027         5,225           146,582            
2021 20,762         4,800           2,500           9,050           5,764           4,328           3,710           14,446         10,928         3,954           4,057           6,856           18,027         5,225           30,625         21,000         42,804         208,836            
2022 8,160           4,800           2,500           9,050           5,764           4,328           3,710           14,445         3,954           4,057           6,856           18,027         30,625         30,625         21,000         42,804         21,000         233,727            
2023 9,050           5,764           4,328           3,710           14,445         3,954           4,057           6,856           18,027         30,625         31,238         21,000         42,804         21,000         216,858            
2024 5,764           4,328           3,710           14,445         3,954           4,057           18,027         31,238         31,862         21,000         42,804         21,000         202,189            
2025 4,328           3,710           14,445         3,954           4,057           18,027         31,862         32,499         21,000         42,804         21,000         197,687            
2026 3,710           14,445         3,954           4,057           18,027         32,499         33,149         21,000         42,804         21,000         194,646            
2027 3,954           4,056           18,027         33,149         33,812         21,000         42,804         21,000         177,803            
2028 4,056           18,027         33,812         34,489         21,000         42,804         21,000         175,188            
2029 18,027         34,489         35,178         21,000         42,804         21,000         172,498            
2030 18,026         35,178         35,882         21,000         42,804         21,000         173,891            
2031 18,026         35,882         36,600         22,050         42,804         21,000         176,362            
2032 18,026         36,600         37,332         23,153         42,804         22,050         179,964            
2033 18,026         37,332         38,078         24,310         42,804         23,153         183,703            
2034 18,026         38,078         38,840         25,526         42,804         24,310         187,584            
2035 38,840         39,617         26,802         42,804         25,526         173,588            
2036 39,617         39,617         28,142         42,804         26,802         176,982            
2037 39,617         40,409         29,549         42,804         28,142         180,521            
2038 40,409         40,409         31,027         42,804         29,549         184,198            
2039 40,409         41,621         32,578         42,804         31,027         188,438            
2040 41,621         41,621         34,207         42,804         32,578         192,831            
2041 41,621         42,453         35,917         -                34,207         154,198            


519,050      120,000      115,217      10,000         90,500         57,645         43,282         5,644           37,104         144,455      54,640         39,541         39,055         40,568         34,281         270,400      530,277      519,827      331,840      856,080      305,038      


Chief Mountain Waste - Depreciation and Loan Schedule - Year to Date


Appendix B
Depreciation Schedule







Equipment and Machinery


Item Make Model COST Serial # Year
Life 


Expectancy
Years 


Remaining
Service 
History 


Loader 963C (Track) 600,000.00$           1996(?) 10 0
Caterpillar** Caterpillar 816F Packer 700,000.00$           2003 10 0
Caterpillar Caterpillar 938M (Wheel Loader) 270,400.00$           2019 10 13
Trailer TTC Walking Floor Trailer 140,000.00$           2017 20 17
Trailer Titan Walking Floor Trailer 140,000.00$           2020 20 20
Bobcat Bobcat T590 59,450.00$             ALJU31428-  2019 2019 2 1
Bobcat Bobcat T590 60,000.00$             ALJU3O684- 2019 2019 2 2
Semi Truck Peterbilt 367 180,000.00$           2020 10 10
Semi Truck Peterbilt 357 Day Cab 180,000.00$           2012 10 5
Quad Honda TRX500FM1K 13,000.00$             2019 15 13
Welder Bobcat Miller Welder 5,000.00$                 2019 15 13
Total 2,347,850.00$     


Vehicles 


Item Make Model Cost Serial # Year
Life 


Expectancy
Years 


Remaining
Service 
History


Truck Ford F250 30,000.00$             2016 10 5
Truck Ford Ranger R20X 20,000.00$             2007 10 0
Total 50,000.00$          


Year Cost Life Expectancy
Service 
History


2013 90,500.00$             10
2014 57,645.00$             10
2014 43,282.00$             10
2015 5,644.00$               5
2016 37,104.00$             10
2017 39,541.00$             10
2018 40,568.00$             10


314,284.00$        


Structures and Buildings


Year Cost Life Expectancy
Service 
History


1996 120,000.00$           25
1996 519,050.00$           25


639,050.00$        


3,351,184.00$        
835,705.00$           


Deficit 2,515,479.00-$        


** This item should be financed


0


Total


Land Improvements


Item  Years Remaining 


Wind Fence
Bull Fence
Bull Fence
Fuel Tank
Bull Fence
Bull Fence
Bull Fence


CHIEF MOUNTAIN CAPITAL ASSETS  REGISTER


Total


Total Required To Replace All Assets 
Total In Depreciation (August 2020) 


2
3
3
-1
5
6
7


Item Years Remaining


Landfill Office and Shop 0
Ridge Buildings


Appendix C







 


Appendix D 
Reporting and Accountability 


Appendix A, B and C will be updated yearly. Additionally, to ensure accountability, 
this appendix will list yearly priorities and progress made. 


2021 Priority Notes 2022 Priority Notes 


Tonnage: Explore Diversion 
Options 
Tonnage: C and D Waste 
Tonnage: Connect 
Provincial Recycling 
Agencies 
Regional Membership: 
Work with Blood Tribe 
Regional Membership: Find 
new members and explore 
Approved Landfill Business 
Case 
Safety Program 
Regionalization: Explore 
Efficiencies through 
Regionalization 







A.1 IMPLEMENT REGIONAL SERIVCES COMMISSION  FILE:
ENVSWM03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW


 
Appendix L1 - A.1 Implement Regional Services Commission 


Program: A.1 Implement Regional Commission Governance Regime


Scope: 
Establish a new governance model for the Chief Mountain Regional Solid Waste
Authority (CMRSWA) that provides clear accountability, more authority to direct
programs, access to debt financing and absolves Cardston County of landfill liability.


Sector: All 


Action Highlights: 
 Recommend directors for commission,
 Develop business plan
 Apply to provincial government for Regional Commission status


Action By: CMRSWA Board and Member Municipalities 


Program Description: 


A regional services commission is a legal entity set up by two or more municipalities, 
First Nations Reserves, Metis settlements or armed forces bases that provides 
regional services to clients within the members’ boundaries. It has a distinct legal 
status separate from member municipalities and as a result, can borrow and incur debt 
servicing costs, directly expropriate land, and assume liabilities. 
Commissions are established through regulation under Part 15.1 of the Municipal 
Government Act. As such, the Board is initially appointed by the Minister of Municipal 
Affairs (done through recommendations by the participating municipalities who submit 
the application). Directors must be elected officials from member municipalities. After 
the initial appointments, the Board determines its succession and future appointment 
procedures. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Commission’s financial and 
operational performance, and, as such, is responsible for all financial decisions. 
In this model, the regional commission will take control of all liability for the transfer 
stations. 
Applications are generally processes within 4-9 months and are completed based on a 
submitted business plan. 


Pre-requisite: None 


Time Frame: Submit first or second quarter of 2015 with estimated approval third quarter 


Importance to Success of Plan 
Goals: Will give the authority more power over diversion programs in the region 


Benefits: 


 Gives the region formal leadership on waste management issues
 Provides cost savings to the region
 Provides CMRSWA legislative authority to create and implement bylaws and


waste management programs,
 Allows the CMRSWA to take on debt
 Separates landfill liability from Cardston County and regional end-users
 Clear accountability for its mandate


Resource Requirements: 
Capital - $5,000 
Operational – None 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: Regional Services Commission Status provided by Provincial Government 


Roles and Responsibilities: 
Municipalities would need to select their directors for the commission, and the board 
would need to get together to develop a business plan to submit to the Provincial 
Government. 


Appendix E







 A.2 REVISED ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE FILE: 
ENVSWM03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


1 


Appendix	L2	‐	Program	A.2	Revised	Organizational	Structure	


Program: A.2 Implement Revised Organizational Structure
Scope: Hire new staff and adjust position profiles as necessary to implement a more efficient


and effective organizational structure


Sector: All 


Action Highlights: 
Create revised job descriptions for operator, assistant operator and secretary/ 
treasurer, and create new solid waste manager and communications/outreach co-
ordinator positions. 


Action By: CMRSWA Board  


Program Description: 


In the recommended organizational structure, the solid waste management system 
would be overseen by a solid waste manager reporting directly to the board who would 
be responsible for implementing and delegating all new programs and policies as well 
as overseeing the system as a whole.  
A part-time communications/outreach co-ordinator would also be necessary in order to 
develop and distribute promotional materials as well as help in the implementation and 
communication of diversion programs. The communications/outreach co-ordinator 
would report to the solid waste manager. 
The operator job position would be re-written to shift the focus from management to 
operations and could involve more hands-on tasks such as waste transportation.  The 
operator would report to the solid waste manager. 
The secretary/treasurer position would remain largely unchanged but would report to 
the solid waste manager. If desired, the secretary/treasurer could also be the 
communications/outreach co-ordinator which would create one full time position 
instead of two part-time positions. 
The assistant operators would report to the operator and could eventually be only one 
full time position once the operator’s time is freed up by less management tasks. 


Pre-requisite: A.1


Time Frame: Initiate hiring process third quarter of 2015 and aim to hire staff by 1st quarter of 2016 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: Will give the authority more power over diversion programs in the region 


Benefits: 


 A solid waste manager with solid waste and  project/personnel management
experience would provide improved guidance and accountability to regional solid
waste operations


 A communications/outreach co-ordinator would allow for successful creation and
implementation of diversion programs


 Revising operator and assistant operator positions would capitalize on existing
strengths and provide more on-the-ground support.


Resource Requirements: 
Capital - $10,000 
Operational - $80,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: New hires pass probation period 


Roles and Responsibilities: 
The CMRSWA board would need to meet to develop new job descriptions and appoint 
an interim solid waste manager. Interim manager would need to put out job postings, 
interview, hire and orient new hires. 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


1 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: A.3 Standard Service Levels
Scope: Develop minimum service levels for all services provided by the CMRSWA


Sector: All 


Action Highlights: 
 Discuss and develop service levels required at each Transfer Station
 Incorporate into transfer station conceptual design


Action By: CMRSWA Staff with input from board 


Program Description: 


CMRSWA staff should consult with municipalities and review records to see which 
services should be available at all locations and to what standard each should operate. 
Necessary measures would then be taken to ensure a minimum service level is 
achieved at each during conceptual design 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: 
Investigate and consult with municipalities 1st quarter 2016, incorporate standard 
service levels into transfer station conceptual design. Running in parallel with transfer 
station conceptual design. 


Importance to Success of Plan 
Goals: Will help to achieve user satisfaction and consistency across the system 


Benefits: 
 Minimize resident complaints
 Maximize operational efficiency by having the same infrastructure at each transfer


station


Resource Requirements: 
Capital - $20,000 
Operational - None 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: Similar diversion rates at each transfer station  


Roles and Responsibilities: 


The solid waste manager should develop service levels and create implementation 
plan.  
The communications and outreach co-ordinate should engage the public and 
municipalities to obtain service level feedback. 
The operator should provide operational input on transfer stations and make 
necessary changes to implement standard service levels. 







– A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


2 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: B.1 Material Disposal Ban
Scope: Establish a list of materials that are banned from disposal to disallow certain material


types from reaching the landfill and encourage diversion


Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Develop disposal ban
 Inform the public
 Roll out ban


Action By: CMRSWA Staff 


Program Description: Following roll-out of diversion programs for recycling and yard waste, CMRSWA staff 
would develop an associated list of items banned from disposal to discourage 
landfilling of these items and increase diversion. Once the list is developed, the public 
needs to be engaged and informed prior to officially rolling out the ban. A penalty 
structure will also need to be created.  


Pre-requisite: C1, C2 


Time Frame: Initiate first stages of ban 1st quarter of 2019 with full rollout by 3rd quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Will increase diversion rates 


Benefits:  Lower landfill disposal cost
 Increased diversion


Resource Requirements: Capital - $15,000
Operational - None


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Composition of recycled items in landfill waste


Roles and Responsibilities: The communications and outreach co-ordinate should engage the public and 
municipalities to distribute information. 
The solid waste manager should take the lead in developing which materials to ban 
and how to structure fees and implement program. 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


3 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: B.2 Landfill Standards Assessment
Scope: Conduct a landfill assessment to determine deficiencies with respect to Alberta Landfill


Standards and assess resource requirements for full compliance


Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Prepare RFP
 Select consultant to carry out independent assessment


Action By: External Consultant managed by CMRSWA Solid Waste Manager


Program Description: The CMRSWA would retain an external consultant to review landfill operations as 
compared to Alberta Environment standards and prepare a cost estimate to upgrade 
landfill to full regulatory compliance. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Put out RFP for services 1st quarter of 2016 and aim to have project completed by 3rd 
quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Proactive step toward sustainable landfill management 


Benefits:  CMRSWA learns what is needed to upgrade landfill to Environmental Standards
 Costs available for budgeting purposes


Resource Requirements: Capital - $100,000 
Operational - None 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Landfill Monitoring Results 


Roles and Responsibilities: Solid Waste Manager to prepare RFP, review proposals, select consultants, attend 
meeting and manage project. 







 A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


4 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: C.1 Expanded Recycling
Scope: Expand recycling drop off facilities at transfer stations providing "one-stop shop"


services for more material types.
Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Prepare RFP for recycling contract
 Select hauler or organization to carry out recycling contract


Action By: CMRSWA Staff and Hauling Contractors 


Program Description: The CMRSWA would prepare contract documents for its recycling contract, including 
pick up from all transfer stations as determined by conceptual design.  A hauler 
would then be selected. Bins would likely be provided by the hauler. Tetra Tech 
EBA suggests using horse trailers as a simple and convenient way to deposit and 
transport recyclables. 


Pre-requisite: D3 


Time Frame: Initiate contract negotiations 3rd quarter of 2016. Aim to have service fully established 
by 3rd quarter of 2017. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Important step towards waste diversion targets. 


Benefits:  Removal of recyclables from the waste stream
 Sustainability


Resource Requirements: Capital - $80,000 
Operating - $100,000/year contract 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Waste Composition and Diversion Rate  


Roles and Responsibilities: CMRSWA Board to provide input to Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to 
set up contract 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


5 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: C.2 Yard Waste Drop-Off


Scope: Provide yard waste drop-off areas at transfer stations for organics processing. 


Sector: Residential  


Action Highlights:  Prepare RFP for yard-waste pick-up contract
 Select hauler or organization to carry out recycling contract
 Distribute promotional materials


Action By: CMRSWA Staff and Hauling Contractors 


Program Description: The CMRSWA would prepare contract documents for the yard waste pick-up 
contract, including pick up from all transfer stations as determined by conceptual 
design. Tetra Tech recommends a lock block system at each transfer station. A 
hauler would then be selected and information distributed to the public. 


Pre-requisite: D3 


Time Frame: Initiate contract negotiations 3rd quarter of 2016. Aim to have service fully established 
by 3rd quarter of 2017. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Important step towards waste diversion targets. 


Benefits:  Removal of yard-waste from the waste stream
 Sustainability


Resource Requirements: Capital - $50,000 
Operational - $100,000/year Contract 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Waste Composition and Diversion Rate  


Roles and Responsibilities: Solid Waste Manager with help from Secretary/Treasurer to prepare and issue 
contract documents 


Operator and Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to provide input 
Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to create and distribute promotional 


material 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


6 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: C.3 Free Store System


Scope: Develop a free store system at transfer stations to accommodate re-use of discarded 
materials 


Sector: Residential  


Action Highlights:  Determine management structure for program (could potentially be volunteer run)
 Distribute information to public
 Set up free store system at select or all transfer stations


Action By: CMRSWA Staff 


Program Description: A free store system would reduce the need for residents to travel long distances to 
dispose of reusable products and provide residents with a convenient way to 
reduce their waste while promoting community spirit and reducing costs. 
Conceptual transfer station design will identify the best locations for these 
systems at some or select transfer stations.   Tetra Tech EBA recommends a 
shipping container based system that can easily be locked to discourage misuse 
of system. 


Pre-requisite: D3 


Time Frame: Conduct pilot study 3rd quarter of 2016 and full roll-out by 3rd quarter 2017. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Helps to reduce bulky objects 


Benefits:  Ease of use for residents
 Fosters community spirit


Resource Requirements: Capital - $80,000 
Operating - $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Participation Rates and Resident Satisfaction  


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to create and distribute promotional 
material, run pilot study and obtain volunteers to run program 







 A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


7 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: C.4 Material Recovery Plans


Scope: Create a requirement for all large developments to create a material recovery plan 
outlining how waste from construction, renovation and demolition projects would be 
managed and diverted. 


Sector: IC&I 


Action Highlights:  Develop example material recovery plan
 Determine what will be done with diverted C&D Material
 Enact bylaw requiring material recovery plans


Action By: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator  


Program Description: A Material Recovery Plan is a plan that outlines how waste from construction and 
demolition projects would be managed and diverted from disposal.  These plans 
are typically prepared prior to initiating projects that exceed a certain value.    


Pre-requisite: E2 


Time Frame: Soft roll-out of requirements 3rd quarter of 2017, formalize as bylaw by end of 1st 
quarter 2018. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Helps to divert C&D waste 


Benefits:  Helps contractors understand types of material generated from C&D projects
 Increases awareness of C&D waste diversion options and processes
 Promotes waste diversion on a regional level


Resource Requirements: Capital - $30,000 
Operating - $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Percentage composition of C&D in waste stream  


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to develop plan with input from solid 
waste manager, to distribute communications material and help develop by-law 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


8 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: D.1 Depreciation Assessment


Scope: Undertake a depreciation assessment of solid waste infrastructure and develop a 
strategy for sustainable management of facilities. 


Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Hire external consultant to perform assessment
 Review results and develop strategy


Action By: Solid Waste Manager/Secretary Treasurer and External Consultant  


Program Description: A depreciation assessment would determine the lifespan remaining of solid waste 
infrastructure and help to develop a plan on which items need to be replaced and 
which items lifespan can be extended through management practices.  It will also 
help in developing a financial plan for coming years. Can be run concurrently with 
transfer station conceptual design to maximize financial benefit. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Submit RFP 3rd quarter of 2016 and aim to have completed by 2017. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Sustainable Infrastructure Management 


Benefits:  Cost savings
 Identifies upgrades that may improve efficiency


Resource Requirements: Capital : $150,000 
Operating: None 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Cost Savings  


Roles and Responsibilities: Solid Waste Manager to develop RFP and select and manage consultant, 
Secretary/Treasurer to record all relevant cost information. 







 A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


9 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: D.2 Transfer System Optimization


Scope: Consider transfer station building age and alternative compaction system to reduce 
transportation costs, reduce litter and improve efficiency. 


Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Research and choose compaction system
 Create a list of other recommended transfer station improvements
 Prepare contract documents and award contract for installation
 Run pilot at one transfer station (if applicable)
 Implement at all transfer stations


Action By: Solid Waste Manager and Operator 


Program Description: Review alternatives such as backhoe compaction, compaction trucks and transtor 
bins to improve collection and transportation efficiency, considering future trends 
in waste transport to ensure facilities are designed to address the changes.  
Consider improving security and providing an office at each facility for the 
supervisor.    


Pre-requisite: D3 


Time Frame: Submit RFP 3rd quarter of 2017, aim to have construction and purchases happen by 
1st quarter of 2018 with completion by 3rd quarter. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Increase system efficiency 


Benefits:  Potential cost savings of $200,000 for waste transport
 Increased security at transfer stations
 Decreased litter


Resource Requirements: Capital: $50,000/year 
Operating: $0 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Waste Volume and Miles Travelled 


Roles and Responsibilities: Solid Waste Manager and Operator to work together to choose compaction system, 
recommend improvements, select contractor and oversee project construction 
and implementation 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


10 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: D.3 Transfer System Diversion Conceptual Design


Scope: Develop a one-stop shop conceptual design and comprehensive strategy to implement 
expanded diversion opportunities at the Transfer Stations. 


Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Discuss and decide upon all elements to be included in design
 Prepare Conceptual Design


Action By: CMRSWA Staff 


Program Description: Create a design of how to set up yard waste, organics and free store diversion at 
transfer stations.  Can be run concurrently with depreciation assessment to 
maximize financial benefit. To serve as a template for diversion logistics. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Initiate 1st quarter of 2016, finalize by 3rd quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Plan for Diversion Program Implementation 


Benefits:  Helps to successfully implement diversion programs
 Helps to standardize service levels
 During process will be able to brainstorm challenges and potential solutions


Resource Requirements: Capital: $20,000 
Operating: $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


% Waste Diversion once Implemented 


Roles and Responsibilities: To be led by Solid Waste Manager with input from the CMRSWA Board. 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


11 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: E.1 Disaster Debris Response Plan
Scope: Develop a plan to deal with debris generated during disasters to minimize the impact


on the landfill threshold. This can involve disposal of C&D waste at other facilities
during disaster events and include ways to marshal equipment and sort out recyclable
materials.


Sector: C&D 


Action Highlights:  Discuss and decide upon all elements to be included in plan
 Prepare Plan


Action By: CMRSWA Staff 


Program Description: The Disaster Debris Response Plan would identify the most likely disaster scenarios 
to estimate material quantities and provide responses and alternatives.  This will 
usually be tied to an Emergency Plan. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Complete draft plan and stakeholder input in 1st quarter of 2016, finalize and have 
management options in place by 3rd quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Plan for continued waste management excellence during disaster event 


Benefits:  Ensures landfill threshold not met during disaster
 Waste Management can be carried out during disaster without additional


organization


Resource Requirements: Capital: $30,000 
Operating: N/A 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Landfill Tonneage during Disaster Event 


Roles and Responsibilities: Solid Waste Manager to develop plan in partnership with CMRSWA board. 







 A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


12 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: E.2 C&D Diversion Brochure
Scope: Include an approved C&D disposal and recycling facilities brochure in all CMRSWA


member municipality building and demolition permit packages.
Sector: C&D 


Action Highlights:  Design Brochure
 Distribute


Action By: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator 


Program Description: C&D Disposal and recycling brochure will help to encourage better management of 
the region’s C&D waste. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Create brochure 1st quarter 2016, distribute 2nd quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Helps to get residents thinking about diversion 


Benefits:  Potential C&D Reduction
 Increased public education


Resource Requirements: Capital: $5,000 
Operating: $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


% C&D waste in overall waste composition 


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to create and distribute brochure 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


13 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: F.1 Standardized Signage
Scope: Prepare signage specifications to standardize messaging and maximize ease-of-use


for the public
Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Create list of terminology
 Create template styles
 Implement on existing and new signage


Action By: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator 


Program Description: Standard terminology, colours and templates should be chosen to ensure good 
communication of recycling choices for use everywhere within the service area. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Develop standardized signage and language by 4th quarter 2017 and ensure 
compliance by 1st quarter 2017 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Better public ease-of-use 


Benefits:  Overall consistency
 User satisfaction and understanding


Resource Requirements: Capital: $5,000 
Operating: $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


User Satisfaction via surveys 


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to lead discussions and decide on 
signage to use 







 A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


14 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: F.2 CMRSWA Facility Map
Scope: Prepare a map that identifies all waste and recycling facilities in the CMRSWA service


area for staff and public use
Sector: All 


Action Highlights:  Identify all facilities
 Upload to GIS format
 Create map


Action By: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator 


Program Description: An interactive GIS map would be helpful for both the public and for staff to identify 
status of each facility. 


Pre-requisite: D3 


Time Frame: Data gathering starting in 1st quarter 2017, full graphic realization and GIS 
functionality by 4th quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Better public ease-of-use 


Benefits:  Useful tool for public
 Useful tool for staff


Resource Requirements: Capital: $10,000 
Operating: $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


Website hits 


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to gather data and prepare map. 
External GIS expertise may be needed. 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


15 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: F.3 Grass-Cycling Resource
Scope: Develop an information resource to educate the public on how to use mulching


mowers and composters to deal with grass clippings on site.
Sector: Residential 


Action Highlights:  Design Brochure
 Distribute


Action By: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator 


Program Description: This resource would educate the public on how to use mulching mowers and 
composters to deal with grass-clippings on site without having detrimental effects 
on the lawn.  People may not be aware of the money they can save by keeping 
grass clippings on the lawn. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Create material 2nd quarter 2016, distribute 3rd quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: 


Helps to get residents thinking about diversion 


Benefits:  Potential Yard Waste Reduction
 Increased public education


Resource Requirements: Capital: $5,000 
Operating: $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: 


% Yard Waste in Waste Stream 


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to create and distribute materials 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES 
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


16 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: F.4 Backyard Composting Promotional Material
Scope: Prepare backyard composter promotion material to promote organic waste reduction


with a resident's property.


Sector: Residential 


Action Highlights: 
 Design Materials
 Distribute


Action By: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator 


Program Description: Promote reducing waste within a resident’s property to avoid transportation costs and 
obtain usable soil amendment for gardening. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Create material 3rd quarter 2016, distribute 4th quarter 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: Helps to get residents thinking about diversion 


Benefits:  Potential Yard Waste Reduction
 Increased public education


Resource Requirements: Capital: $5,000 
Operating: $5,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: % Yard Waste in Waste Stream 


Roles and Responsibilities: Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to create and distribute materials 







A.3 PROGRAM AND POLICES
FILE: ENVSMW03123-01 | FEBRUARY 2015 | ISSUED FOR REVIEW 


Appendix	L3	‐	Program	and	Policies	


Program: G.1 Develop Annual Reporting Structure


Scope: 
Create a framework for annual monitoring and tracking including operating standards
for infrastructure, waste composition audits, pilot projects, internal checklists, a
monthly tracking system and periodic technology reviews.


Sector: All 


Action Highlights: 
 Develop Framework
 Decide how items will be tracked
 Implement


Action By: Solid Waste Manager/Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator 


Program Description: 
The CMRSWA will prepare an annual reporting detailing progress toward their goals 


and various status updates on operating standards, waste composition, pilot 
projects and technology reviews. 


Pre-requisite: A2 


Time Frame: Initiate discussions on framework beginning of 2016, have in place by 2017. 


Importance to Success of 
Plan Goals: Accountability 


Benefits: 
 Provides results of efforts
 Allows on-going goal setting


Resource Requirements: 
Capital: $15,000 
Operating: $15,000/year 


Performance Measurement 
Metrics: N/A 


Roles and Responsibilities: Solid Waste Manager and Communications and Outreach Co-ordinator to lead 
development and implementation 


17





		Vision, Mission Statement and Values

		CMRSWSC Budget 2021 Muni Copy (Business Plan).pdf

		2021 Draft Budget



		Appendix B.pdf

		Depreciation and Loan Schedule



		Appendix C.pdf

		Capital Asset Register












 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
February 1, 2021 
 
 
 
VIA E-MAIL: mayor@lethbridge.ca 
 
Office of the Mayor, 
The City of Lethbridge 
2nd Floor, City Hall 
910 – 4th Avenue South 
Lethbridge, AB  T1J 0P6  
 
Attention: Mayor Chris Spearman 
 
Dear Your Worship: 
 
RE:  Reinstatement of the 1976 Coal Development Policy 
 
In June of 2020, the Government of Alberta rescinded the Coal Development Policy (Coal Policy) 
without adequate consultation with First Nations, environmental groups, residents, property owners 
and local governments.  This policy was originally developed with the intended purpose to guide coal 
extraction along the eastern slopes of the Rockies based upon a land use classification system and 
dictated where and how coal leasing, exploration and development could occur. 
 
The Coal Policy introduced in 1976, guided coal extraction in one of the most important landscapes 
in Alberta and Canada.  The Eastern Slopes provides water to users from the Rockies to the Hudson 
Bay.   For 44 years, the policy provided essential protection of valuable water resources, ensuring 
downstream communities had access to clean drinking water, that farmers had access to irrigation 
water to protect their livelihoods and that ecosystems that tourists come to experience remained in 
their pristine state.   
 
The rescindment of any policy that affects public lands and/or water resources, requires public 
consultation with First Nations, environmental groups, residents of Alberta, property owners and 
local municipalities.  Without that consultation, our democratic processes are undermined. 
 
In response to the Government of Alberta’s action, the Town of High River’s Council adopted the 
following resolution at its Regular Meeting of Council on January 11, 2021: 
 


BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council direct Administration to draft a letter to Premier Jason 
Kenney, requesting the immediate reinstatement of the 1976 Alberta Coal Policy which 
was rescinded on June 1, 2020;  


OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 



mailto:mayor@lethbridge.ca





 
AND THAT the letter requests that the Government of Alberta begin public consultation 
with Indigenous groups, environmental groups and all stakeholders in Alberta on any 
proposed revisions or replacement to this policy; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT this letter be sent to the Minister of Environment & Parks 
Honorable Jason Nixon, Minister of Energy Honourable Sonya Savage as well as the 
MLA for Livingstone-Macleod Roger Reid. 


 
This letter was sent to the Premier and Ministers on January 12, 2021 and a meeting has been 
requested with the Premier.  To date, the Town of High River has neither received a response to our 
letter nor a meeting with the Premier.   
 
Other local governments, public officials and Albertans have called upon the Government of Alberta 
to reinstate the Coal Policy.  In response, the Government of Alberta has cancelled some of the coal 
leases but this is not adequate in order to protect water resources for downstream communities, 
such as High River.  
 
Therefore, at the February 1, 2021 Special Meeting of Council, the following resolution was adopted: 
 


WHEREAS Council adopted resolution #RC 14 -2021 requesting the Province of Alberta 
immediately re-instate the 1976 Coal Development Policy; 
 
AND WHEREAS coal exploration and open pit mining will impact water resources for 
downstream communities affecting businesses, residents, ranchers, farmers and 
ecosystems; 
 
AND WHEREAS coal exploration is causing irreparable damage to the landscapes and 
watersheds as well as adversely affecting the public’s access, use and enjoyment of 
Crown lands on the Eastern Slopes of Alberta; 
 
AND WHEREAS  local First Nations groups, municipalities, landowners and ranchers are 
legally challenging the Province’s rescindment of the 1976 Coal Policy in the Courts; 
 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council request all coal exploration be immediately ceased on 
the Eastern Slopes of Alberta and cease issuance of any new exploration permits on the 
Eastern Slopes of Alberta until public consultation has taken place regarding the future 
of coal mining on the Eastern Slopes of Alberta; 
 
AND THAT Council request the Government of Alberta & Premier Jason Kenney issue an 
immediate stop work order for all existing coal exploration permits on the Eastern 
Slopes of Alberta and cease issuance of any new exploration permits on the Eastern 
Slopes of Alberta until public consultation has taken place regarding the future of coal 
mining on the Eastern Slopes of Alberta; 
 
AND THAT Council direct Administration to investigate legal options relating to the 
damage caused due to exploration on Alberta’s Eastern Slopes.  
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council direct Administration to prepare a letter with a copy of this 
resolution to all members of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities, Alberta Urban 
Municipalities Association, Rural Municipalities of Alberta, Municipalities of 
Saskatchewan, Saskatchewan Association of Rural Municipalities and Association of 
Manitoba Municipalities requesting their support to re-instate the 1976 Coal 
Development Policy. 


 







In light of this resolution, the Town of High River is respectfully requesting that you consider drafting 
a letter of support to the Government of Alberta for the immediate Exploration Stop Work Order as 
well as the reinstatement of the Coal Policy.    
 
Thank you for considering our request, 
 
Sincerely,  
 


 
 
Craig Snodgrass 
Mayor 
 
CS/cp/kr 
 
 








MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD FEBRUARY 4, 
2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING  
 
Board Members Present:    
Gerry Selk – Town of Cardston      Tim Court – Town of Cardston       
Tom Nish – Cardston County     Don Shideler – Village of Hill Spring    
              
Others Present:  
Danny Melvin – Fire Chief        Suzanne Pierson – Secretary/Treasurer                              
    
Commenced at 5:04 p.m.  
  
Gerry Selk in the chair.                                                              
  
Opening Prayer: Don Shideler 
  
AGENDA  
  
Tim Court moved to approve the agenda.                     Carried  
  
MINUTES  


The minutes of the January 7, 2021, meeting was discussed.    


Don Shideler moved to accept the minutes of the January 7, 2021 meeting.             Carried  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
Danny Melvin reported that the January Emergency Services statistics are as follows: 3 False Alarms, 2 
MFC’s, 2 MFR’s, and 5 Miscellaneous (smoke or CO alarms). 
 
Danny Melvin advised that five Fire Officers went for a walk through of Simplot last Thursday. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that the new command vehicle is here and waiting for decals to be installed next 
Wednesday. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that a pump operations course will be held in Magrath with the cost being covered by 
grant funding.  Two fire fighters will take the training in Magrath and then teach the rest of the Authorities 
fire fighters. 
 
Danny Melvin reported that Mark Murphy, Consultant, has been hired by the Cardston County to evaluate 
and gather information regarding the County’s existing emergency plan.  Danny will continue to work with 
Mark to gather the proper information regarding the Authority. 
 







MINUTES CCES MEETING FEBRUARY 4, 2021 
 


2 
 


Danny Melvin advised that the phone line in the Glenwood Fire Hall has been cut and Wi-Fi installed 
instead.  The Authority has had to purchase equipment to receive the Wi-Fi messages.  
 
Danny Melvin reported that the Village of Glenwood is aware of the need to replace the fire equipment and 
they are working on budgeting for this expense. 
 
Danny Melvin advised that he is looking at a new web-based scheduling program for Waterton as the 
existing program keeps going up in price. 
 
Tom Nish moved to approve Danny Melvin’s report.                      Carried  
 
The board discussed the Fire Hall expansion and Gerry Selk will inquire with Jeff Shaw, CEO of Town of 
Cardston, as to where the project stands. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  


Tim Court moved to adjourn.                     Carried  


Adjournment at 5:18 p.m. 


Next board meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 4, 2021 at 5:00 p.m. at the Cardston County 
Emergency Services Building.    


  


              
Chairman   





		MINUTES OF THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY MEETING HELD FEBRUARY 4, 2021 AT THE CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY BUILDING

		MINUTES

		NEW BUSINESS

		ADJOURNMENT






Craig Snodgrass – Mayor of High River. 


February 5, 2021 – Mayor’s and Reeves Presentation on Coal Development 


Thank you for having me attend to present on the Town of High River’s motion 


requests to Premier Jason Kenney and the GOA. In brief the asks are: 


1. Stop Work Order on all existing exploration permits within the Eastern 


Slopes and cease issuance of new permits 


2. Reinstate the Coal Policy and begin extensive public consultation on any 


revisions or replacements to this policy & ask Albertans how they see the 


future of coal mining in Alberta. 


We have sent 1800 letters to all municipalities in Alberta, Saskatchewan and 


Manitoba asking for their support. I am asking those of you today to please 


discuss this request with your councils. 


A brief clarification on how High River got here and why everything has blown up 


in the last month.  


As well, a few points for all of you to think about as we are all involved with and 


understand how important regulations and processes are with development in 


our communities. As elected officials what is happening now is troubling beyond 


the physical mine. 


1. In High River we did not know about any of this including Grassy.  Grassy is 


not our fight. I clarified this a few weeks ago with Mayor Blair Painter of the 


Crowsnest Pass. It is a legally processed application and moving forward 


through the proper processes. Although Grassy and some of the other 


projects were in the works during the last election not one party including 


the NDP spoke about these open pit mining projects. In fact NDP was 


closing down coal fired power generation while at the same time 


continuing on without challenge an open-pit metallurgical coal mine. 


Confusing but I guess they had their reasons. 


 


The Coal Debate is not a partisan issue. 


 


The UCP did not tell us during the last election that they were going to open 


our province to open-pit coal mining on our Eastern Slopes as part of their 







Red Tape Reduction Plan or their Alberta Is Open For Business Plan. Not 


only did we not know about their plan but either did our MLA Roger Reid. 


From my discussions with Roger I believe he was kept in the dark as well 


regarding the removal of the policy – even though the majority of the issue 


is in his riding.  This is problematic from the start. 


 


2. With the removal of the coal policy it has opened up Category 2 lands to 


open-pit mining which puts our water supply, the Highwood River at risk. 


Not to mention the overall negative consequences associated with open-


pit, surface, strip & mountain top removal mining techniques and their 


direct destruction of landscapes and contamination of our headwaters. 


 


To clarify – even with the policy in place, open-pit mining in category 2 was 


possible but not without going through an extensive, cabinet approved 


application / review process to grant exemption.  The policy Categories 


however were the key component that defined Where and How you could 


mine coal in our Province – this no longer exists in any legislation – this is 


the key criteria that provided clarity from the start and this has been 


removed. This is what the industry hated and wanted removed and Premier 


Kenney granted their wish under his “Red Tape Reduction Plan”. The 


removal of the categories is what has created the major problem as 


confirmed by Minister Savage at our meeting yesterday.  


 


3. The mining discussion is a very complicated issue with all that is involved. 


SSRP, Water Licensing and allocation plans, Freehold minerals, Crown Land 


and the 234 different acts that are involved, the list goes on.  


 


The Government of Alberta and the MLA’s in this meeting today have all 


been telling us to Trust the Process and the new legislation that has been 


put in place over the past 44 years is now more stringent. I do believe and 


trust that the environmental rules are more stringent in new legislation 


such as the Water Act. Currently I can trust written process and legislation.  


What I cannot trust right now are the human beings involved. From Robin 


Campbell (former ENV Min. now Pres of CAC) to our Premier Jason Kenney, 


to John Weisenberger (former campaign manager & now VP at AER) to the 







Federal Environment Minister Mr. Johnathan Wilkinson (former CEO of 


BioTeq Env. that built water treatment plants … for coal mines). Again this 


is not a partisan issue. I have no trust in the humans involved to ensure any 


process is carried out honestly. There is no separation between 


government and industry. No MLA in Alberta should be supportive of this 


as good honest governance.  


 


I have been through every ounce of legislation and land use plan over the 


past month and I am here to tell you that there is no actual process in the 


initial startup stages of a mine - what little process may be in place is 


insufficient to protect Alberta.  98% of this legislation deals with a mining 


operation once it has been approved and approval is easier than ever 


through the AER.  Last summer the AER was granting same day or over the 


weekend approvals without disclosure to affected parties for the 


exploration activities that are active now. 


 


Although the Government is telling us to Trust the Process, I have asked 


them what the process is and they have yet to provide me any information 


on the process.  Why? – because there is no process and our UCP MLA’s in 


this meeting today need to understand and challenge this rather than 


towing the party line. 


 


4. Red Tape Reduction – They chose this title for a reason as it is easy for 


everyone to buy into as we all try and reduce Red Tape on a daily basis. 


True red tape deals with pain in the butt processes that as Municipalities 


we all strive to eliminate or improve on. An example might be improving 


the business licensing process or how you get a backyard chicken permit. 


To Premier Kenney and everyone in this Government – Red Tape Reduction 


means Deregulation. Regulations protect us from ourselves as human 


beings as many people can get caught up in the desire for more and they 


will screw over and take out anyone in their path of greed. The current 


Government has done exactly this … it is documented in sworn testimony 


regarding the current lawsuit that the government knew that public 


consultation would be problematic which is why they chose not to do it. 


They consciously and purposely hid this from Albertans by not having public 







consultation regarding the removal of the Coal Policy and they are now 


taking out our physical landscapes in their desire to appease the coal 


industry in their quest for more and more. The Red Tape Reduction desire is 


what was used to eliminate the Coal Policy and has created the Coal Mining 


debacle. I mentioned this to Minister Savage yesterday and she agreed that 


some of this has gone too far, in her words “we deserve the mistrust”. The 


GOA has demanded that all of us as elected officials in our municipalities 


show them how we are reducing Red Tape. They have threatened us with 


reductions in grants if we don’t. As Mayor’s and Reeves we need to revisit 


this request and question what they are truly asking for. 


 


5. In Closing – this started with Grassy Mountain, but because this project did 


not affect our watershed in High River, like most communities north of the 


Oldman - we didn’t know about it, therefore didn’t speak about it, not our 


concern. Grassy is not our fight, if we wanted it we’re about 5 years too 


late. Grassy would have likely cruised to an active mine without issue – until 


Government greed wanted more and more and they made a drastic 


mistake by removing the Coal Policy. Now the public eyes are on Grassy as 


well. 


 


When the government removed the Coal Development Policy we found out 


what was going on and it woke everyone up as we are now all effected 


along the Eastern Slopes. We are now educated on the subject and the 


dangers associated with Open-Pit Coal Mining and we will not allow it to 


happen, this is our Province not the Governments. If the waters that 


provide everything we have today in our municipalities are effected, all of 


our existing industry, businesses and residents will pay the price. Open Pit 


Coal Mining is not worth the risks to everyone else – this is not hypothetical 


– it is reality when you look at the direct environmental track record of 


open pit coal mining from Sparwood to Grande Cache.  In Southern Alberta 


the effects to our whole agricultural industry and the support and spin off 


businesses such as sugar plants, meat processing plants and potato chip 


plants are directly affected. 


 


Let me be clear to the MLA’s in the room.  The public is very clear now on 







the issue and they do not want open-pit, surface, strip or mountain top 


removal mining on the Eastern Slopes. At the end of the day, anything less 


than an outright ban on these techniques will be unacceptable. The value of 


the Rockies and Foothills of Alberta is far greater than anything monetary. 


To the Mayors and Reeves - please support our resolutions to Premier Kenney so 


that we can take a breath and begin to work together on the future of coal mining 


on our Eastern Slopes. 


 


Thank you and I’m happy to take any questions. 








 


 
1.0 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 


 Reeve Lorne Hickey called the meeting to order at 1:03 pm. 
   
 
2.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 Moved by Mayor Ed Weistra - Carried 
 
3.0 ADDITIONS TO / APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 
 Correction of the word Premier - Mayor Maryanne Sandberg 
 Moved to adopt as corrected - Carried 
 
4.0 BUSINESS ITEMS ARISING FROM MINUTES 
  
5.0 MP AND MLA UPDATES 
 


  5.1 MP Reports – No report 
 
5.2   MLA Reports –  


 
Grant Hunter 


• Discussed Bill 48 – Introduces changes to municipal planning and development  


• Discussed Bill 204 – Blood donation repeal act 


• Discussed Bill 206 – restore property rights and full compensation for expropriated 
land. 


• Would like to reassure Mayors and Reeves that parks are not for sale and will not be 
closing. 
 


6.0      REPORTS 


6.1 Alberta Southwest Regional Alliance Report – Mayor Blair Painter 


• Please see electronic report. 


• Barney Reeves has been re-elected as the Chair person for Alberta SW 


 


6.2 SouthGrow – Mayor Jim Willett 


• Please see electronic report. 


• Discussed broadband – the region is making good progress; many communities now 
have high-speed broadband service – SouthGrow can assist you if your community 
is working on getting broadband services, Milk River Cable is experimenting with 
over the air broadband that is looking very promising. 


• Currently collecting scholarship applications for agri-food, should you know of 
someone interested please send them to SouthGrow. 


• Discussed meeting with Minister Schweitzer regarding REDA’s. 


 


 


 


 


 


MINUTES 
Friday, December 4, 2020 
Virtual Meeting via Zoom 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 2  


October 4, 2019 Minutes 


 6.3 RMA – Reeve Jason Schneider 


• Discussed the frustration around data in regards to Covid-19 numbers.  Smaller areas 
are getting lumped into larger areas making it difficult to get accurate numbers. 


• Discussed oil and gas assessment changes. $173 million in unpaid oil and gas 
property taxes.  Will continue to work with the government to rectify that problem. 


• Discussed the police advisory board.  Working to develop a board that will properly 
represent everyone in the province. 


 


           6.4    AUMA – Mayor Barry Morishita 


• Discussed AUMA’s disappointment with Bill 45. 


• Discussed MSI and possible cuts of up to 30%. 


• Discussed the police advisory board. 


• Discussed the Future of Municipal Government, Alberta based study to look at the 
future of Municipal Government, will be a longer study of 12-18 months. 


 


6.5 Oldman Watershed Council – Shannon Frank 


• Celebrated their 15th anniversary, was formed as a non-profit in 2005. 


• Grassy Mountain Coal joint revue panel wrapped up. 


• Recent restoration projects have been catalogued in videos and blogs that can be 
found on the website. 


• Will be fundraising to do 10 sites for the next 3 years. 


• Watershed legacy program grant applications opening shortly.  Deadline to apply is 
February 1, 2021. 


 
        6.6      Highway #3 Association- Councillor Bill Chapman 


• Paid tribute to Captain Craig Wilson, that passed away on December 3,2020. 


• Hearing that the government is looking at 2021 with increased interest. 


• Hoping to get funding to twin to the west as well as funding for a functional planning 
strategy for west of Fort Macleod. 


 


 6.7 FCM – Robin Kurpjuweit 


• Discussed advocacy days. 


 
7.0 NEXT MEETING DATE 


Friday, February 5, 2021 at 1:00 – Virtual via Zoom 


 
8.0 ADJOURNMENT:  


 Meeting was adjourned at 2:50pm.  Stay safe and stay healthy! 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 
Mayors and Reeves of Southwest Alberta                                                                                                                                        Page 3  


October 4, 2019 Minutes 


 
 
 
Fu  








VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 
January 14, 2021 Minutes 


 
The Regular Village of Glenwood Council meeting was held at the Glenwood 
Community Hall on January 14, 2021 scheduled at 7:00 PM. 
 
In attendance: Deputy Mayor David Rolfson, Councillors Barton Lybbert, Gerry 
Carter and Rusty Clark. Mayor Albert Elias was absent. 
 
Officials: Chief Administrative Officer Carrie Kinahan was in attendance and Assistant 
CAO Marilee Campbell. 


 
 


 


 
Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes January 14, 2021 Initials: Page 1 of 3 


 


 
1. Called to Order 
 
 
2. Prayer 
 
3. Agenda Adoption 
2021.01.001 
 
 
 
4. Minutes Adoption 
2021.01.002 
 
 
5. Delegations: 
5.a RCMP- Sgt. Bob 
Wright – Quarterly 
Update 
 
5.b Glen and Jacob 
Goetz – Log Home 
Business 
 
6. Items for Discussion 
and/or Actions: 
6.a Electronic 
Recording of Council 
Meetings 
2021.01.003 
 
 
6b. Rescinded Motion 
2019.08.151 – 
Development Officer 
2021.01.004 
 
6c. Appoint CAO as 
Development Officer 
2021.01.005 
 
6c. Perry Hunsperger - 
Village Foreman Report 
 
 
7. & 8. Council & CAO 
Reports 
Mayor Elias 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson 
 
Councillor Carter 


Deputy Mayor Rolfson called the January 14, 2021 Regular Council 
Meeting to order at 7:04 PM 
 
Councillor Lybbert  
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adopt the agenda as amended.            
(add Item 5a. RCMP and move original 5a. to 5b.) 


Carried 
 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to adopt the minutes of the 2020.12.10 
Regular Council Meeting as presented. 


Carried 
 
 
No resolutions on this item. 
 
 
 
No resolutions on this item. 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Clarke MOVED to instruct administration to research and 
table this item to a future meeting. 


Carried 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to rescind motion 2019.08.151. 


Carried 
 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to appoint the current CAO or 
designate as the Development Officer of the Village of Glenwood. 


Carried 
 
No resolutions on this item. 
 
 
 
 


• Absent 
 


• None 
 


• None 







Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes January 14, 2021 Initials: Page 2 of 3 
 


 
Councillor Lybbert 
 
Councillor Clark 
 
CAO Report 
 
2021.01.006 
 
 
 
9. Financial Reports 
9 a), 9 b), 9c) 
 
 
 
 
2021.01.007 
 
 
 
10. Correspondence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2021.01.008 
 
 
11. Closed Meeting 
2021.01.009 
 
 
 
 
2021.01.010 
 
 
 
2021.01.011 
 
 
2021.01.012 
 
 
 
 
2021.01.013 
 
 


 
• Emergency equipment replacement. Recreation board to look 


into adding equipment to park 
• Ice rink. 


 
• CAO Report presented as outlined in the agenda 


 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to accept the Councillor & CAO reports as 
information. 


Carried 
 


 
Council reviewed the following  
9 a) Accounts Payable December (20191016-20191049) 
9 b) Budget VS Actual Operating & Capital Report 
9 c) Bank Reconciliation for December 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to accept the Financial reports 9 a), 9 b) 
and 9c) as information. 


Carried 
 


a) Community Foundation News 
b) cmrswa MINUTES 12-20 
c) Chief Mountain organizational mtg20 
d) ORRSC Annual Organizational Board of Directors 
e) 2021 South Region Urban Orth. Prj. IC Council 


Resolution 
f) 2021 Oldman Watershed Council 
g) 2020 4th Quarter Policing Report 
h) 2020 Fortis - Franchise Presentation – Glenwood 
i) Fortis Reference Guide 2020 
j) Fortis Alberta 2019 Annual SQR Report 
k) outbreaks reported on website_January07 
l) December 2020 minutes South West 
m) FAQ - Jan.8, 2021 
n) COVID Update 2020.12.11 
o) Chinook Arch Library Board Report December 2020 
p) CCES minutes Jan 7, 2021 


 
Councillor Carter MOVED to accept the correspondence as 
information. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Clark MOVED to close the meeting to the public at 8:26 PM 
to discuss Land, Legal or Labour Matters as per Section 24(b)(i) of the 
FOIP Act. 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to open the meeting to the public at 
9:34 PM. 


Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Rolfson MOVED to go past 9:30 PM. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to close the meeting to the public at 9:36 
PM to discuss Land, Legal or Labour Matters as per Section 24(b)(i) of 
the FOIP Act. 


Carried 
 


Councillor Carter MOVED to open the meeting to the public at 9:54 
PM. 


Carried 







Village Of Glenwood Council Meeting Minutes January 14, 2021 Initials: Page 3 of 3 
 


 
 
 
 
2021.01.014 
 
 
 
 
2021.01.015 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
2021.01.016 
 


 
The Regular Council Meeting resumed at 9:56 PM allowing for the 
public to rejoin the meeting. 
 
Councillor Carter MOVED to instruct administration to welcome the 
public to come to the village office to review the 2020 Provincial 
Assessment Audit report. No copies or photos will be permitted. 


Carried 
 
Councillor Lybbert MOVED to instruct administration to send a letter 
of support to Tough Country Communications for application to the 
“Fiber to the Home” “Universal Broadband Fund” grant. 


Carried 
 


Deputy David Rolfson MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 10:00 PM. 
Carried 


 
 


_____________________________________________ 
Meeting Chair 


 
_____________________________________________ 


Chief Administrative Officer 
  


 








 


 


 


 


  


Village of Glenwood 
MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 


BYLAW NO. ### 


FEBRUARY 2021 (DRAFT) 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







 


 


  


Intellectual Property – All Rights Reserved © Copyright 2021 


This document is protected by Copyright and Trade Secret Law and may not be reproduced or modified in any manner, or for any 


purpose, except by written permission of the Oldman River Regional Services Commission. This document has been prepared for the sole 


use of the Village of Glenwood and the Oldman River Regional Services Commission.  


This disclaimer is attached to and forms part of the document. 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







 


 


 


CONTENTS 


PART I: OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................... 2 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................................... 2 


Purpose of The Municipal Development Plan ..................................................................................... 3 
Planning Context ....................................................................................................................................... 3 


Plan Implementation .................................................................................................................................... 4 


Plan Monitoring and Amendment ............................................................................................................. 4 


Who We Are ................................................................................................................................................... 5 
Settlement ................................................................................................................................................... 5 
Historic Plan ................................................................................................................................................. 6 
Historic Population ..................................................................................................................................... 7 
Age Structures – 10 year cohorts ............................................................................................................ 8 
Equalized Assessment ............................................................................................................................... 9 
Land Use ...................................................................................................................................................... 9 
Tourism ....................................................................................................................................................... 13 


PART II: VISION & GOALS ...................................................................................................... 16 
Vision Statement .......................................................................................................................................... 16 
Community Goals ....................................................................................................................................... 17 


Future Land Use Concept .......................................................................................................................... 18 
General Growth ....................................................................................................................................... 18 
Residential Growth .................................................................................................................................. 18 
Non-Residential Growth ......................................................................................................................... 18 


Outcomes ..................................................................................................................................................... 19 
General Growth ....................................................................................................................................... 19 
Residential Growth .................................................................................................................................. 19 
Non-Residential Growth ......................................................................................................................... 19 


PART III: PLAN POLICIES ......................................................................................................... 22 
1.0 General Policies ................................................................................................................................. 22 


How We Grow .............................................................................................................................................. 23 
2.0 General Land Use.............................................................................................................................. 23 
3.0 Living Areas ......................................................................................................................................... 24 
4.0 Business & Service Areas .................................................................................................................. 25 
5.0 Reserves & Historic Resources ......................................................................................................... 25 
6.0 Agriculture .......................................................................................................................................... 26 
7.0 Sour Gas Setbacks ............................................................................................................................ 26 


How We Thrive .............................................................................................................................................. 27 
8.0 Economic Development ................................................................................................................. 27 
9.0 Recreation & Culture ........................................................................................................................ 27 
10.0 Community Image .......................................................................................................................... 27 
11.0 Environmental Sustainability .......................................................................................................... 28 


 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G



file://///APP1/ORISA%20Data/2A%20Cardston%20County/2E%20Glenwood-Village/2E%20Glenwood-Village%20MDP/Glenwood%20MDP%20Draft%20(Dec).docx%23_Toc57791348





 


 


How We Connect ........................................................................................................................................ 29 
12.0 Utilities and Infrastructure ............................................................................................................... 29 
13.0 Transportation .................................................................................................................................. 29 
14.0 Community Services ....................................................................................................................... 30 


How We Work Together.............................................................................................................................. 31 
15.0 Community Cohesion .................................................................................................................... 31 
16.0 Public Engagement & Communication ..................................................................................... 31 
17.0 Intermunicipal Cooperation ......................................................................................................... 32 


PART IV: GROWTH MAP ........................................................................................................ 34 


PART V: PLAN COMPLIANCE .................................................................................................. 36 
South Saskatchewan Regional Plan Compliance ................................................................................ 36 


Efficient Use of Land ................................................................................................................................ 37 
Planning Cooperation and Integration .............................................................................................. 37 
Building Sustainable Communities ....................................................................................................... 38 
Agriculture ................................................................................................................................................. 38 
Water and Watersheds .......................................................................................................................... 39 
Historic Resources .................................................................................................................................... 39 
Transportation ........................................................................................................................................... 40 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 1 


 


OVERVIEW


VISION & GOALS


PLAN POLICIES


GROWTH MAP


PLAN


COMPLIANCE


 


  PART I 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 2        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


PART I: OVERVIEW 
INTRODUCTION 


It can be said that municipalities are in the business of creating communities.  The concept of community 


incorporates the many and varied aspects of the lifestyles of the people who choose to reside within a 


municipality as well as the social, political, natural, and economic systems which serve as the building blocks for 


beneficial development and settlement patterns.   


Creating successful communities does not happen on its own - it requires community planning.  The Municipal 


Development Plan is the most common community planning tool used to help municipalities achieve their 


desired future and one which all municipalities in Alberta are required to adopt.  By addressing matters such as 


future land use, provision of servicing, transportation systems, and other matters related to the physical, social 


and economic development of the municipality, the Municipal Development Plan (MDP) provides a framework 


for sustainable, orderly and rational community development.  As both a visionary and strategic document, the 


Plan balances the economic, social and environmental interests of the residents while helping to establish long-


term stability for the community.     


In accordance with the requirements of the Municipal Government Act, the MDP is required to address the 


following: 


MDPs may also address several other considerations including the coordination of physical, social and economic 


development of the community, environmental matters, development constraints, and financial resources.    


Future land use and proposals for future development


Municipal services and facilities


Transportation systems


Municipal and school reserves


Land uses adjacent to sour gas facilities


Protection of agricultural operations


Coordination with adjacent municipalities
FI


RST R
EADIN


G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 3 


 


PURPOSE OF THE MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 


Managing the use and development of land is the primary role of the Municipal Development Plan. The MDP 


studies both a community’s past experiences and evaluates its current circumstances in order to anticipate its 


future needs.  The content of a MDP is designed to encourage municipalities to integrate proposals into long-


term plans for the financial and social well-being of the community, as well as the physical landscape. As a long-


range plan, it helps Council and administration make decisions on planning and development matters, informs 


the content of the land use bylaw and other land use plans, and provides a framework to coordinate other 


municipal bylaws, programs and investments.    


PLANNING CONTEXT 


The MDP is not a stand alone document, but rather an integral 


component of a larger context of Provincial, Regional and Municipal 


documents and regulations.  


PROVINCIAL REALM 


The Municipal Government Act (MGA) sets out the legislative 


framework for planning in Alberta and specifically Part 17 places the 


authority for land use decision making at the local level.  Through the 


legislation, a municipal Council is empowered with the authority to 


create and adopt statutory plans, establish planning approval 


committees, enforce conditions of planning approvals, and to ensure 


that the public is involved with planning at a local level. The Subdivision and Development Regulation is passed 


by Cabinet and outlines basic procedures and approval criteria for subdivision and development decisions at 


the local level.  The Alberta Land Stewardship Act (ALSA) is the legal authority to implement the province’s Land 


Use Framework and provides direction and leadership in identifying objectives of the government regarding land 


use, economics and the environment.  As well, it creates policy that enables sustainable development and sets 


the stage for regional planning which includes seven regional plans. 


REGIONAL REALM 


The South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (SSRP) is a legislative instrument that uses a cumulative effect 


management approach to set policy direction for municipalities to achieve desired environmental, economic, 


and social outcomes within the South Saskatchewan Region until 2024. A community’s MDP must comply with 


the SSRP, which came into effect September 1, 2014.  The Village of Glenwood MDP has been prepared 


consistent with the intent of the SSRP (see Part V of the Plan for the relevant SSRP policies).  


MUNICIPAL REALM  


Over the years, statutory plans such as the Village of Glenwood General Municipal Plan and non-statutory plans 


and related studies have been completed to help guide the growth and development of the Village, including 


the Village Land Use Bylaw and various infrastructure studies.     


PROVINCIAL


Municipal Government Act


Subdivision & Development 
Authority


Alberta Land Stewardship Act


REGIONAL


South Saskatchewan Regional Plan


MUNICIPAL


Intermunicipal Development Plan


Land Use Bylaw


Municipal Development Plan


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 4        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 


The success of the MDP depends on the degree to which it is integrated into ongoing decision making.  The MDP 


provides the means whereby Council, Village administration, and other decision-making bodies such as the 


Municipal Planning Commission can evaluate situations and proposals in the context of a long-range plan for 


Glenwood.  It is primarily a policy document that is to be utilized as a framework within which both public and 


private sector decision making can occur. The Plan policies may be implemented throughout various planning 


and strategic documents and processes, such as: 


 Village Land Use Bylaw 


 Area Structure Plans, Area Redevelopment Plans and Conceptual Schemes 


 Subdivision and development review process 


 Development agreements/servicing agreements 


 Various municipal bylaws such as unsightly premises and community standards 


 Capital Improvement Plans 


 Formal and informal municipal policy directives 


It is important to note that while implementation of the MDP relies on commitment to the goals and policies of 


the Plan, recommendation for specific municipal projects within the Plan are not intended to represent a 


commitment to spending.  Council, as part of its function in providing good government, fostering well-being of 


the environment, providing services and facilities, and developing and maintaining safe and viable communities, 


will need to consider any projects referred to in the MDP along with all other Village spending through its regular 


process of budget allocation and prioritization to determine when and if implementation should occur. Pursuant 


to section 637 of the Municipal Government Act, adoption of a statutory plan does not bind the municipality to 


undertake the projects referred to in the Plan.   


PLAN MONITORING AND AMENDMENT 


Change is inevitable.  While the MDP is a long-range 


plan, it is not intended to remain a static document.  


Regular review of the Plan is necessary to ensure that 


it continues to reflect the priorities and needs of the 


community and accounts for significant changes in 


development commitments, budget constraints, 


and market conditions.  As such, the MDP should be 


reviewed for relevancy at regular intervals of at least 


once every four years.  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 5 


 


WHO WE ARE 


Located between the Towns of Cardston, Fort Macleod and Pincher 


Creek, the Village of Glenwood is a small, rural community which is 


found at the intersection of the Rocky Mountains and the Great Plains 


of Alberta. With proximity to larger urban centres, internationally 


recognized parks, and local recreation destinations, the Village 


provides unique and bountiful recreation and lifestyle opportunities for 


both residents and visitors, alike. The Village is an attractive location for 


those employed in local industries, farming operations, or enjoying their 


retirement.  Affordable housing, low taxes and a small-town feel are 


attractions to the community that cannot be found in large urban 


centres.    


SETTLEMENT 
The land on which the Village of Glenwood was established was originally owned by the Cochrane Ranch 


Company, incorporated by the Dominion Government in 1881. The location was chose on the southern portion 


of the ranch, which included a large tract of land between the Waterton and Belly Rivers. The original townsite 


was created from a 240 acre portion of the ranch which was then divided into 8 acre blocks, aligning with the 


Plat of Zion plan. These large blocks were established to accommodate and agricultural-based population, 


allowing for small-scale farming and grazing practices within the lots provided.  


Edward J. Wood, one of the original settlers of the area and a local leader of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-


Day Saints, is credited with helping to procure the lands from the Cochrane Ranch, and ultimately designing the 


community. In 1908, Glenwood was chosen as the name – after E.J. Wood’s first born son, Glen – though it was 


not officially incorporated until 1961. 


Through the 19th century, the village experienced periods of decline and growth. The Canadian Pacific Railway 


laid track and brought the first train to Glenwood in 1912. This made it possible to export to a wider market. With 


the automobile, trains were slowly phased out and the last train came through Glenwood in 1979. The first grain 


elevators were built in 1932, but closed in 1980 after the railroad was decommissioned. The United Irrigation District 


Cheese Factory was constructed and opened for business in 1941. It has been purchased and operated through 


the years under other company names including Central Alberta Dairy Pool, Alpha Milk, Dairy World, Armstrong 


Cheese, and currently Saputo Inc. The factory, located on Main Avenue, no longer produces cheese, but 


continues to provide employment to residents of Glenwood and the surrounding area.  


MAP 1. REGIONAL LOCATION 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


810 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 6        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


HISTORIC PLAN (1913) 


  


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 7 


 


HISTORIC POPULATION 


Over the past 35 years of census data, the Village of Glenwood has fluctuated between a low of 257 and a high 


of 316 people since 1981. In particular, the previous 3 census years (2006, 2011 and 2016) have shown increases 


in population for the Village. 


TABLE 1. VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD POPULATION (1981-2016) 


Year Population 5 Year % Change Annual % Change 


1981 257 - - 


1986 302 17.5 3.5 


1991 298 -1.3 -0.3 


1996 303 1.7 0.3 


2001 258 -14.9 -2.9 


2006 280 8.5 1.7 


2011 287 2.5 0.5 


2016 316 10.1 2.0 
Source: Municipal Census Data (Alberta Municipal Affairs 2017) and Statistics Canada: 2016 Statistics Canada Census 


 


 


 


 


  


257


302 298 303


258


280 287


316


1981 1986 1991 1996 2001 2006 2011 2016


GRAPH 1. HISTORIC POPULATION (’81-’16) 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 8        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


AGE STRUCTURES – 10 YEAR COHORTS 
As a comparison, the age structures for the 2011 and 2016 populations are shown on Charts 2 and 3. There has 


been a small increase in adults 30 to 39, and a significant increase in children aged 10 to 19. Both of these metrics 


suggest that the Village is able to attract and retain young families, and support working age adults. The 


population of seniors and older adults however has remained fairly stable between census years—suggesting 


that seniors feel comfortable aging in place, and continue to find the Village a suitable place to live.  


 


 


 


  


CHART 2. AGE STRUCTURE - 2011 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


CHART 3. AGE STRUCTURE - 2016 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


Source: Statistics Canada 2016 Census 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 9 


 


EQUALIZED ASSESSMENT 


Municipal assessment provides crucial information regarding 


the types of development and the amount of economic 


activity in a community.  According to the 2020 Equalized Tax 


Assessment report, the majority of the assessment (85%) consists 


of residential property, compared to 9% of non-residential 


assessment and 6% classified machinery/equipment, railway, 


farmland and linear assessment.  The value of all land and 


buildings in the Village of Glenwood is just over $27.7 million.   


LAND USE  


The Village of Glenwood encompasses approximately 208 acres (excluding roads and right-of-ways). The 


community is surrounded by agricultural lands, with small pockets of grouped country residential development 


in the south. The sewage lagoon is also located to the southeast of the community, intersecting with the Village 


boundary and limiting expansion in that direction.  


FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 


The community of Glenwood has ample room to expand if necessary, but the Village should focus future 


development on existing vacant lots within the boundary. The General Municipal Plan (1990) for the Village 


identified blocks of land immediately to the east for future urban expansion, in keeping with the 8-acre block 


pattern.  


Large tracts of unsubdivided lands within the westernmost portion of the Village can be utilized for long-term 


internal growth. Residential and commercial lots are all available within the community for development.  


There are 4 land use districts allocated throughout the Village of Glenwood, all with associated permitted and 


discretionary uses. The current stock of available land within the Village has been broken down into districts shown 


in Table 2, below (refer to Part IV: Map 2 for existing zoning districts). 


TABLE 2. LAND USE ZONING, 2017 


Use Acres Hectares % of Total 


Commercial – C 5.5 2.2 2.0 


Industrial – I 4.1 1.7 1.5 


Public & Institutional – PI 19.2 7.8 7.0 


Residential – R 246.8 99.9 89.5 


Total *excluding roads and right-of-ways 275.6 111.6 100.0 


 


  


CHART 4. EQUALIZED ASSESSMENT 


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD 


Source: Municipal Affairs, 2020 


Residential


85%


Non-


Residential


9%


Other


6%


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 10        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


RESIDENTIAL LAND USE 
Residential development occurs throughout the Village, and—as prescribed by the original plan—the lots are an 


average of one acre. Although some lots have been subdivided into smaller parcels, a large amount of 


underutilized land remains. Generally, the housing stock in Glenwood can be characterized by the following 


traits: 


 The majority of dwellings are single-detached or manufactured homes 


 The average household size is 2.9 persons per dwelling unit 


 Over 83% of the homes in the Village are in a good state of repair, while a small portion (17%) require 


major repairs 


 There was a significant boom in residential development between 1960 and 1980, with 76% of housing 


development occurring in that period. However, Statistics Canada reports that approximately 15 


dwellings were constructed between 2001 and 2005.   


FUTURE RESIDENTIAL 


The residential stock, including vacant and underdeveloped lots (i.e. large lots), is sufficient to accommodate 


development well into the future. However, as the population trends indicate, the recent influx of residents 


suggests that the Village should identify and plan for increased demands for future residential development. As 


residents age, and as new residents arrive, the Village should encourage the diversification of housing types 


including senior-friendly housing (i.e. seniors complex, single-storey bungalows, etc.), and multi-unit dwellings (i.e. 


duplexes) to provide affordability and accessibility across the socioeconomic spectrum. 


The lands surrounding the Village may be suitable for annexation when necessary, with expansion towards the 


north and east of the existing Village boundary. For continuity of character and street design, subdivision should 


remain in keeping with the original plan, and blocks should follow the 8 acre grid pattern. 


COMMERCIAL LAND USE 
Commercial and industrial activities within the Village are primarily located along Main Avenue. 


Commercial activities within the Village include a bakery, Glenwood Pioneer Ice Cream Parlour, and 


general store. These businesses are located centrally within the community, and serve residents and the 


surrounding rural area. A number of historic commercial buildings remain vacant on Main Avenue, and are 


available for future commercial ventures.  


FUTURE COMMERCIAL 


Maintaining the historical feel of the Village should be encouraged, and therefore the layout and placement of 


commercial and industrial operations should be built upon and enhanced. The Village should encourage 


businesses to locate within existing buildings, and explore opportunities to provide multi-use commercial spaces 


for endeavours such as farmers markets and craft fairs.  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 11 


 


PUBLIC LAND USES 
The Village has several public land uses. The school provides education services for children from preschool 


through grade five—serving residents throughout the area. Upon matriculation, these children typically 


continue their studies in the Village of Hill Spring school, or are bussed to Cardston. As per the original plan, 


the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints is located centrally within the community and is surrounded 


by public use lands, which currently contain recreation fields and open space (see next section).  


The Village Office, Community Hall, post office, museum, Pioneer Ice Cream Parlour and public library are 


also prized institutions within the Village. 


FUTURE PUBLIC  


The public and institutional uses within the Village provide local and surrounding residents with functional and 


social services while retaining the small-town feel of this historic community. The Village should promote the care 


and aesthetic enhancement of these facilities, and ensure that the provision of services aligns with the needs of 


the changing population. 


RECREATIONAL / OPEN SPACE LAND USE 
Recreational uses in the Village include three parks: the first, directly south of the LDS Church and contains ball 


diamonds; the second, is largely passive open space including playground equipment, and; the third park 


contains the World War II memorial cenotaph and the spray park. In previous years, the Village has provided an 


outdoor skating rink. Glenwood is within a short distance to many impressive recreation opportunities including: 


the Great Canadian Barn Dance, various campground facilities, Waterton Reservoir, the Belly River, and 


Waterton Lakes National Park, Frank Slide, Kootenai Brown Pioneer Village, hiking, angling, swimming, and 


paddling. 


FUTURE RECREATION  


The regional location and geography of 


Glenwood provides the opportunity for the 


Village to capitalize on tourism to promote local 


recreational facilities and amenities. The Village 


should investigate and encourage 


opportunities to engage with surrounding 


municipalities, recreation providers, and 


tourism-based industries to promote a regional 


approach to recreation which could benefit 


the communities, and situate the Glenwood as 


a ‘go-to’ destination for recreating. 


 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 12        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


 ROADS & TRANSPORTATION NETWORKS 
The road pattern within Glenwood is characterized by a traditional grid system. Many of the developments in the 


community have a uniform shape and size, as the community initially was designed to have 8 lots per block with 


just over an acre of land per lot. Over time, some of these lots have been subdivided and lots on the outer edges 


of the community are typically larger and used for cropland or grazing. Glenwood still follows the traditional grid 


system with slight changes in lot size and shape that have occurred with time. 


Glenwood provides a quiet, scenic locale as it is located just off of the major Highway connectors in the area, 


with Highways 810 and 505 running to the east and south of the Village, respectively.  


Opportunities to partner with the County and surrounding municipalities to advertise and promote regional points 


of interest may help bolster tourism, and put Glenwood on the map as a relaxing, close-to-nature recreation 


destination. 


 


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 13 


 


MUNICIPAL SERVICES & FACILITIES 
The municipal public works function is to efficiently maintain public parks, roads, sidewalks, storm water drainage, 


the water distribution system, sewage collection system and piped irrigation system. It is important to analyze 


present services to ensure they are sufficient to manage future capacity loads. 


 Sewer and water services are available to all occupied residential and non-residential users. 


 Glenwood is served by an artesian well located 6 kilometres away, between Glenwood and Hill Spring. 


An underground concrete storage vault holds water for the Village, and there are fire hydrants throughout 


the community.  


 Glenwood also provides rural water servicing to surrounding lands via 8 distribution lines: south along Main 


Street; west along Centre Street; northeast along Main Avenue; north on two lines from Fourth Street North; 


north along Fourth Avenue West, and; southwest along two lines running parallel to the abandoned 


railroad tracks. 


 Firefighting services are shared with Hill Spring through an agreement which was formalized in the early 


1990s. Policing for the Village is provided through the RCMP detachment located in the Town of Cardston. 


 Solid waste is taken to the Hill Spring/Glenwood Garbage Transfer Station located between Hill Spring and 


Glenwood approximately 6 kilometres away from the community along Highway 505. The transfer station 


is open two times a week and is operated by Cardston County. Recycling is available in Pincher Creek 


and Cardston. 


TOURISM 
The Village of Glenwood, and the surrounding area, is the ideal location for tourists seeking rustic, close-to-nature 


recreation experiences. With a number of well-maintained, annual campgrounds providing for high volumes of 


visits annually, the Village is poised to capitalize on summer-time recreation opportunities. The proximity of the 


Village to the Rocky Mountains, Waterton Lakes National Park, and the Belly and Waterton Rivers; Glenwood can 


serve as a stopping point for travelers and tourists who visit the area. The Spring-Glen Park provides nightly 


camping grounds. Additionally, the Great Canadian Barn Dance—located just southwest of the Village—has 


historical significance, and is a well-loved destination for community and social events.  


Visitors to these attractions are often day users travelling by car, recreational vehicle and increasingly bicycles. 


Providing opportunities to camp and explore the area by foot or bike may encourage visitors to stay and discover 


the peaceful leisure lifestyle the area can offer. The County has recently expressed interest in developing an 


recreation plan, which could include promotion of regional tourism and recreation activities throughout the 


County and urban municipalities. 


The current Intermunicipal Development Plan between the County and the Village lays out the framework 


through which the municipalities will work together, and sets the stage for future partnerships and regional 


endeavors. 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 14        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


 
  


 


  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 15 


 


OVERVIEW


VISION & 


GOALS


PLAN POLICIES


GROWTH MAP


PLAN


COMPLIANCE


 


 


 


 
 


  


PART II 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 16        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


PART II: VISION & GOALS  
It is important for the Village of Glenwood to prepare a strategy that facilitates moderate growth within the 


community, and successfully accommodates corresponding residential and non-residential development. 


Although the population of Glenwood is not anticipated to grow dramatically in the foreseeable future, Map 2 


suggests the type and placement of development within the Village that would best serve the residents, and 


maintain the attractive, small-town atmosphere.  


As the role of the MDP is to guide the evolution of a community 20 years into the future, decision makers need to 


consider reasonable extensions of current development, as well as constraints that may exist. The following 


subsections highlight important trends and provide guidance for decision-makers in determining appropriate 


land use development patterns. 


 


The community’s vision statement represents a general shared understanding of the desired future for the Village 


and serves as the foundation upon which the Village of Glenwood Municipal Development Plan goals and 


policies have been crafted.   


  


VISION STATEMENT 
 


Glenwood is a tranquil place that offers a snapshot of 


historic Western settlements. The Village provides 


residents and visitors alike with a variety of recreation 


opportunities, relaxing atmosphere, and a high quality 


of life.   


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 17 


 


COMMUNITY GOALS 


 


1 
Encourage economic growth and diversification in order to provide more employment 


opportunities, a broader tax base, and wider range of municipal services. 


2 
Ensure that key community services and amenities remain available and continue to serve the 


needs of the Village as may be fiscally attainable.   


3 
Promote, maintain and enhance the friendly, small town atmosphere and great quality of life 


within the Village. 


4 
Enhance the livability of the community through improved shopping, municipal services and 


housing opportunities. 


5 
Promote continued enhancement of the community appearance, including the Village 


entrance, public spaces, and private development. 


6 
Encourage and support Village cooperation with service clubs, community groups, volunteer 


organizations and government agencies to enhance quality of life and provide continued social 


and recreational opportunities.    


7 
Foster public engagement and opportunities for communication with Council and administration 


within the municipal planning processes.     


8 
Consult and coordinate with neighbouring municipalities and organizations on matters of mutual 


interest or concern that have the potential to provide community benefits and maximize 


efficiencies in service delivery.    


 


  
FI


RST R
EADIN


G







  


 


pg. 18        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


FUTURE LAND USE CONCEPT 


GENERAL GROWTH 
 


RESIDENTIAL GROWTH 


 


NON-RESIDENTIAL GROWTH 


 


Development will take 
advantage of existing vacant 


lots within the Village boundary.


Opportunities to increase 
density through the provision of 


subdivision.


When necessary, the Village 
may choose to extend the 
Village boudary through 


annexation of County lands to 
the east


Development of vacant lots 
within mature neighbourhoods 


will be prioritized. 


The Village may develop an 
Area Structure Plan to evaluate 


residential potential on lands 
located along 2nd Street East. 


Opportunities to increase 
density by providing for 
secondary suites and 


opportunities for multi-unit 
development.


Expand commercial zoning to 
vacant lots along Main 


Avenue.


Encourage the use of existing 
commercial buildings within the 


Village core, including the 
provision of mixed 


commercial/residential 
development.


Investigate partnerships with 
surrounding municipalities to 


encourage regional economic 
opportunities.


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 19 


 


OUTCOMES 


GENERAL GROWTH 
 


RESIDENTIAL GROWTH 
 


NON-RESIDENTIAL GROWTH 


 


 


 


  


Readily servicable lots will be 
available for development for 
residential, commercial and 


recreational uses.


A variety of housing options will be 
available to accomodate the 


needs of a changing population.


Residents and visitors will enjoy the 
high quality of services provided 


by innovative recreation and 
commercial endeavours.FI


RST R
EADIN


G







  


 


pg. 20        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 21 


 


OVERVIEW


VISION & GOALS


PLAN


POLICIES


GROWTH MAP


PLAN


COMPLIANCE


 


  


PART III 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 22        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


PART III: PLAN POLICIES 
The policies of this section are long-range and serve as a guide for evaluating proposals by Council, 


administration and other decision-making bodies and ideally are intended to guide future development and 


growth toward the community’s desired future.  The policies of the Municipal Development Plan apply to all land 


within the Village.   


1.0 GENERAL POLICIES 


1.1 The MDP, for the most part, is general in nature and long-range in its outlook.  The MDP provides the means 


whereby Council and administration can evaluate proposals in the context of a long-range plan for the 


Village of Glenwood.  The policies of the MDP, however, are not intended to be so rigid in interpretation 


and application that they preclude consideration of refinement or amendment.     


1.2 Subject to Council’s approval, minor variation from the policies of the MDP will not require amendment to 


the plan.  Substantive changes to policy direction will require amendment to the MDP and any other 


affected plan. 


1.3 The policies of the MDP will be further refined and implemented through the development, adoption and 


day-to-day application of statutory plans, the Village Land Use Bylaw, various other municipal bylaws, 


agreements and strategic planning documents.   


1.4 Amendment of the MDP must follow the applicable procedures outlined in the Municipal Government Act. 


1.5 All statutory plans shall be consistent with the MDP. 


1.6 This MDP should be reviewed every four years and amended as deemed necessary by Council to ensure it 


remains relevant and reflective of the priorities and needs of the community.    


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 23 


 


HOW WE GROW 


2.0 GENERAL LAND USE 


2.1 Development of land within the Village boundary is the preferred growth strategy to the extent it is 


reasonably possible.  


2.2 At such time Council determines annexation is necessary to support the needs of the community, the 


Village will discuss its expansion needs with Cardston County in advance of initiating a formal annexation 


application and address any requirements of the Intermunicipal Development Plan.   


2.3 Population growth rates should be monitored, and an appropriate management strategy developed to 


ensure facilities and services can be adequately sustained and sufficient land is readily available to serve 


residential and non-residential development needs. 


2.4 Decisions regarding future land use should generally be consistent with the concepts illustrated in the Future 


Land Use Concept and Growth Directions Map (Part IV: Map 2).  In consideration of policy 1.1, however, 


the concepts illustrated are not intended to preclude consideration of alternative uses and refinement 


through further planning study.   


2.5 New growth and development should occur in a stable and fiscally sound manner, given infrastructure, 


land carrying capacity and physical constraints.  


2.6 Future urban growth should be directed to areas with existing municipal infrastructure capacity or to 


locations where infrastructure extensions can be made most appropriately. 


2.7 Efficient use of land and infrastructure within the Village is a priority.  The Village will encourage developers 


and landowners to consider the use of efficient land planning tools when designing subdivision and 


development proposals.   


2.8 Premature subdivision and development of agricultural lands will be generally discouraged until such time 


the lands are required for urban development. 


2.9 The obligation for supplying and expanding infrastructure and services to serve new development will be 


at the developer’s/applicant’s cost. Opportunities for cost-sharing may be explored where Council 


determines that the improvements would be beneficial to the community as a whole and are economically 


feasible.       


2.10 Pursuant to the Municipal Government Act, as a condition of approval of any development or subdivision, 


a developer/applicant may be required to enter into a development agreement to provide for the 


construction of roadways, public utilities, walkways, parking facilities, loading facilities, and other 


improvements, including the provision of security and oversizing of infrastructure.    


2.11 All development will be required to connect to the municipal sewer and water systems unless it is 


demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Municipal Planning Commission that circumstances exist where 


services are not feasible. 


2.12 Proposed subdivisions should be evaluated with respect to the following considerations: 


a. compatibility with possible future development of residual and/or adjacent lands; 


b. appropriate connections to existing roadway and utility infrastructure as deemed necessary, and; 


c. the suitability of the land to accommodate the proposed use. 


2.13 Before initiating the formal rezoning process, developers/applicants may be required to undertake a public 


consultation process involving community groups, residents and neighbours, and to report the results of the 


public consultation to Council. 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 24        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


2.14 The Village, at its discretion, may require: 


a. the preparation and adoption of an area structure plan or approval of a conceptual scheme, at 


the developer/applicant’s cost, which will govern subsequent subdivision and development of the 


specific area prior to considering any proposal to rezone, subdivide or develop land.   


b. a design concept plan be prepared by a developer/applicant and submitted for review by the 


Municipal Planning Commission prior to approval of any proposal to subdivide or develop land; 


c. the developer/applicant to provide any additional information not addressed or contemplated in 


this plan or other guidelines, at the time of application review to support the proposal.   


3.0 LIVING AREAS  


3.1 Future residential development should be directed to the areas of the Village identified as Residential in 


the Future Land Use Concept (Part IV: Map 2) considering availability and ease of servicing, with the initial 


priority being infill and development of existing vacant residential lots.   


  


3.2 The Village should regularly monitor vacancy rates, development and subdivision activity, land supply, 


economic activity, and population and income profiles so that the needs for serviced residential land can 


be reasonably anticipated.   


 


3.3 Residential development strategies should promote: 


a. variety in housing types catering to the needs and income levels of the community; 


b. safe, attractive residential environments minimizing incompatible land uses; 


c. rational and economical extensions of existing municipal services. 


3.4 The land use bylaw will continue to provide opportunities for a variety of housing types in residential 


neighbourhoods.   


3.5 The Village sewer lagoons are situated within the NE 1-5-27-W4 in Cardston County, and the Village shall 


consider the following required provincial setbacks to these facilities when making decisions on subdivision 


and development proposals in the area: 


a. In accordance with Sections 12 and 13 of the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a 


subdivision authority shall not approve an application for the subdivision for a school, hospital, food 


establishment or residential use if the application would result in a property line of a lot created by 


the subdivision for any of those uses being located within 300 metres of an operating wastewater 


treatment plant or a non-operating landfill. 


b. In accordance with Sections 12 and 13 of the Subdivision and Development Regulation, a 


development authority shall not issue a development permit for a school, hospital, food 


establishment or residential use if the building site is located within 300 metres of an operating 


wastewater treatment plant or a non-operating landfill. 


  FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 25 


 


4.0 BUSINESS & SERVICE AREAS 


4.1 The Village encourages local businesses and other prospective investors to develop non-residential land in 


the Village Core (Part IV: Map 2). 


4.2 The Village will continue to support and work with the Twin Rivers Country Economic Development Society 


on initiatives to help attract new economic opportunities and expand commercial sector offerings and 


services.  


4.3 The Village should continue to investigate opportunities to enable provision of modern and adequate 


infrastructure (e.g., fibre optic) to support operation of technology-based industries and high-tech business 


within the municipality.   


4.4 The commercial zoning district should be reviewed periodically to ensure they adequately encompass the 


needs of the community and business. 


4.5 A new mixed light industrial/business district should be investigated and considered for inclusion in the land 


use bylaw to provide additional opportunity for business and minimize potential land use conflicts between 


non-residential and residential development.   


4.6 When land use bylaw amendments are proposed to accommodate new commercial and industrial uses, 


consideration should be made to existing and adjacent land use patterns in the area. 


4.7 Outdoor storage of unsightly materials in the commercial district should be properly screened and enforced 


by an appropriate municipal bylaw. 


4.8 The Village supports the efforts of business owners to improve the appearance of commercial areas.    


4.9 The establishment of home-based businesses that are compatible with residential uses is encouraged with 


the intent that they may grow and eventually require space in a commercial district. 


5.0 RESERVES & HISTORIC RESOURCES 


5.1 Municipal and/or school reserve will be provided in accordance with section 666 of the Municipal 


Government Act. 


5.2 Land dedicated for municipal reserve purposes should be suitable for active or passive recreation.   


5.3 Developers/applicants will typically be responsible for landscaping municipal reserve land within an 


approved subdivision to the Village’s satisfaction.   


5.4 Where the municipal reserve requirement is to be satisfied as money-in-lieu of land, it shall be done so in 


accordance with the provisions of section 667 of the Municipal Government Act. 


5.5 Where the Municipal Planning Commission is of the opinion that certain lands may be resubdivided in the 


future, it may require that municipal or school reserves be deferred by caveat pursuant to section 669 of 


the Municipal Government Act. 


5.6 The Village of Glenwood will receive all municipal reserve funds paid and, should a school authority in the 


future require land for a school, an agreement for possible municipal assistance will be discussed at that 


time. 


5.7 At the discretion of the Municipal Planning Commission, environmental reserve or environmental easements 


may be required at the time of subdivision, in accordance with section 664(3) of the Municipal Government 


Act. 


5.8 Conservation reserves may be required at the discretion of the Municipal Planning Commission in 


accordance with section 664.2(1) of the Municipal Government Act. 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 26        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


5.9 On lands that have been identified by the province as having a Historic Resource Value, the 


developer/applicant will be responsible for obtaining any applicable Historical Resources approvals and 


clearances prior to commencement of development or registration of a subdivision.   


6.0 AGRICULTURE 


6.1 Existing agricultural land within the Village will be protected until required for future urban development. 


6.2 The Village will ensure an orderly progression and staging of development to minimize premature 


development of agricultural land and reduce potential conflicts with existing agricultural operations.  


6.3 Compatibility between the urban land uses within Glenwood and the agricultural operations in Cardston 


County within the vicinity of the municipal boundaries is supported.  The Village may consider the use of 


mechanisms available to achieve compatibility such as buffers between urban land uses and adjacent 


farming operations, policies/designations in intermunicipal development plans, referral responses on 


development applications, and general communication with Cardston County.   


7.0 SOUR GAS SETBACKS 


7.1 Setback guidelines for sour gas facilities shall be in accordance with the standards established by the 


Alberta Energy Regulator, the Subdivision and Development Regulation, or any subsequent and additional 


standards. 


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 27 


 


HOW WE THRIVE 


8.0 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 


8.1 Council should strive to create a diverse, livable, safe community with adequate parkland, recreational 


opportunities, and other public amenities, as may be financially feasible, to help foster local business growth 


and generate economic benefits. 


8.2 Measures to create a more diverse tax base and local economy will continue to be investigated.  Regular 


assessment of community needs and development strategies to attract and retain business and industry 


should be undertaken.   


8.3 The Village should regularly evaluate its promotional practices and develop strategies to encourage new 


development and tourism opportunities within the municipality.  


8.4 Municipal decisions should be made with special attention to creating an atmosphere that promotes the 


Village of Glenwood as a friendly, attractive community to live and invest. 


8.5 The Village will continue to actively promote opportunities for economic development and investigate 


funding programs, including regional partnerships that provide benefits for the community and surrounding 


area.   


9.0 RECREATION & CULTURE 


9.1 The Village may choose to engage with Cardston County, the Village of Glenwood, and the Town of 


Cardston to investigate long-term recreation plans that would advance a regional recreation network for 


mutual benefit. 


9.2 The Village should strive to make all public spaces enjoyable, safe and accessible to all members of the 


community, including those with special needs and ensure that recreational spaces are compatible with 


other adjacent land use activities. 


9.3 The Village should investigate various funding alternatives and partnerships to offset the increasing costs of 


park and recreation land maintenance.  


9.4 In keeping with the 5-Year Capital Plan, the Village will review, maintain and improve existing recreational 


facilities. 


9.5 The Village should continue to take inventory of the municipal parks and prioritize their need for 


maintenance or replacement based on the state of their physical condition. 


10.0 COMMUNITY IMAGE 


10.1 Landowners are encouraged to rehabilitate, redevelop and/or renovate existing buildings in poor condition 


and clean up derelict properties.   


10.2 Financial resources for maintenance of municipal buildings and facilities should be allocated in a manner 


that improves the appearance of the community and balances the welfare and best interests of the public. 


10.3 Bylaw enforcement may be used as an effective tool in creating and maintaining a positive community 


image.  


10.4 The Village should consider adopting an Unsightly Premises Bylaw to and undertake any amendments 


necessary to ensure it supports maintenance of a visually attractive community.  


10.5 The establishment of enhanced landscaping standards within the Village Land Use Bylaw should be 


explored as a means to improving community aesthetics.   


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 28        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


11.0 ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 


11.1 Stormwater management will be required to be addressed by the developer/applicant through the 


subdivision and development planning processes. 


11.2 Developers are encouraged to investigate the naturalization of stormwater facilities to promote biodiversity 


within the municipality and incorporate green spaces into developments as may be requested by the 


Village.   


11.3 The Village will encourage the reclamation and/or conversion of developed lands that are no longer in use 


to make efficient use of the land base and existing utilities, services and infrastructure. 


11.4 Landowners of brownfield sites (i.e. contaminated sites) are encouraged to reclaim sites in a timely manner. 


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 29 


 


HOW WE CONNECT 


12.0 UTILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 


12.1 The Village will regularly monitor capacities of the sewage treatment system and water delivery system to 


ensure they are adequate to serve the needs of the Village. 


12.2 Concurrency of services and facilities with impacts of development is expected.  Development will not be 


permitted to outpace infrastructure capacity.   


12.3 A water use and sewer assessment may be required as part of an area structure plan, conceptual design 


scheme, subdivision application and/or development permit application to determine infrastructure 


requirements and upgrades. 


12.4 Development will maximize use of existing infrastructure where possible and ensure logical extension of 


utilities and other services in proposed subdivision designs. 


12.5 Developers may be required to pay off-site levies pursuant to the Municipal Government Act, to help offset 


the capital costs for providing municipal services. 


12.6 The Village will promote water wise practices to help reduce water consumption. 


12.7 The Village should establish an on-going dialogue with utility companies providing service within the 


municipality to ensure capacity and service levels are adequately maintained.     


12.8 Options for enhanced recycling opportunities should be explored and implemented as may be feasible. 


13.0 TRANSPORTATION 


13.1 Municipal roads or transportation initiatives should: 


a. ensure proper access is available for the development; 


b. be planned and developed to enhance opportunities for local businesses to benefit from the 


circulation of traffic bother through and within the community;  


c. maintain a consistent standard of road design. 


13.2 Subdivision road designs should include provisions for extension of roadways to adjacent parcels and 


connections to existing road alignments, where feasible. 


13.3 The road network within a subdivision proposal should be consistent with the future road network identified 


in the Future Land Use Concept and Growth Directions (Part IV: Map 2).  


13.4 The Village will maintain an open dialogue with Alberta Transportation regarding any transportation matters 


that may have an impact on the municipality.   


13.5 The Village will work with Cardston County to address any regional transportation issues that may impact 


the municipality, including a coordinated road network.   


  FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 30        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


14.0 COMMUNITY SERVICES 


14.1 Non-profit groups/organizations and provincial agencies are encouraged to establish programs and 


operate in the community to enhance the level and quality of existing community services. 


14.2 Programs and initiatives should be developed that encourage and enhance volunteerism and community 


service organizations as they contribute considerably to the quality of life in Glenwood. 


14.3 The Village should continue to support and work with government departments or agencies that help 


provide various community services to residents. 


14.4 The Village should regularly communicate with appropriate provincial agencies to ensure support services 


are adequately addressing the needs of residents. 


14.5 The Village should explore and pursue all approaches to the funding and provision of cultural 


services/facilities including the involvement of the public, private and not-for-profit sectors and the 


formation of partnerships for this purpose.  


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 31 


 


HOW WE WORK TOGETHER 


15.0 COMMUNITY COHESION 


15.1 The integration of compatible land uses such as childcare facilities, religious assemblies, youth-oriented 


facilities, seniors’ facilities, and extended care facilities in appropriate locations is encouraged. 


15.2 The Village should encourage civic involvement by youth and seniors to ensure their needs are addressed. 


15.3 The Village will seek opportunities to collaborate with regional educational partners, businesses and school 


authorities to encourage the provision of a wide diversity of educational opportunities within the region. 


15.4 The Village should continue to provide support to the library and work to expand opportunities and 


activities. 


15.5 The Village will cooperate with all non-profit societies to forward positive community development 


agendas. 


15.6 The Village will strive to ensure provision of police, fire, ambulance and disaster services agencies that are 


appropriate and meet the needs of the community. 


16.0 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT & COMMUNICATION 


16.1 The Village supports ongoing public participation in local government and will continue to inform the public 


and obtain feedback about important issues through providing for annual community meetings, open 


houses, notices, and newsletters promoting activities, events, and services, as well as implement processes 


for residents, community groups, and governmental and non-governmental agencies to express concerns 


and interests to Council. 


16.2 The Village will continue to explore new opportunities communicate information about community projects, 


development applications, proposed bylaw amendments, minutes of public meetings, and other issues of 


importance to residents.    


16.3 The Village will continue to make information regarding the subdivision and development process readily 


available to the public and applicants and encourages the public to provide input on matters of specific 


and general planning interest wherever possible. 


16.4 The Village will endeavour to provide a positive environment for listening, evaluation and responding to the 


concerns of its residents.   


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 32        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


17.0 INTERMUNICIPAL COOPERATION 


17.1 The Village of Glenwood will work cooperatively with Cardston County to address matters of joint interest, 


including mutually agreeable economic partnerships and a coordinated approach to regional growth and 


development to help foster a strong and diverse local economy.   


17.2 The coordination of intermunicipal programs with Cardston County relating to the physical, social and 


economic development of the area will be addressed through the Intermunicipal Collaborate Framework 


provisions of the Municipal Government Act and separate agreements as deemed necessary by the 


Village and the County.   


17.3 The policy directions of the Village of Glenwood and Cardston County Intermunicipal Development Plan 


should be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they adequately address the needs of the community.   


17.4 The Village should continue to develop, build and maintain relationships and partnerships with other 


municipalities, organizations and government agencies where deemed beneficial to the municipality and 


which may result in enhanced service delivery and cost-savings.   


 


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 33 


 


OVERVIEW


VISION & GOALS


PLAN POLICIES


GROWTH


MAP


PLAN


COMPLIANCE


 


  


PART IV 
FI


RST R
EADIN


G







  


 


pg. 34        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


 


PART IV: GROWTH MAP 
  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







1 
A


V
E


 W


4 ST N


3 
A


V
E


 W


M
A


IN
 A


V
E


3 ST N


2 
A


V
E


 W


1 ST N


2 ST S


4 
A


V
E


 W


CENTRE ST


1 ST S


2 ST N 2 ST N


Village of Glenwood


December 04, 2020 N:\Cardston-County\Glenwood\GlenwoodProjects\Village of Glenwood -MDP 2020.dwg


MAP PREPARED BY:


OLDMAN R IVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMMISSION


3105 16th AVENUE NORTH, LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA   T1H 5E8


TEL. 403-329-1344


"NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS"


1000 Metres 300200 400


OLDMAN  RIVER  REGIONAL  SERVICES  COMMISSION


Map 2 - Land Use & Future Growth


Village Boundary


Residential - R


Village Core


Proposed Arterial Roads


Aerial Photo: 2017


Public- P


Industrial- I


Commercial - C


Long-term Future Growth
FI


RST R
EADIN


G



AutoCAD SHX Text

300m Sewage



AutoCAD SHX Text

From Cells



AutoCAD SHX Text

Buffer







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 35 


 


OVERVIEW


VISION & GOALS


PLAN POLICIES


GROWTH MAP


PLAN


COMPLIANCE


  


PART V 
FI


RST R
EADIN


G







  


 


pg. 36        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


PART V: PLAN COMPLIANCE 
SOUTH SASKATCHEWAN REGIONAL PLAN COMPLIANCE 


The Alberta Land Use Framework, implemented by the Provincial Government in 2008, provides a blueprint for 


land-use management and decision-making that addresses Alberta’s growth pressures. The Land Use Framework 


established seven new land-use regions and requires the development of a regional plan for each.  The Village 


of Glenwood is located within the geographical area of the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (SSRP) which 


was effective the fall of 2014.  The SSRP lays out a number of key desired outcomes and strategic directions 


relating to the region’s economy, people, environment, and resources. 


 


Compliance with the SSRP is required for all statutory planning documents.  This MDP has been developed in 


consideration of the following applicable SSRP strategies: 


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 37 


 


EFFICIENT USE OF LAND 


1. All land use planners and decision-makers responsible for land-use decisions are encouraged to consider the 


efficient use of land principle in land-use planning and decision making. (SSRP Strategy 5.1) 


1.1 Reduce the rate at which land is converted from an undeveloped state into permanent, built 


environment. 


1.2 Utilize the minimum amount of land necessary for new development and build at a higher density than 


current practices. 


1.3 Increase the proportion of new development that takes place within already developed or disturbed 


lands either through infill, redevelopment and/or shared use, relative to new development that takes 


place on previously undeveloped lands. 


1.4 Plan, design and locate new development in a manner that best utilizes existing infrastructure and 


minimizes the need for new or expanded infrastructure 


1.5 Reclaim and/or convert previously developed lands that are no longer required in a progressive and 


timely manner. 


1.6 Provide decision-makers, land users and individuals the information they need to make decisions and 


choices that support efficient land use. 


2. Build awareness and understanding of the efficient use of land principle and the application of land-use 


planning tools that reduce the footprint of the built environment, how they might be applied and how their 


effectiveness would be measured over time with municipalities, land-use decision-makers and land users, on 


both public and private lands. (SSRP Strategy 5.2) 


PLANNING COOPERATION AND INTEGRATION 


1. Work together to achieve the shared environmental, economic and social outcomes in the South 


Saskatchewan Regional Plan and minimize negative environmental cumulative effects. (SSRP Strategy 8.1) 


2. Address common planning issues, especially where valued natural features and historic resources are of 


interest to more than one stakeholder and where the possible effect of development transcends jurisdictional 


boundaries. (SSRP Strategy 8.2) 


3. Coordinate and work with each other in their respective planning activities (such as in the development of 


plans and policies) and development approval processes to address issues of mutual interest. (SSRP Strategy 


8.3) 


4. Work together to anticipate, plan and set aside adequate land with the physical infrastructure and services 


required to accommodate future population growth and accompanying community development needs. 


(SSRP Strategy 8.4) 


5. Build awareness regarding the application of land-use planning tools that reduce the impact of residential, 


commercial and industrial developments on the land, including approaches and best practices for 


promoting the efficient use of private and public lands. (SSRP Strategy 8.5) 


6. Pursue joint use agreements, regional services commissions and any other joint cooperative arrangements 


that contribute specially to intermunicipal land-use planning. (SSRP Strategy 8.6) 


7. Consider the value of intermunicipal development planning to address land use on fringe areas, airport 


vicinity protection plans or other areas of mutual interest. (SSRP Strategy 8.7) 


8. Coordinate land-use planning activities with First Nations, irrigation districts, school boards, health authorities 


and other agencies on areas of mutual interest. (SSRP Strategy 8.8) 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 38        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


BUILDING SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES 


1. Provide an appropriate mix of agricultural, residential, commercial, industrial, institutional, public and 


recreational land uses; developed in an orderly, efficient, compatible, safe and economical manner. (SSRP 


Strategy 8.11) 


2. Contribute to a healthy environment, healthy economy and a high quality of life. (SSRP Strategy 8.12) 


3. Provide a wide range of economic development opportunities, stimulate local employment growth and 


promote a healthy and stable economy. Municipalities are also expected to complement regional and 


provincial economic development initiatives. (SSRP Strategy 8.13) 


4. Feature innovative housing design, range of densities and housing types such as mixed-use, cluster 


development, secondary suites, seniors’ centres and affordable housing. Provide the opportunities for a 


variety of residential environments which feature innovative designs and densities and which make efficient 


use of existing facilities, infrastructure and public transportation. (SSRP Strategy 8.14) 


5. Minimize potential conflict of land uses adjacent to natural resource extraction, manufacturing and other 


industrial developments. (SSRP Strategy 8.15) 


6. Minimize potential conflict of land uses within and adjacent to areas prone to flooding, erosion, subsidence, 


or wildfire. (SSRP Strategy 8.16) 


7. Complement their municipal financial management strategies, whereby land use decisions contribute to the 


financial sustainability of the municipality. (SSRP Strategy 8.17) 


8. Locate schools and health facilities, transportation and transit and other amenities appropriately, to meet 


increased demand from a growing population. (SSRP Strategy 8.18) 


AGRICULTURE 


1. Identify areas where agricultural activities, including extensive and intensive agricultural and associated 


activities, should be the primary land use in the region. (SSRP Strategy 8.19) 


2. Limit the fragmentation of agricultural lands and their premature conversion to other, non-agricultural uses, 


especially within areas where agriculture has been identified as a primary land use in the region. Municipal 


planning, policies and tools that promote the efficient use of land should be used where appropriate to 


support this strategy. (SSRP Strategy 8.20) 


3. Employ appropriate planning tools to direct non-agricultural subdivision and development to areas where 


such development will not constrain agricultural activities, or to areas of lower-quality agricultural lands. (SSRP 


Strategy 8.21) 


4. Minimize conflicts between intensive agricultural operations and incompatible land use by using appropriate 


planning tools, setback distances and other mitigating measures. (SSRP Strategy 8.22) 


  FI
RST R


EADIN
G







February 2021 (draft) 


Village of Glenwood MDP  


Draft February 2021   pg. 39 


 


WATER AND WATERSHEDS 


1. Utilize or incorporate measures which minimize or mitigate possible negative impacts on important water 


resources or risks to health, public safety and loss to property damage due to hazards associated with water, 


such as flooding, erosion and subsidence due to bank stability issues, etc., within the scope of their jurisdiction. 


(SSRP Strategy 8.23) 


2. Incorporate measures in future land-use planning decisions to mitigate the impact of floods through 


appropriate flood hazard area management and emergency response planning for floods. (SSRP Strategy 


8.24) 


3. Prohibit unauthorized future use of development of land in the floodway in accordance with the Flood 


Recovery Reconstruction Act and the Floodway Development Regulation under development, which will 


control, regulate or prohibit use of development of land that is located in a floodway and define authorized 


uses. (SSRP Strategy 8.25) 


4. Identify and consider, based on available information including information from the Government of Alberta, 


the values of significant water resources and other water features, such as ravines, valleys, riparian lands, 


stream corridors, lakeshores, wetlands, and unique environmentally significant landscapes within their 


boundaries. (SSRP Strategy 8.26) 


5. Determine appropriate land-use patterns in the vicinity of these significant water resources and other water 


features. (SSRP Strategy 8.27) 


6. Consider local impacts as well as impacts on the entire watershed. (SSRP Strategy 8.28) 


7. Consider a range of approaches to facilitate the conservation, protection or restoration of these water 


features and the protection of sensitive aquatic habitat and other aquatic resources. (SSRP Strategy 8.29) 


8. Establish appropriate setbacks from waterbodies to maintain water quality, flood water conveyance and 


storage, bank stability and habitat. (SSRP Strategy 8.30) 


9. Assess existing developments located within flood hazard areas for long-term opportunities for 


redevelopment to reduce risk associated with flooding, including human safety, property damage, 


infrastructure and economic loss. (SSRP Strategy 8.31) 


10. Facilitate public access and enjoyment of water features, to the extent possible. (SSRP Strategy 8.32) 


11. Use available guidance, where appropriate, from water and watershed planning initiatives in support of 


municipal planning. (SSRP Strategy 8.33) 


HISTORIC RESOURCES 


1. Identify significant historic resources to foster their preservation and enhancement for the use and enjoyment 


by present and future generations. (SSRP Strategy 8.34) 


2. Work toward the designation of Municipal Historic Resources to preserve municipally significant historic 


places. (SSRP Strategy 8.35) 


3. Formulate agreements with the Ministry for development referrals to assist in the identification and protection 


of historic resources within the scope of their jurisdiction. (SSRP Strategy 8.36) 


  


FI
RST R


EADIN
G







  


 


pg. 40        Village of Glenwood MDP  


February 2021 


 


TRANSPORTATION 


1. Identify the location, nature and purpose of key provincial transportation corridors and related facilities. (SSRP 


Strategy 8.37) 


2. Work with the Ministry to minimize negative interactions between the transportation corridors and related 


facilities identified in accordance with strategy 8.37 above and the surrounding areas and land uses through 


the establishment of compatible land-use patterns. (SSRP Strategy 8.38) 


3. Enter into highway vicinity agreements with the Ministry and employ appropriate setback distances and other 


mitigating measures relating to noise, air pollution and safety to limit access if subdivision and development 


is to be approved in the vicinity of the areas identified in accordance with 8.37 above. (SSRP Strategy 8.39) 


 


FI
RST R


EADIN
G












 


1 
 


Village of Glenwood  
Bylaw #XXXXX  


 
Changes are highlighted in green 


 
 


Being a bylaw of the Village of Glenwood in the Province of Alberta 
to establish the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 
Partnership Organization. 


 
WHEREAS the Village of Glenwood is responsible for the direction and control of its 
emergency response and is required under the Emergency Management Act, Chapter E-6.8, 
RSA 2000, to appoint an Emergency Advisory Committee and to establish and maintain a 
Municipal Emergency Management Agency. 


 
AND WHEREAS it is desirable in the public interest, and in the interests of public safety, that 
such a committee be appointed, such an agency be established and maintained to carry out 
Council’s statutory powers and obligations under the said Emergency Management Act. 
 
AND WHEREAS it is desirable in the public interest, and in the interests of public safety that 
a regional emergency management organization be formed to coordinate a regional 
emergency approach and programs. 
 
AND WHEREAS the municipalities of the Towns of Cardston and Magrath, the Villages of 
Glenwood and Hill Spring and Cardston County wish to establish a Regional Emergency 
Advisory Committee, and a Regional Emergency Management Agency, led by a Regional 
Director of Emergency Management. 


 
NOW THEREFORE, THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN 
THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:  
 


1. This Bylaw may be cited as the “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 
Bylaw”. 


 
2. In this Bylaw the following words and terms shall have the following meanings: 


 
a. “Act” means the Emergency Management Act, Chapter E-6.8, RSA 2000; 
b. “Agency” means the Regional Emergency Management Agency; 
c. “Council” means the Village of Glenwood council; 
d. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Advisory Committee”, (CCREAC) means 


the Regional Emergency Advisory Committee of the Cardston County Regional 
Emergency Management Partnership as established by agreement between and the 
bylaws of the Parties; 


e. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Coordination Centre” (CCRECC) 
means the primary and backup Regional Emergency Coordination Centre as 
established and maintained in accordance with the Regional Emergency 
Management Plan; 


f. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Agency”, 
(CCREMA) means the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 







 


2 
 


Agency as established by Agreement between and the bylaws of the 
respective municipal councils of the Parties; 


g. “Cardston County Regional Director of Emergency Management” 
(CCRDEM) means as per the provincial Emergency Management Act Nov 
2018. The RDEM is responsible to lead the Regional Agency in the preparation 
for, response to and recovery from a disaster or emergency; 


h. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Partnership” (CCREMP) 
means the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Partnership as 
established by agreement between and the bylaws of the respective municipal 
councils of the Parties; 


i. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Plan”, (CCREM 
Plan) means the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Plan to 
co-ordinate the preparation for, response to and recovery from an emergency 
or disaster. 


j. “CAO” means the Chief Administrative Officer or their designate as appointed 
by Council.  


k. “Deputy Director of Emergency Management” (DDEM) means the person 
responsible for the duties of the Director of Emergency Management in their absence; 


l. “Director of Emergency Management” (DEM) means the person appointed by 
resolution of Council as the “Chief Administrative Officer” (CAO) who shall be 
responsible for the municipality’s Emergency Management Program; 


m. “Disaster” means an event that results in serious harm to the safety, health or 
welfare of people, or in widespread damage to property; 


n. “Emergency” means an event that requires prompt coordination of action or special 
regulation of persons or property to protect the safety, health or welfare of people or to 
limit damage to property; 


o. “Emergency Coordination Centre” (ECC) means the location that functions as a 
point of coordination, addressing the needs of the municipality or the Cardston County 
Regional Emergency Management Partnership Region as a whole, exercising the 
authority of the local officials, as well as anticipating and supporting the needs of one 
(1) or more incident sites; 


p. “Local Authority” means, where a municipality has a council within the meaning of 
the Municipal Government Act, Chapter M-26, RSA 2000, that council; 


q. “Minister” means the Minister charged with administration of the Act; and 
r. “Parties” means the Villages of Glenwood and Hill Spring, Cardston County, and the 


Towns of Cardston and Magrath. 
 


3. Council agrees through the CCREMP, to establish the CCREAC as the agent of Council, 
to carry out its statutory powers and obligation under the Act.   
 


4. Council agrees through the CCREMP, to establish the CCREAC to guide the creation, 
implementation and evaluation of CCREM plans and programs and to advise Council on 
the development of the aforementioned plans and programs.  
 


5. Council will retain the power to declare, renew or terminate a State of Local Emergency 
(SOLE) for any incident that is occurring or may occur within the jurisdiction of the Village 
of Glenwood. 


 
6. The CCREAC shall: 


a. act as the Committee for all parties to the CCREMP program; 







 


3 
 


b. consist of municipal councillors appointed by each of the Parties, with each 
municipality appointing one (1) primary member, each of whom shall have one (1) 
vote regarding any matter coming before the committee; 


c. each municipality shall also appoint one (1) alternate member to the committee who 
shall be permitted to vote in the absence or in place of the primary member; 


d. elect from the membership, a Chairperson.  The Chairperson’s term will be two years; 
e. provide guidance, direction and approve the activities of the CCREAMA and the 


CCRDEM with regards to the development and implementation of the CCREMP 
program; 


f. use consensus decision making wherever possible. A minimum of four (4) members 
from five partner municipalities shall constitute a quorum; 


g. meet one to two times per year; 
h. review the Regional Emergency Management Program and Plan and related plans 


and programs on an annual basis; and 
i. advise Council, duly assembled, on the status of the Regional Emergency 


Management Program and related plans and programs at least once each year. 
 


7. Council shall: 
a. by resolution, appoint one (1) of its members to serve on the Committee and at least 


one (1) member as an alternate; 
b. provide for the payment of expenses of its member(s) of the Committee; 
c. ensure that emergency plans and programs are prepared to address potential 


emergencies or disasters within Cardston County and the CCREMP Region; 
d. approve the Regional Emergency Plans and Programs as they related to the Village 


of Glenwood and the CCREMP Region; 
e. review the status of the Regional Emergency Management Plan and related plans and 


programs at least once a year; and 
f. by resolution appoint the CAO as the DEM for the Village of Glenwood. 


 
8. Council agrees through the CCREMP, to establish the CCREMA to act as the agent of 


Council to carry out its statutory powers and obligations under the Act.  
 
9. Council may: 


a. by bylaw that is not advertised, borrow, levy, appropriate and expend all sums 
required for its share of the operation of the CCREAC and the CCREMA; and 


b. enter into agreements with and make payments or grants, or both, to persons or 
organizations for the provision of services in the development or implementation of 
emergency plans or programs including mutual aid plans and programs. 
 


10. Council agrees through the CCREMP to have a Cardston County Regional Director of 
Emergency Management (CCRDEM). The CCRDEM is responsible to lead the CCREMA 
in the preparation for, response to and recovery from a disaster or emergency. 


 
11. The CCREMA shall be comprised of the following voting persons: 


a. the CAO of each municipality which is a member of CCREMP; 
b. in the absence of the CAO, the DDEM of each municipality which is a member of 


CCREMP; and  
c. the RDEM, if not one of the CAOs.  
d. In the event of a tie vote, the motion will be considered to be defeated. 


 







 


4 
 


12. The CCREMA may request that the following persons may join or advise the CCREMA for 
each period of time the CCREMA deems appropriate: 
a. Non-Commissioned Officer in charge of RCMP or designate; 
b. Fire Chiefs or Designates; 
c. Enforcement Services Manager or designate; 
d. Emergency Public Information Officers or designates;  
e. Alberta Health Services representatives or designates; 
f. School Superintendent or designate; 
g. Emergency Social Services Managers or designates; 
h. Representative(s) from adjacent municipalities which have entered in the Agency; 
i. Representatives from local business; 
j. Representatives from local industry or industrial associations; 
k. Representatives from Alberta Municipal Affairs; 
l. Representatives from local utility companies; and 
m. Anybody else who might serve as useful purpose in the preparation or implementation 


of the Regional Emergency Plan. 
 


13. The CCREMA shall: 
a. act as the Agency for all parties to the CCREMP program; 
b. use the command, control and coordination system prescribed by the Managing 


Director of the Alberta Emergency Management Agency at all times; 
c. guide the creation, implementation and evaluation of the Regional Emergency 


Management Plans and programs for the CCREMP Region; 
d. meet three to four times a year on a quarterly basis; 
e. provide an update on the agency’s review of the emergency plan to the CCREAC on a 


yearly basis.  
f. determine the direction of the Agency and any of its sub groups; 
g. coordinate all emergency services and other resources used in an emergency; 
h. ensure that in the event of an emergency, an individual or group of individuals is 


designated under the Regional Emergency Management Plan to act, on behalf of the 
Agency.  The designation of an individual or group of individuals to act on behalf of 
the Agency shall be guided by the following: 
 


i. In the event of an emergency/incident affecting only one municipality, the local 
DEM will serve as the Emergency Coordination Centre (ECC) Director in the 
local ECC. This ECC will be supported by resources of the CCREMA as 
required including the activation of the CCRECC; and  
 


ii. In the event of an emergency/incident, resulting in the activation of the 
CCRECC within or affecting more than one municipality within the CCREMP 
Region, the CCRDEM will serve as ECC Director for the emergency/incident. 
As the DEMs from the affected municipalities arrive at the CCRECC, the 
CCRDEM and local DEMs will jointly decide who will take the lead role in the 
CCRECC.  
 


i. ensure someone is designated to discharge the responsibilities specified in 
paragraphs e, f, and g of this Section. 
 


14. In the event of an emergency entirely within the boundaries of and only affecting the 
Village of Glenwood, the authority and powers to declare or renew a state of local 
emergency under the Act, the authority and powers specified in Section 15 of this Bylaw, 







 


5 
 


and the requirement specified in Section 19 of this Bylaw are hereby delegated to a 
municipal committee comprised of the Mayor or any two (2) Councillors. This municipal 
committee may at any time when it is satisfied that an emergency exists or may exist, by 
resolution, make a declaration of a state of local emergency. 


 
15. When a state of local emergency is declared, the Village of Glenwood shall: 


a. ensure that the declaration identifies the nature of the emergency and the area in 
which it exists; 


b. cause the details of the declaration to be published immediately by such means of 
communication considered most likely to notify the population of the area affected; 
and 


c. forward a copy of the declaration to the Minister forthwith. 
 


16. When the Village of Glenwood has declared a State of Local Emergency, the village may, 
for the duration of that State of Local Emergency, do all acts and take all necessary 
proceedings including those in Section 19 of the Act.  


 
17. During the response to an emergency and if the municipal DEM is not available, the 


CCRDEM will assume the role of the municipal DEM and will have the same emergency 
financial spending powers as the municipal DEM. 
  


18. In accordance with Section 28 of the Act, no action lies against a Local Authority or person 
acting under the Local Authority’s direction or authorization for anything done or omitted to 
be done in good faith while carry out a power or duty under this Act or in the regulations 
during a state of local emergency. 


 
19. In accordance with Section 535(1)(2) of the Municipal Government Act, councillors, council 


committee members, municipal officers (CAO and employees) and volunteer workers are 
not liable for loss or damage caused by anything said or done or omitted to be done in 
good faith in the performance or intended performance of their functions, duties, or powers 
under the Municipal Government Act or any other enactment. 


 
20. When the Village of Glenwood, is of the opinion that an emergency no longer exists, the 


village, shall, by resolution of a quorum of council, terminate the declaration.  
 


21. A declaration of a state of local emergency is considered terminated and ceases to be of 
any force or effect when: 
a. a resolution is passed under Section 18; 
b. a period of seven (7) days has lapsed since it was declared, unless it is renewed by 


resolution; 
c. at the end of 90 days if the declaration is in respect of a pandemic; 
d. the Lieutenant Governor in Council makes and order for a state of emergency for the 


same area; or 
e. the Minister cancels the state of local emergency for the affected area. 


 
22. When a declaration of a state of local emergency has been terminated, the Village of 


Glenwood shall cause the details of the termination to be published immediately by such 
means of communication considered most likely to notify the population of the area 
affected. 
 







 


6 
 


23. Should any provisions of this Bylaw become invalid, void, illegal or otherwise not 
enforceable, it shall be considered separate and severable from the bylaw and the 
remainder shall remain in force and be binding as though such provision had not been 
invalid. 


 
24. Bylaw XX-XXX is hereby repealed.  


 
25. This Bylaw shall come into force and take effect upon passing of third reading.  


 
 


Received first reading this _____ day of _________, 2021 
 


________________________________ 
Albert Elias, Mayor 


  
________________________________ 


 Carrie Kinahan, CAO 
 


  
Received second reading this _____ day of _________, 2021 


 
 


________________________________ 
Albert Elias, Mayor 


  
    


________________________________ 
Carrie Kinahan, CAO 


 
Received third reading and finally passed this ____day of _________, 2021 


 
 


________________________________ 
Albert Elias, Mayor 


  
   


________________________________ 
 Carrie Kinahan, CAO 


 
  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 








1 
 


Village of Glenwood   
Bylaw # 239-2021 


 
Being a bylaw of the Village of Glenwood in the Province of Alberta 
to establish the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 
Partnership Organization. 


 
WHEREAS Village of Glenwood is responsible for the direction and control of its emergency 
response and is required under the Emergency Management Act, Chapter E-6.8, RSA 2000, 
to appoint an Emergency Advisory Committee and to establish and maintain a Municipal 
Emergency Management Agency. 


 
AND WHEREAS it is desirable in the public interest, and in the interests of public safety, that 
such a committee be appointed, such an agency be established and maintained to carry out 
Council’s statutory powers and obligations under the said Emergency Management Act. 
 
AND WHEREAS it is desirable in the public interest, and in the interests of public safety that 
a regional emergency management organization be formed to coordinate a regional 
emergency approach and programs. 
 
AND WHEREAS the municipalities of the Towns of Cardston and Glenwood, the Villages of 
Glenwood and Hill Spring and Cardston County wish to establish a Regional Emergency 
Advisory Committee, and a Regional Emergency Management Agency, led by a Regional 
Director of Emergency Management. 


 
NOW THEREFORE, THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD IN 
THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:  
 


1. This Bylaw may be cited as the “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 
Bylaw”. 


 
2. In this Bylaw the following words and terms shall have the following meanings: 


 
a. “Act” means the Emergency Management Act, Chapter E-6.8, RSA 2000; 
b. “Agency” means the Regional Emergency Management Agency; 
c. “Council” means the Council of the Village of Glenwood; 
d. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Advisory Committee”, (the Committee) 


means the Regional Emergency Advisory Committee of the Cardston County 
Regional Emergency Management Partnership as established by an agreement 
between and the bylaws of the Parties; 


e. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Coordination Centre” (the Centre) 
means the primary and backup Regional Emergency Coordination Centre as 
established and maintained in accordance with the Regional Emergency 
Management Plan; 


f. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Agency”, (the 
Agency) means the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 
Agency as established by an agreement between and the bylaws of the 
respective municipal councils of the Parties; 


g. “Cardston County Regional Director of Emergency Management” (the 
Regional Director) means as per the provincial Emergency Management Act 







2 
 


Nov 2018. The Regional Director is responsible to lead the Agency in the 
preparation for, response to and recovery from a disaster or emergency; 


h. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Partnership” (the 
Partnership) means the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management 
Partnership as established by agreement between and the bylaws of the respective 
municipal councils of the Parties; 


i. “Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Plan”, (the Plan) 
means the Cardston County Regional Emergency Management Plan to co-
ordinate the preparation for, response to and recovery from an emergency or 
disaster. 


j. “CAO” means the Chief Administrative Officer or their designate as appointed 
by Council.  


k. “Deputy Director of Emergency Management” (DDEM) means the person 
responsible for the duties of the Director of Emergency Management in their absence; 


l. “Director of Emergency Management” (DEM) means the person appointed by 
resolution of Council as the “Chief Administrative Officer” (CAO) who shall be 
responsible for the municipality’s Emergency Management Program; 


m. “Disaster” means an event that results in serious harm to the safety, health or 
welfare of people, or in widespread damage to property; 


n. “Emergency” means an event that requires prompt coordination of action or special 
regulation of persons or property to protect the safety, health or welfare of people or to 
limit damage to property; 


o. “Emergency Coordination Centre” (ECC) means the location that functions as a 
point of coordination, addressing the needs of the municipality or the Cardston County 
Regional Emergency Management Partnership Region as a whole, exercising the 
authority of the local officials, as well as anticipating and supporting the needs of one 
(1) or more incident sites; 


p. “Local Authority” means, where a municipality has a council within the meaning of 
the Municipal Government Act, Chapter M-26, RSA 2000, that council; 


q. “Minister” means the Minister charged with administration of the Act; and 
r. “Parties” means the Villages of Glenwood and Hill Spring, Cardston County, and the 


Towns of Cardston and Magrath. 
 


3. Council agrees through the Partnership, to establish the Committee as the agent of 
Council, to carry out its statutory powers and obligation under the Act.   
 


4. Council agrees through the Partnership, to establish the Committee to guide the creation, 
implementation and evaluation of plans and programs and to advise Council on the 
development of the aforementioned plans and programs.  
 


5. Council will retain the power to declare, renew or terminate a State of Local Emergency 
(SOLE) for any incident that is occurring or may occur within the jurisdiction of the Village 
of Glenwood. 


 
6. The Committee shall: 


a. act as the Committee for all parties to the Partnership; 
b. consist of municipal councillors appointed by each of the Parties, with each 


municipality appointing one (1) primary member, each of whom shall have one (1) 
vote regarding any matter coming before the committee; 


c. each municipality shall also appoint one (1) alternate member to the committee who 
shall be permitted to vote in the absence or in place of the primary member; 







3 
 


d. elect from the membership, a Chairperson.  The Chairperson’s term will be two years; 
e. provide guidance, direction and approve the activities of the Agency and the Regional 


Director with regards to the development and implementation of the Partnership; 
f. use consensus decision making wherever possible. A minimum of four (4) members 


from five partner municipalities shall constitute a quorum; 
g. meet one to two times per year; 
h. review the Regional Emergency Management Program and Plan and related plans 


and programs on an annual basis; and 
i. advise Council, duly assembled, on the status of the Regional Emergency 


Management Program and related plans and programs at least once each year. 
 


7. Council shall: 
a. by resolution, appoint one (1) of its members to serve on the Committee and at least 


one (1) member as an alternate; 
b. provide for the payment of expenses of its member(s) of the Committee; 
c. ensure that emergency plans and programs are prepared to address potential 


emergencies or disasters within Cardston County and the Partnership Region; 
d. approve the Regional Emergency Plans and Programs as they related to the Village 


of Glenwood and the Partnership Region; 
e. review the status of the Regional Emergency Management Plan and related plans and 


programs at least once a year; and 
f. by resolution appoint the CAO as the DEM for the Village of Glenwood. 


 
8. Council agrees through the Partnership, to establish the Agency to act as the agent of 


Council to carry out its statutory powers and obligations under the Act.  
 
9. Council may: 


a. by bylaw that is not advertised, borrow, levy, appropriate and expend all sums 
required for its share of the operation of the Committee and the Agency; and 


b. enter into agreements with and make payments or grants, or both, to persons or 
organizations for the provision of services in the development or implementation of 
emergency plans or programs including mutual aid plans and programs. 
 


10. Council agrees through the Partnership to have a Regional Director. The Regional Director 
is responsible to lead the Agency in the preparation for, response to and recovery from a 
disaster or emergency. 


 
11. The Agency shall be comprised of the following voting persons: 


a. the CAO of each municipality which is a member of the Partnership; 
b. in the absence of the CAO, the DDEM of each municipality which is a member of the 


Partnership;  
c. the Regional Director, if not one of the CAOs; and 
d. in the event of a tie vote, the motion will be considered to be defeated. 


 
12. The Agency may request that the following persons may join or advise the Agency for each 


period of time the Agency deems appropriate: 
a. Non-Commissioned Officer in charge of RCMP or designate; 
b. Fire Chiefs or Designates; 
c. Enforcement Services Manager or designate; 
d. Emergency Public Information Officers or designates;  
e. Alberta Health Services representatives or designates; 







4 
 


f. School Superintendent or designate; 
g. Emergency Social Services Managers or designates; 
h. Representative(s) from adjacent municipalities which have entered in the Agency; 
i. Representatives from local business; 
j. Representatives from local industry or industrial associations; 
k. Representatives from Alberta Municipal Affairs; 
l. Representatives from local utility companies; and 
m. Anybody else who might serve as useful purpose in the preparation or implementation 


of the Regional Emergency Plan. 
 


13. The Agency shall: 
a. act as the Agency for all parties to the Partnership program; 
b. use the command, control and coordination system prescribed by the Managing 


Director of the Alberta Emergency Management Agency at all times; 
c. guide the creation, implementation and evaluation of the Regional Emergency 


Management Plans and programs for the Partnership Region; 
d. meet three to four times a year on a quarterly basis; 
e. provide an update on the agency’s review of the emergency plan to the Committee on 


a yearly basis.  
f. determine the direction of the Agency and any of its sub groups; 
g. coordinate all emergency services and other resources used in an emergency; 
h. ensure that in the event of an emergency, an individual or group of individuals is 


designated under the Regional Emergency Management Plan to act, on behalf of the 
Agency.  The designation of an individual or group of individuals to act on behalf of 
the Agency shall be guided by the following: 
 


i. In the event of an emergency/incident affecting only one municipality, the local 
DEM will serve as the local Emergency Coordination Centre (ECC) Manager in 
the local ECC. This ECC will be supported by resources of the Agency as 
required including the activation of the Centre; and  
 


ii. In the event of an emergency/incident, resulting in the activation of the Centre 
within or affecting more than one municipality within the Partnership Region, 
the Regional Director will serve as ECC Manager for the emergency/incident. 
As the DEMs from the affected municipalities arrive at the Centre, the Regional 
Director and local DEMs will jointly decide who will take the lead role in the 
Centre.  
 


i. ensure someone is designated to discharge the responsibilities specified in 
paragraphs e, f, and g of this Section. 
 


14. In the event of an emergency entirely within the boundaries of and only affecting the 
Village of Glenwood, the authority and powers to declare or renew a state of local 
emergency under the Act, the authority and powers specified in Section 15 of this Bylaw, 
and the requirement specified in Section 19 of this Bylaw are hereby delegated to a 
municipal committee comprised of the Mayor or any two (2) Councillors. This municipal 
committee may at any time when it is satisfied that an emergency exists or may exist, by 
resolution, make a declaration of a state of local emergency. 


 
15. When a state of local emergency is declared, the Village of Glenwood shall: 







5 
 


a. ensure that the declaration identifies the nature of the emergency and the area in 
which it exists; 


b. cause the details of the declaration to be published immediately by such means of 
communication considered most likely to notify the population of the area affected; 
and 


c. forward a copy of the declaration to the Minister forthwith. 
 


16. When Village of Glenwood has declared a State of Local Emergency, the county may, for 
the duration of that State of Local Emergency, do all acts and take all necessary 
proceedings including those in Section 19 of the Act.  


 
17. During the response to an emergency and if the municipal DEM is not available, the 


Regional Director will assume the role of the municipal DEM and will have the same 
emergency financial spending powers as the municipal DEM. 
  


18. In accordance with Section 28 of the Act, no action lies against a Local Authority or person 
acting under the Local Authority’s direction or authorization for anything done or omitted to 
be done in good faith while carry out a power or duty under this Act or in the regulations 
during a state of local emergency. 


 
19. In accordance with Section 535(1)(2) of the Municipal Government Act, councillors, council 


committee members, municipal officers (CAO and employees) and volunteer workers are 
not liable for loss or damage caused by anything said or done or omitted to be done in 
good faith in the performance or intended performance of their functions, duties, or powers 
under the Municipal Government Act or any other enactment. 


 
20. When Village of Glenwood is of the opinion that an emergency no longer exists, Village of 


Glenwood, shall, by resolution of a quorum of council, terminate the declaration.  
 


21. A declaration of a state of local emergency is considered terminated and ceases to be of 
any force or effect when: 
a. a resolution is passed under Section 18; 
b. a period of seven (7) days has lapsed since it was declared, unless it is renewed by 


resolution; 
c. at the end of 90 days if the declaration is in respect of a pandemic; 
d. the Lieutenant Governor in Council makes and order for a state of emergency for the 


same area; or 
e. the Minister cancels the state of local emergency for the affected area. 


 
22. When a declaration of a state of local emergency has been terminated, Village of 


Glenwood shall cause the details of the termination to be published immediately by such 
means of communication considered most likely to notify the population of the area 
affected. 
 


23. Should any provisions of this Bylaw become invalid, void, illegal or otherwise not 
enforceable, it shall be considered separate and severable from the bylaw and the 
remainder shall remain in force and be binding as though such provision had not been 
invalid. 


 
24. Bylaw 239-2020-A is hereby repealed.  


 







6 
 


25. This Bylaw shall come into force and take effect upon passing of third reading.  
 
 


Received first reading this _____ day of _________, 2021 
 


________________________________ 
Albert Elias, Mayor 


  
________________________________ 


 Carrie Kinahan, CAO  
 
 


  
Received second reading this _____ day of _________, 2021 


 
 


________________________________ 
Albert Elias, Mayor 


   
________________________________ 


Carrie Kinahan, CAO  
 
 


Received third reading and finally passed this ____day of _________, 2021 
 
 


________________________________ 
Albert Elias, Mayor 


   
________________________________ 


 Carrie Kinahan, CAO  
 


  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 





































 4:09:47PM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2021-Feb-9Cheque Listing For Council


Page 1 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20210001 2021-01-14 ALBERTA ONE CALL CORPORATION PAYMENT  25.20


IN164366 LAND LOCATES  25.20 


 20210002 2021-01-14 BECK'S EXCAVATING & TRUCKING LTD PAYMENT  19,509.00


2883 TIE IN SEWER LINE  3,759.00 


2896 REPAIR FIRE HYDRANT  15,750.00 


 20210003 2021-01-14 PINCHER CREEK CO-OP PAYMENT  90.30


00200317D TOOLS POTABLE WATER REPAIRS  81.50 


00200905A FIREHALL  8.80 


 20210004 2021-01-14 SKOIEN PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION PAYMENT  4,252.50


INV- 0664 CONTRACTED CFO SERVICES  4,252.50 


 20210005 2021-01-14 TWINPRO INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS PAYMENT  33.39


34443 DRUM RETURNS (504.00)


34449 CHEMICAL AND DRUMS  537.39 


 20210006 2021-01-14 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD PAYMENT  1,452.86


0172-41,714 2021 JANUARY EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  1,452.86 


 20210007 2021-01-14 AUMA PAYMENT  1,053.89


20210223 2021 AUMA MEMBERSHIP  1,053.89 


 20210008 2021-01-14 MUNICIPAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC. PAYMENT  304.51


20201814 2021 JAN SUPPORT  304.51 


 20210009 2021-01-14 RMA- RURAL MUNICIPALITIES OF ALBERTA PAYMENT  375.05


AB037701 OFFICE SUPPLIES  375.05 


 20210010 2021-01-14 WELLS FARGO EQUIPMENT FIN CO PAYMENT  220.36


5013092572 01/29/2021 - 02/27/2021  220.36 


 20210011 2021-01-26 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL SERVICES CORPORATION PAYMENT  4,324.66


21-1037018 UTILITIES  4,324.66 


 20210012 2021-01-26 ATB FINANCIAL MASTERCARD PAYMENT  280.72


2021 JAN LGAA DUES, POSTAGE  280.72 


 20210013 2021-01-26 CARDSTON COUNTY PAYMENT  4,234.02


IVC0019609 2021 TRANSFER STATION  4,234.02 


 20210014 2021-01-26 CARDSTON COUNTY EMERGENCY SERVICES PAYMENT  5,888.36


11109 2021 REQUISITION  5,888.36 


 20210015 2021-01-26 CARTER, GERALD PAYMENT  41.30


2021.01.31 COUNCIL TRAVEL  41.30 


 20210016 2021-01-26 CHINOOK ARCH REGIONAL LIBRARY SYSTEM PAYMENT  1,226.08


921500 2021 JAN-JUNE M. MEMEBERSHIP FEES 1,226.08 


 20210017 2021-01-26 CLEARTECH INDUSTRIES INC. PAYMENT  863.38


858974 PFP-40 PUMP TUBE  863.38 


 20210018 2021-01-26 DIGITAL CONNECTION INC. PAYMENT  150.62


301542 COPIES  150.62 


 20210019 2021-01-26 GLENWOOD TIRES, GERALD CARTER PAYMENT  1,820.70


590461 REPLACE GRADER FRONT TIRES  1,820.70 


 20210020 2021-01-26 GREGG DISTRIBUTORS  LP PAYMENT  456.62


055-210193 OFFICE, SHOP, P.P., COM. HALL SUPP  456.62 


 20210021 2021-01-26 MICROAGE ALBERTA LTD. PAYMENT  393.75


18433 FIX WIRELESS DIRECTION FOR FH., P.P. COMPUTER UPDA 393.75 


 20210022 2021-01-26 MUNICIPAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INC. PAYMENT  304.51


20202061 2021 FEB SUPPORT  304.51 


 20210023 2021-01-26 OLDMAN RIVER REGIONAL SERVICES COMM. PAYMENT  784.50


11532 2021 JAN-MAR PLANNING  784.50 


 20210024 2021-01-28 HUNSPERGER, PERRY







 4:09:47PM


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD


2021-Feb-9Cheque Listing For Council


Page 2 of 2


Cheque #


Cheque


Date Vendor Name Invoice # Invoice Description


Invoice 


Amount


Cheque 


Amount


 20210025 2021-01-28 EDWARDS, JANET


 20210026 2021-01-28 KINAHAN, CARRIE


 20210027 2021-01-28 CARTER, GERALD


 20210028 2021-01-28 ROLFSON, DAVID


 20210029 2021-01-28 CAMPBELL, ELIZA M


 20210030 2021-01-28 CLARK, RUSTY


*** End of Report ***


Total  57,497.19








 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 1 of 10


Tax Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-102 Taxes - Chinook Foundation (5,847.32) (5,829.16) (5,900.00)  0.00  100.00 (5,900.00)


1-00-00-00-00-103 Taxes - Non-Residential (52,143.99) (49,550.53) (53,200.00)  0.00  100.00 (53,200.00)


1-00-00-00-00-105 Taxes - Linear (14,004.13) (16,244.27) (14,300.00)  0.00  100.00 (14,300.00)


1-00-00-00-00-108 Taxes - Residential (227,298.55) (228,324.21) (231,800.00)  0.00  100.00 (231,800.00)


1-00-00-00-00-110 Taxes - M&E (22,805.99) (22,800.00) (23,300.00)  0.00  100.00 (23,300.00)


*        TOTAL Tax Revenue (322,099.98) (322,748.17) (328,500.00) 0.00 100.00 (328,500.00)


General Government Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-590 Other Revenue from Own Sources (1,221.00) (1,050.00) (300.00) (276.00)  8.00 (24.00)


1-12-00-00-00-410 Photocopy,Fax, etc Revenue (172.05) (213.65) (180.00) (11.60)  93.55 (168.40)


1-12-00-00-00-433 Assessment Appeal Deposit (50.00)  0.00 (100.00)  0.00  100.00 (100.00)


1-12-00-00-00-525 License - Business (280.00)  166.00 (240.00) (60.00)  75.00 (180.00)


1-12-00-00-00-561 Xplornet (2,970.46) (3,020.80) (2,000.00) (508.40)  74.58 (1,491.60)


1-00-00-00-00-510 Taxes - Penalties & Costs (1,893.08) (3,969.49) (4,000.00) (461.75)  88.45 (3,538.25)


1-00-00-00-00-541 Franchise & Concession ATCO Revenue (18,354.44) (21,688.16) (18,400.00) (2,507.33)  86.37 (15,892.67)


1-00-00-00-00-550 Return on Investments (5,804.40) (3,253.92) (3,500.00)  0.00  100.00 (3,500.00)


*        TOTAL General Gov't Revenue (30,745.43) (33,030.02) (28,720.00) (3,825.08) 86.68 (24,894.92)


Operating Grant Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-748 Grant Misc (1,500.00) (86,319.00) (25,300.00)  0.00  100.00 (25,300.00)


1-00-00-00-00-751 Grants - ACP Intermunicipal (4,414.89)  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


1-00-00-00-00-843 Grant - MSI Operational (34,147.00) (31,607.00) (23,705.00)  0.00  100.00 (23,705.00)


*        TOTAL Operating Grant Revenue (40,061.89) (117,926.00) (49,005.00) 0.00 100.00 (49,005.00)







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 2 of 10


Protective Services Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-990 Other Rev - NSF,  Fines, Lease (35.00) (22.00) (200.00)  0.00  100.00 (200.00)


*        TOTAL Protective Services Rev (35.00) (22.00) (200.00) 0.00 100.00 (200.00)


Transportation Service Revenue


1-30-00-00-00-410 Equipment Pool Revenue (110.00) (276.79) (200.00)  0.00  100.00 (200.00)


1-32-00-00-00-591 Snow Removal Roads & Streets (400.00) (140.00) (100.00)  0.00  100.00 (100.00)


*        TOTAL Trans Service Revenue (510.00) (416.79) (300.00) 0.00 100.00 (300.00)


Water Revenue


1-41-00-00-00-120 Water Connection Install (5,000.00) (9,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (1,000.00)


1-41-00-00-00-121 Water On/Off Fee (270.00) (240.00) (100.00)  0.00  100.00 (100.00)


1-41-00-00-00-410 Sales - Water (123,579.31) (118,210.05) (120,400.00) (13,596.52)  88.70 (106,803.48)


1-41-00-00-00-411 Water - Bulk Sales (3,578.42) (5,708.00) (3,000.00) (272.24)  90.92 (2,727.76)


1-41-00-00-00-510 Water - Penalties & Costs (222.93) (359.10) (500.00) (139.60)  72.08 (360.40)


*        TOTAL Water Revenue (132,650.66) (133,517.15) (125,000.00) (14,008.36) 88.79 (110,991.64)


Irrigation Revenue


1-40-00-00-00-410 Sales - Irrigation (11,292.32) (16,809.76) (17,000.00) (3,636.00)  78.61 (13,364.00)


*        TOTAL Irrigation Revenue (11,292.32) (16,809.76) (17,000.00) (3,636.00) 78.61 (13,364.00)


Sewer Revenue


1-42-00-00-00-120 Sewer Connection Install (2,000.00) (7,000.00) (1,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (1,000.00)


1-42-00-00-00-410 Sales - Sewer (22,578.00) (20,830.00) (21,400.00) (3,556.00)  83.38 (17,844.00)


1-42-00-00-00-411 Sales - Sewer RV Dumping Station (3,126.35) (3,454.50) (3,000.00) (56.00)  98.13 (2,944.00)


1-42-00-00-00-412 Sewer RV Campground Agreements (4,000.00) (2,125.00) (2,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (2,000.00)


*        TOTAL Sewer Revenue (31,704.35) (33,409.50) (27,400.00) (3,612.00) 86.82 (23,788.00)







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 3 of 10


Waste Management  Revenue


1-43-00-00-00-410 Sales - Solid Waste (12,992.00) (14,428.01) (14,000.00) (2,344.00)  83.25 (11,656.00)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Rev (12,992.00) (14,428.01) (14,000.00) (2,344.00) 83.26 (11,656.00)


Cemetery Revenue


1-56-00-00-00-410 Cemetery - Plots & Fees (1,130.00) (265.00) (600.00)  0.00  100.00 (600.00)


1-56-00-00-00-420 Cemetery - Donations (1,250.00) (2,797.74) (500.00)  0.00  100.00 (500.00)


1-56-00-00-00-430 Cemetery County Contribution  0.00  0.00 (1,375.00) (4,228.61) (207.53)  2,853.61 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Revenue (2,380.00) (3,062.74) (2,475.00) (4,228.61) (70.85) 1,753.61


Recreation & Culture Revenue


1-74-02-00-00-560 Rentals Community Hall (1,988.75) (500.00) (1,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (1,000.00)


1-72-00-00-00-410 Sales & Services - Recreation (399.50)  0.00 (100.00)  0.00  100.00 (100.00)


1-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Revenue (45,806.31) (44,388.59) (40,200.00)  0.00  100.00 (40,200.00)


1-74-04-00-00-410 Pioneer Days funds-fireworks donations (2,950.00) (533.45) (3,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (3,000.00)


1-74-05-00-00-474 Post Office Rental Revenue (1,400.00) (2,200.00) (2,400.00) (200.00)  91.66 (2,200.00)


*        TOTAL Rec & Culture Rev (52,544.56) (47,622.04) (46,700.00) (200.00) 99.57 (46,500.00)


Planning & Development Revenue


1-12-00-00-00-490 Permit - Dev/Compliance  415.00 (5,800.00) (200.00) (65.00)  67.50 (135.00)


1-95-00-00-00-763 Transfers From Reserves - Capital  0.00  0.00 (5,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (5,000.00)


*        TOTAL Planning & Development R 415.00 (5,800.00) (5,200.00) (65.00) 98.75 (5,135.00)


**       TOTAL Revenue (636,601.19) (728,792.18) (644,500.00) (31,919.05) 95.05 (612,580.95)







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 4 of 10


Council Expenses


2-11-00-00-00-153 Council Honorariums  10,700.00  6,300.00  11,000.00  300.00  97.27  10,700.00 


2-11-00-00-00-213 Council Travel  3,826.16  2,049.25  6,000.00  39.33  99.34  5,960.67 


2-11-00-00-00-520 Council Misc  2,322.89  995.10  4,000.00  20.76  99.48  3,979.24 


*        TOTAL Council Expenses 16,849.05 9,344.35 21,000.00 360.09 98.29 20,639.91


Administration Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Admin  84,671.54  88,743.01  70,300.00  5,930.17  91.56  64,369.83 


2-12-00-00-00-113 Travel & Training - CAO  2,895.42  1,741.51  4,250.00  16.86  99.60  4,233.14 


2-12-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Admin  6,119.31  5,842.04  5,000.00  419.36  91.61  4,580.64 


2-12-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Admin  15,592.87  16,205.25  12,600.00  1,392.55  88.94  11,207.45 


2-12-00-00-00-142 Workers Compensation Admin  2,551.22  2,928.52  3,000.00  0.00  100.00  3,000.00 


2-12-00-00-00-150 Election & Census  0.00  329.50  2,000.00  0.00  100.00  2,000.00 


2-12-00-00-00-210 Travel & Training - ADMIN  1,366.96  599.15  2,000.00  225.00  88.75  1,775.00 


2-12-00-00-00-215 Telephone Land Line Admin  1,044.19  1,046.03  1,500.00  0.00  100.00  1,500.00 


2-12-00-00-00-216 Fax Land Line Admin  891.36  906.26  1,000.00  0.00  100.00  1,000.00 


2-12-00-00-00-220 Advert, Printing, Memberships Admin  5,863.37  6,935.61  6,600.00  1,566.89  76.25  5,033.11 


2-12-00-00-00-230 Professional & Consulting Admin  34,959.05  24,212.62  31,500.00  4,630.02  85.30  26,869.98 


2-12-00-00-00-235 Postage & Freight Admin  2,056.94  1,865.66  2,500.00  39.60  98.41  2,460.40 


2-12-00-00-00-270 Misc Expense Admin  1,510.48  1,459.28  600.00  350.92  41.51  249.08 


2-12-00-00-00-274 Insurance Admin  13,446.10  14,241.85  14,100.00  14,657.05 (3.95) (557.05)


2-12-00-00-00-280 Reg Fees Land Titles  90.00  65.00  200.00  20.00  90.00  180.00 


2-12-00-00-00-290 Office Bldg Maintenance Admin  505.83  514.53  800.00  0.00  100.00  800.00 


2-12-00-00-00-300 Assessor Fees Admin  7,927.50  7,910.00  8,400.00  0.00  100.00  8,400.00 


2-12-00-00-00-510 Office Expense Admin  4,758.90  2,256.04  2,750.00  509.65  81.46  2,240.35 


2-12-00-00-00-520 Web Hosting Admin  1,250.00  1,415.71  1,300.00  0.00  100.00  1,300.00 


2-12-00-00-00-540 Administration Utilities Power  2,685.91  2,667.05  2,750.00  223.88  91.85  2,526.12 


2-12-00-00-00-541 Administration Utilities Gas  1,413.95  1,372.11  1,500.00  151.72  89.88  1,348.28 


2-12-00-00-00-810 Bank Charges Admin  2,729.48  1,753.36  2,750.00  2.00  99.92  2,748.00 


2-12-00-00-00-999 Adm - Amortization  178,644.74  0.00  228,900.00  0.00  100.00  228,900.00 


*        TOTAL Administration Expenses 372,975.12 185,010.09 406,300.00 30,135.67 92.58 376,164.33







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 5 of 10


Protective Services Expenses


2-23-00-00-00-110 Fire & Emergency Management wages  250.00  150.00  1,000.00  150.00  85.00  850.00 


2-23-00-00-00-130 Employer source deduction Fire  0.00  0.00  50.00  0.00  100.00  50.00 


2-23-00-00-00-270 Fire Misc  361.63  3,997.02  1,000.00  187.50  81.25  812.50 


2-23-00-00-00-510 Fire Goods & Supplies  0.00  0.00  50.00  8.38  83.24  41.62 


2-23-00-00-00-540 Fire Utilities Power  2,092.38  2,151.83  1,950.00  186.77  90.42  1,763.23 


2-23-00-00-00-541 Fire Utilities Gas  2,404.72  2,381.70  1,900.00  287.03  84.89  1,612.97 


2-23-00-00-00-750 Fire Requisition  6,104.64  6,125.70  11,500.00  5,888.36  48.79  5,611.64 


2-23-00-00-00-760 Fire Dispatch Services  1,150.24  1,185.00  1,200.00  0.00  100.00  1,200.00 


2-23-00-00-00-770 Victim Services  600.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-23-00-00-00-260 Emergency Management Goods and Services  0.00  0.00  3,300.00  0.00  100.00  3,300.00 


*        TOTAL Protective Services Exp 12,963.61 15,991.25 22,450.00 6,708.04 70.12 15,741.96


Shop Expenses


2-30-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Equip Pool  3,101.60  3,157.23  2,800.00  272.00  90.28  2,528.00 


2-30-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Equip Pool  197.70  204.81  200.00  20.14  89.93  179.86 


2-30-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Equip Pool  1,101.66  1,071.90  200.00  97.90  51.05  102.10 


2-31-00-00-00-110 Village Maintenance Wages  15,508.12  15,785.82  13,900.00  1,360.02  90.21  12,539.98 


2-31-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions V-Main  988.33  1,024.23  900.00  100.73  88.80  799.27 


2-31-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefits Vlg Maint  970.94  704.18  1,000.00  92.28  90.77  907.72 


2-31-00-00-00-250 Vlg Maint Contracted Services  228.64  150.00  5,000.00  0.00  100.00  5,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-510 Vlg Maint Tools, Hardware, Op  993.12  948.38  2,000.00  111.85  94.40  1,888.15 


2-31-00-00-00-524 Vlg Maint Equip Supplies  2,298.06  363.54  2,000.00  0.00  100.00  2,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-526 Vlg Maint Equip Supply Tractor  920.01  736.14  800.00  1,734.00 (116.75) (934.00)


2-31-00-00-00-527 Vlg Maint Fuel  2,547.96  931.71  3,200.00  0.00  100.00  3,200.00 


2-31-00-00-00-550 Safety Gear  151.32  333.57  500.00  32.99  93.40  467.01 


2-32-00-00-00-215 Telephone Shop  589.30  798.28  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-32-00-00-00-217 Cell Phone Foreman  1,292.00  1,072.59  900.00  0.00  100.00  900.00 


*        TOTAL Shop Expenses 30,888.76 27,282.38 33,400.00 3,821.91 88.56 29,578.09







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 6 of 10


Road & Street Expenses


2-32-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Streets & Roads  17,839.28  19,053.59  17,400.00  1,360.02  92.18  16,039.98 


2-32-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deduct Streets & Roads  1,041.20  1,198.92  1,100.00  100.73  90.84  999.27 


2-32-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deduct Streets & Roads  970.94  724.90  1,200.00  92.28  92.31  1,107.72 


2-32-00-00-00-250 Streets & Roads Contracted Services  1,177.00  2,390.00  2,000.00  24.00  98.80  1,976.00 


2-32-00-00-00-260 Streets & Roads Goods & Servcies  482.62  934.43  1,000.00  0.00  100.00  1,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-530 Streets & Roads Maint Materials  3,001.28  0.00  11,000.00  0.00  100.00  11,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-540 Streetlights  12,329.42  12,464.92  12,200.00  1,069.98  91.22  11,130.02 


*        TOTAL Road & Street Expenses 36,841.74 36,766.76 45,900.00 2,647.01 94.23 43,252.99


Irrigation Expenses


2-40-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Irrigation  8,534.35  8,870.61  7,000.00  544.00  92.22  6,456.00 


2-40-00-00-00-250 Irrg System Contracted Services  0.00  700.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-40-00-00-00-252 Irrg System Maint  973.75  312.16  750.00  0.00  100.00  750.00 


2-40-00-00-00-540 Irrg System Utilities Power  2,598.47  3,212.49  3,700.00  15.82  99.57  3,684.18 


*        TOTAL Irrigation Expenses 12,106.57 13,095.26 11,950.00 559.82 95.32 11,390.18


Water Expenses


2-41-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Water  21,831.84  22,002.16  29,800.00  1,898.17  93.63  27,901.83 


2-41-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Water  1,763.93  1,891.36  2,700.00  167.07  93.81  2,532.93 


2-41-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Water  1,846.51  1,346.13  2,300.00  154.10  93.30  2,145.90 


2-41-00-00-00-210 Water - Seminars & Travel  3,553.10  2,030.87  3,000.00  165.99  94.46  2,834.01 


2-41-00-00-00-215 Telephone Water Plant  1,191.36  906.26  1,100.00  0.00  100.00  1,100.00 


2-41-00-00-00-250 Water Supply Contracted Services  12,015.10  16,231.36  11,000.00  6,235.15  43.31  4,764.85 


2-41-00-00-00-252 Water Supply Maint  2,451.60  4,134.23  3,000.00  0.00  100.00  3,000.00 


2-41-00-00-00-270 Water Supply Misc  31.14  0.00  1,500.00  0.00  100.00  1,500.00 


2-41-00-00-00-510 Water Supply Goods & Service  4,464.17  6,721.78  6,500.00  891.44  86.28  5,608.56 


2-41-00-00-00-540 Water Supply Utilities Power  12,076.98  12,077.73  10,900.00  1,021.30  90.63  9,878.70 


2-41-00-00-00-541 Water Supply Utilities Gas  3,545.23  3,994.76  3,900.00  386.10  90.10  3,513.90 


2-41-00-00-00-905 Water Billing Discount  3,655.62  3,902.56  3,500.00  0.00  100.00  3,500.00 


*        TOTAL Water Expenses 68,426.58 75,239.20 79,200.00 10,919.32 86.21 68,280.68







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 7 of 10


Sewer Expenses


2-42-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Sewer  3,101.60  3,157.23  2,800.00  272.00  90.28  2,528.00 


2-42-00-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions Sewer  197.70  204.81  200.00  20.14  89.93  179.86 


2-42-00-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions Sewer  276.80  224.38  200.00  25.68  87.16  174.32 


2-42-00-00-00-250 Sewer Contracted Services  2,481.70  10,375.80  5,250.00  0.00  100.00  5,250.00 


2-42-00-00-00-510 Sewer Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  100.00  250.00 


2-42-00-00-00-905 Sewer Billing Discount  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  100.00  250.00 


*        TOTAL Sewer Expenses 6,057.80 13,962.22 8,950.00 317.82 96.45 8,632.18


Waste Management Expenses


2-43-00-00-00-250 Solid Waste Contracted Services  0.00  6,519.50  250.00  3,580.00 (1,332.00) (3,330.00)


2-43-00-00-00-510 Solid Waste Goods & Services  0.00  0.00  250.00  0.00  100.00  250.00 


2-43-00-00-00-750 Solid Waste Requisition - CMRSWA  7,792.56  8,187.56  9,339.00  0.00  100.00  9,339.00 


2-43-00-00-00-752 Requisition - County Transfer Station  3,126.80  4,050.48  4,100.00  4,234.02 (3.26) (134.02)


*        TOTAL Waste Mgmt Expenses 10,919.36 18,757.54 13,939.00 7,814.02 43.94 6,124.98


Cemetery Expenses


2-56-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Cemetery  3,346.52  5,713.55  2,100.00  272.00  87.04  1,828.00 


2-56-00-00-00-510 Cemetery Goods & Services  200.00  1,909.32  250.00  0.00  100.00  250.00 


2-56-00-00-00-540 Cemetery Utilities Power  1,006.25  1,012.86  1,100.00  83.18  92.43  1,016.82 


2-56-00-00-00-620 Cemetery Transfer to Reserves  0.00  130.65  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


*        TOTAL Cemetery Expenses 4,552.77 8,766.38 3,950.00 355.18 91.01 3,594.82


Planning & Development Expense


2-76-00-00-00-250 Development Contracted Services  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-76-00-00-00-251 Planning - GIS  1,681.12  7,115.10  1,730.00  2,516.74 (45.47) (786.74)


2-76-00-00-00-252 ORRSC Requisition  3,863.00  0.00  3,800.00  0.00  100.00  3,800.00 


*        TOTAL Planning & Dev Expenses 5,544.12 7,115.10 6,030.00 2,516.74 58.26 3,513.26







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 8 of 10


Parks & Recreation Expenses


2-62-00-00-00-201 Community Service Misc  0.00  19.05  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-74-04-00-00-510 Pioneer Days Fireworks  3,150.00  0.00  3,000.00  0.00  100.00  3,000.00 


2-72-00-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Parks & Rec  5,978.61  7,187.03  2,000.00  272.01  86.39  1,727.99 


2-72-00-00-00-725 Recreation Expenses (Vlg USE ONLY)  1,142.36  31.58  3,500.00  0.00  100.00  3,500.00 


2-72-00-00-00-540 Recreation Utilities Power  1,064.68  1,076.29  1,000.00  88.69  91.13  911.31 


2-72-00-00-00-541 Recreation Utilities Gas  855.88  881.23  800.00  84.35  89.45  715.65 


*        TOTAL Parks & Rec Expenses 12,191.53 9,195.18 10,800.00 445.05 95.88 10,354.95


Library Expenses


2-74-01-00-00-250 Library Contracted Services  886.57  2,071.48  1,000.00  0.00  100.00  1,000.00 


2-74-01-00-00-510 Library Goods and Services  10.45  75.13  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-74-01-00-00-750 Library Society Operating Support  15,000.00  15,000.00  15,000.00  0.00  100.00  15,000.00 


2-74-01-00-00-771 Requisition Chinook Arch Library  2,531.16  2,581.72  2,600.00  1,226.08  52.84  1,373.92 


*        TOTAL Library Expenses 18,428.18 19,728.33 19,100.00 1,226.08 93.58 17,873.92


Community Hall Expenses


2-74-02-00-00-110 Salaries and Wages Community Hall  1,275.00  350.00  2,800.00  0.00  100.00  2,800.00 


2-74-02-00-00-250 Community Hall Contracted Service  315.00  150.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-74-02-00-00-510 Community Hall Goods & Service  1,601.89  1,430.28  1,000.00  48.98  95.10  951.02 


2-74-02-00-00-540 Community Hall Utilities Power  2,108.79  2,328.34  1,500.00  148.22  90.11  1,351.78 


2-74-02-00-00-541 Community Hall Utilities Gas  1,456.03  1,313.63  1,125.00  164.00  85.42  961.00 


*        TOTAL Community Hall Expenses 6,756.71 5,572.25 6,925.00 361.20 94.78 6,563.80


Pioneer Parlour Expenses


2-74-03-00-00-110 Salaries & Wages Pioneer Parlour  22,604.66  19,639.26  20,200.00  0.00  100.00  20,200.00 


2-74-03-00-00-130 Employer Source Deductions PP  1,014.14  824.45  700.00  0.00  100.00  700.00 


2-74-03-00-00-131 Employer Benefit Deductions PP  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-74-03-00-00-250 Pioneer Parlour Contracted Services  1,432.00  332.00  1,500.00  0.00  100.00  1,500.00 


2-74-03-00-00-474 Pioneer Parlour Expenses (Bldg)  2,786.58  1,199.16  1,000.00  330.56  66.94  669.44 


2-74-03-00-00-510 Pioneer Parlour Goods & Services  21,312.83  19,885.77  14,000.00  0.00  100.00  14,000.00 


2-74-03-00-00-540 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Power  1,702.28  1,627.95  1,700.00  91.76  94.60  1,608.24 


2-74-03-00-00-541 Pioneer Parlour Utilities Gas  1,019.48  1,027.70  1,100.00  115.92  89.46  984.08 


2-74-03-00-00-810 Pioneer Parlour Merchant Fees  0.00  3,671.72  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


*        TOTAL Pioneer Parlour Expenses 51,871.97 48,208.01 40,200.00 538.24 98.66 39,661.76







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 9 of 10


Post Office Expenses


2-74-05-00-00-540 Post Office Utilities Power  0.00  0.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-74-05-00-00-541 Post Office Utilities Gas  0.00  0.00  375.00  0.00  100.00  375.00 


*        TOTAL Post Office Exp 0.00 0.00 875.00 0.00 100.00 875.00


Community Support Requisitions


2-26-00-00-00-100 Requisition - Policing  0.00  0.00  8,384.00  0.00  100.00  8,384.00 


2-62-00-00-00-206 Com Services: Beautification  1,788.75  119.31  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-62-00-00-00-208 Spring Glen Park Req/Exp/Donate  1,428.57  1,500.00  1,500.00  0.00  100.00  1,500.00 


2-62-00-00-00-209 Com Services: Glenwood Seniors Req  500.00  500.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-62-00-00-00-210 Com Services: FCSS Requisition  2,446.00  2,446.00  2,446.00  0.00  100.00  2,446.00 


2-62-00-00-00-750 Com Services: Farm Safety Ctr Donation  300.00  300.00  300.00  0.00  100.00  300.00 


2-72-00-00-00-750 Recreation Brd Expenses (Vlg DON'T USE )  801.01  0.00  500.00  0.00  100.00  500.00 


2-98-00-00-00-102 Req Chinook Foundation  5,870.52  5,828.54  5,900.00  0.00  100.00  5,900.00 


2-98-00-00-00-108 Req United Irrigation Dist  4,553.30  4,689.90  5,200.00  0.00  100.00  5,200.00 


2-98-00-00-00-115 Req School Foundation  71,341.78  71,145.90  72,600.00  0.00  100.00  72,600.00 


2-98-00-00-00-116 DESIGNATED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 


(DIP)


 47.17  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-12-00-00-00-763 Operating Transfer to Reserves  0.00  0.00  40,001.00  0.00  100.00  40,001.00 


*        TOTAL Community Support Requis 89,077.10 86,529.65 137,331.00 0.00 100.00 137,331.00


**       TOTAL Expenses 756,450.97 580,563.95 868,300.00 68,726.19 92.08 799,573.81


***      TOTAL Revenues Over Expenses 119,849.78 (148,228.23) 223,800.00 36,807.14 83.55 186,992.86







 4:15:55PM


2021-Feb-9


2021 Operating & Capital BUDGET to ACTUAL


General 


Ledger


Description 2019 Actual 2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 YTD 


Actual


2021 Budget 


Remaining %


2021 Budget 


Remaining $


VILLAGE OF GLENWOOD Page 10 of 10


Capital Grants Revenue


1-00-00-00-00-842 Grant - MSI Capital (91,802.29) (140,862.00) (236,900.00)  0.00  100.00 (236,900.00)


1-00-00-00-00-846 Grants - FGTF/NDCC  0.00 (100,000.00) (50,000.00)  0.00  100.00 (50,000.00)


*        TOTAL Cap Grants Rev (91,802.29) (240,862.00) (286,900.00) 0.00 100.00 (286,900.00)


**       TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE (91,802.29) (240,862.00) (286,900.00) 0.00 100.00 (286,900.00)


Capital Expenses


2-12-00-00-00-762 Admin - Transfer to Capital  0.00  10,739.20  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-23-00-00-00-762 Protective Serv-Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  30,000.00  15,000.00  50.00  15,000.00 


2-31-00-00-00-762 Vlg Maint - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  25,000.00  0.00  100.00  25,000.00 


2-32-00-00-00-762 Strts & Rds - Transfer to Capital  0.00  216,508.13  10,000.00  0.00  100.00  10,000.00 


2-40-00-00-00-762 Irrigation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  3,500.95  5,000.00  0.00  100.00  5,000.00 


2-41-00-00-00-762 Water - Transfer to Capital  0.00  49,800.00  206,900.00  0.00  100.00  206,900.00 


2-42-00-00-00-762 Sewer - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  15,000.00  0.00  100.00  15,000.00 


2-71-00-00-00-762 Parks & Recreation - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-74-01-00-00-762 Library - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


2-74-02-00-00-762 Community Hall - Transfer to Capital  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 


*        TOTAL Capital Expenses 0.00 280,548.28 291,900.00 15,000.00 94.86 276,900.00


**       TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSES 0.00 280,548.28 291,900.00 15,000.00 94.86 276,900.00


***      Revenues Over Expense/Capital (91,802.29) 39,686.28 5,000.00 15,000.00 (200.00) (10,000.00)


*** End of Report ***





